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Strong performance in 
challenging conditions and 
improved resilience – people 
make the difference 

Johannes Teyssen and Antje Kanngiesser.

Dear reader,

Did 2022 mark a turning point in the European energy industry? It’s still too early to say for 

sure. However, it was certainly a watershed year – for society, for our company and for our 

employees.

When the Corona pandemic subsided, we believed we were on the way to a “new normal”. 

However, on 24 February 2022, our image of a peaceful Europe was shattered. The 

belligerent attack on Ukraine had been preceded in 2021 by manipulations of the 

European gas supply and soaring energy prices caused severe liquidity problems for 

energy companies.

The rapid rise in gas prices in summer 2021 sent alarm bells ringing for our company. The 

twin setbacks of the French nuclear power plant outages and Russia’s targeted 

curtailment of gas supplies at the end of December 2021 caused electricity and gas prices 

to surge to historically high levels and led to unprecedented volatility. Throughout the 

company, we switched to crisis mode. Our key people gathered around the table several 

times a day to ensure a targeted information flow, direct communication, quick and 
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courageous decision-making, and speedy implementation. Our employees, our 

management, our Board and our shareholders worked together hand-in-hand with heart 

and humour. We are one Alpiq!

Since then, we have strengthened our company by taking a broad variety of measures in 

financing and risk management. These measures released funds of up to CHF 6 billion. We 

appreciated the foresight of the Swiss Federal Council and Parliament in introducing an 

emergency rescue package to meet the potential liquidity needs of the major power 

generators in 2022. The very existence of this package sent a strong and calming signal to 

investors and trading counterparties alike. We will continue to make every effort not to 

make use of it, but we will pay our fair share of the regulated costs for this governmental 

support.

Good results, strong balance sheet and improved 
resilience

Our balance sheet is strong and shows a low financial net debt. We succeeded in replacing 

matured bonds and short-term liabilities with new bonds at reasonable costs. Relying on 

our own capabilities, we closed the strenuous year with access to unused liquidity and 

financing of around CHF 2 billion.

Our operating performance is strong. Alpiq employees across all divisions and business 

lines delivered an outstanding performance, resulting in an adjusted EBITDA of CHF 473 

million, which is an increase of CHF 161 million against the previous year. This is an 

operating result we can build on.

Our reported IFRS earnings are still significantly influenced by extraordinary effects. Our 

investors understand that IFRS calls for regular evaluations of all financial hedges even if 

deliveries and their underlying profitability is secured by the supporting generation fleet. 

Thus, our 2022 report continues to include the impact of last year’s sudden price hikes, 

which led to a temporary shift in results. At the end of the past financial year, the negative 

net effect on the IFRS result is CHF -250 million. As soon as the quantities hedged at lower 

prices are actually delivered, this effect will dissipate, which is why we refer to a 

temporary shift in results. In addition, the performance of the decommissioning and 

waste disposal fund (STENFO) was exceptionally negative due to the weak financial 

markets in 2022. This had a negative impact on our underlying IFRS EBIT of CHF -276 

million. We would like to remind investors that the accumulated earnings of the STENFO 

funds are still above the minimal required target rate. Despite these two substantial 

extraordinary effects, we managed to post a positive IFRS result for the past year of CHF 

111 million.

Absolute focus on security of supply

While the first half of 2022 was primarily about securing liquidity for our electricity 

production, our focus in the summer was on supporting our customers and the Federal 

Government, because the liquidity crisis had turned into an energy crisis. In markets that 

were no longer liquid, large amounts of energy had to be secured. We worked tirelessly for 

months on end to achieve this goal. At Alpiq, we focus on the outcome!
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We decided to offer the Federal Government as much energy as we could make available 

for the tendered winter reserve, priced on a cost and risk basis in order to keep costs low 

for our fellow citizens. This decision was rewarded by the Federal Council and the public 

at large. All our tenders were accepted, and we are contributing 218 GWh – more than half 

of the contracted hydropower reserve of Switzerland. In this way, we were able to make a 

significant contribution to ensuring the security of Switzerland’s electricity supply while 

limiting the economic costs to society.

The energy crisis has led to a lot of activity and debate in Europe as well as in Switzerland. 

The current market design of the European energy market is under question and lively 

discussions are taking place about the introduction of new regulations at a national and 

European level. Some measures can be implemented quickly. However, stable long-term 

framework conditions are a prerequisite for large-scale investments in system-relevant 

infrastructure.

Alpiq lives up to its purpose – and delivers

At Alpiq, we share the common purpose that with our sustainable energy business we 

contribute to a better climate and an improved security of supply. In 2022, the latter was 

physically at stake for the first time in decades. It was extremely important that our 

nuclear and hydro facilities in Switzerland delivered very high availabilities and offered 

the necessary flexibility and power throughout the past year. Thanks to a joint effort, we 

were able to maximise the production from our assets in Switzerland, which allowed us to 

compensate almost fully for the record low access to the contracted French nuclear 

deliveries due to the extended outages in France.

We already have a powerful fleet of highly flexible hydro power assets in Switzerland to 

integrate all energy sources into the energy system. We commissioned the latest and 

most powerful of these in mid-2022: our 900 MW pump-storage powerplant 

 in the Valais. This highly flexible, efficient and powerful installation enables us to 

make a significant contribution to the security of supply and the grid stability. After 14 

years of construction and a total spend of CHF 2.3 billion, we celebrated the official 

inauguration in September 2022. Another important piece of the mosaic is the 

 power plant complex. Thanks to the special effort and an excellent workforce, the 

replacement of the penstock that feeds the 

was finished seven months ahead of schedule. As a result, we were already able to ensure 

the availability of an additional 450 MW of installed hydro power capacity this winter.

Nant de 

Drance

Grande 

Dixence

Péroua – Condémines  Fionnay/Nendaz plant

As a company, we embrace our purpose by driving the rapid expansion of renewable 

energy sources. We are already well equipped to achieve this thanks to our highly flexible 

and efficient power plants. To rise to the challenges of the new energy world, however, we 

need to increase renewable power generation from photovoltaics, wind and hydro. 

Additional storage capacities and strong efforts to save energy play a key role in enabling 

a sustainable energy supply.
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We make our contribution to climate protection and 
the security of supply

At the same time, we must invest in a world of renewable energies to ensure the long-term 

security of supply. And we will invest. Together with our partners, we have drawn up 

robust expansion projects worth CHF 1 billion in Switzerland alone in the areas of 

hydropower, alpine photovoltaics, and wind energy. Policymakers, recognising the 

urgency of the situation, are paving the way for investment in the future. We are 

confident that by working together in a spirit of partnership we will find responsible and 

effective solutions. It is incumbent on all stakeholders to work together. A secure, 

affordable, and reliable energy supply forms the backbone of a functioning economy.

While the market environment remains volatile and uncertain this year, Alpiq has 

strengthened its resilience significantly. The crisis has taught us something important: 

people make the difference. It is the attitude and values of our employees, as well as their 

expertise, that create corporate value. We will only be able to face the ever faster pace of 

change and the ever greater impact on our company with resilience. And this is where 

every employee counts. We learn and grow together, and we share the steering wheel. As 

a company, we follow a clear course: to make our contribution to climate protection and 

the security of supply. And each individual stays on that course. To provide a 

comprehensive overview on our practice, we currently undertake a review of our 

Sustainability Report which will be published in June 2023.

We expect a good operating performance in 2023. However, sharply fluctuating valuations 

of remaining hedges and the performance of STENFO may also have a significant impact 

on this year’s underlying result. Despite our strong operational results and in view of the 

continuing high market volatility, the Board of Directors of Alpiq will submit a proposal to 

the annual General Meeting that no dividend will be distributed for the 2022 financial 

year. 

Johannes Teyssen

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Antje Kanngiesser

CEO

22 February 2023
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Key Financial Figures
Results of operations (before exceptional items)

CHF million 2022  

2021

(adjusted)1 % change

Net revenue 14,861 7,705 93

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 473 312 52

1 The previous year figures have been adjusted to reflect the reduced number of categories of exceptional items (see note 2.1 of the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements). As a result, the Alpiq Group’s EBITDA before exceptional items for 2021 increased by CHF 10 million from CHF 

302 million to CHF 312 million.

Results under IFRS

CHF million 2022 2021 % change

Net revenue 14,631 7,177 104

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 346 – 77 > 100

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 249 – 203 > 100

Net income / (loss) 111 – 271 > 100

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021 % change

Total assets 14,701 13,557 8

Total equity 3,529 3,558 – 1

As % of total assets 24.0 26.2  

Net debt 1 107 675 – 84

Net debt / EBITDA before exceptional items 0.2 2.2  

1 See note 3.1 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements

  2022 2021 % change

 Own production (GWh) 1 17,450 15,008 16

Number of employees at the reporting date 2 1,180 1,266 – 7

Of which in Switzerland 647 701 – 8

Of which in surrounding European countries 533 565 – 6

1 Net share attributable to Alpiq from total power plant production (after deducting pumped energy)

2 Full-time equivalents
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Milestones
Plana del Vent power plant successfully back in 
operation

18 January 2022

In Spain, Alpiq successfully recommissions the Plana del Vent gas-fired combined cycle 

power station in mid-January 2022 after around two years. This was preceded by extensive 

repair and maintenance work on a defective power train. The steam turbine was replaced 

during the complex inspection, which was particularly challenging given the Covid 19 

pandemic and the lack of spare parts compounded by shortages of skilled workers.

Alpiq made efficient use of the repair time for further overhaul work on the plant. Thanks 

to its total capacity of 800 MW, Plana del Vent is able to supply enough electricity to cover 

the annual consumption of two million households.

Plana del Vent gas-fired 

combined cycle power plant in 

Spain.

Shareholders give Alpiq room for manoeuvre 

19 January 2022

The energy markets are thrown out of balance for several weeks.

The outage of numerous French nuclear power plants as well as cold temperatures cause 

prices to soar on an unprecedented scale. The extreme prices increase the liquidity and 

credit risks for all market participants, primarily impacting large electricity producers that 

had taken the precaution of hedging their power production in advance. These hedges 

require high security deposits in case the terms of the agreement are not met. The 

company receives these back in full once the contract has been fulfilled. 

To maintain the company’s room for manoeuvre, the shareholders provide Alpiq with 

temporary liquidity of up to CHF 300 million. 

The operating business is not affected by this. Alpiq has a stable operating business with 

high profitability. 

Alpiq headquarters in Lausanne.
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Gondosolar - Project for the construction of a 
photovoltaic installation in the Valais Alps 

7 February 2022

Three partners, assisted by Alpiq, are planning a large photovoltaic installation above the 

Valais village of Gondo. Thanks to its prime position at over 2,000 metres above sea level, 

Gondosolar will produce around 23.3 million kilowatt-hours (kWh) of electricity a year – 

the majority of which in the winter half-year. The municipality of Gondo-Zwischbergen, 

Energie Electrique du Simplon SA (EES; Alpiq’s share: 81.97 %) and the project initiator, 

Renato Jordan, who owns the plot of land at the Alpjerung location, are backing this 

project. The project envisages the installation of 4,500 bifacial solar elements on an area 

of around 100,000 square metres. Each solar element consists of 8 PV modules. The 

investment amounts to around CHF 42 million.

With a total installed capacity of 18 MW, Gondosolar will produce around 23.3 million kWh 

of electricity. Due to the altitude, the planned project will produce around twice as much 

electricity per square metre as a comparable facility in the Swiss Plateau. In addition, 

Gondosolar will produce significantly more winter electricity per area than a PV 

installation in the lowlands. Gondosolar will thus make an important contribution to the 

expansion targets for power production from solar energy set by both the federal 

government and the canton of Valais. The installation is expected to be commissioned in 

2025. 

The location above Gondo, a village on the Italian border, is ideal for the use of solar 

energy. It does not affect protected areas and is not considered critical by experts in terms 

of natural hazards. The impact on the environment, biodiversity and landscape is 

relatively low. The planned ground-mounted PV installation is not visible from populated 

areas. The electricity will be transported via an underground cable and the nearby 

medium-voltage grid to the existing Gabi substation.

In December 2022, Prafleuri, a second major Alpine photovoltaic project in which Alpiq is 

involved will be launched in the canton of Valais. Further projects are in the pipeline.

Visualisation of the Gondosolar 

photovoltaic installation.
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Electricity prices soar again following start of 
Russia’s attack on Ukraine 

24 February 2022

On 24 February, Russia invades Ukraine. War begins. Major Ukrainian cities are under fire 

from missiles. Millions of people are suddenly on the run. Europe’s solidarity with Ukraine 

is unprecedented.

The Russian invasion of Ukraine also shakes the energy markets to their very core. 

Uncertainty pushes prices into new dimensions. It becomes apparent how dependent 

Europe is on Russian commodities, especially gas. Sanctions are imposed on Russia. The 

war exacerbates the existing energy crisis further. Some energy companies flounder and 

need government support.

Extreme prices and the high volatility on the European energy markets greatly increase 

liquidity needs for the entire industry. Energy producers, in particular, must temporarily 

make high security deposits for the production they sell. However, the company receives 

these back in full once the contract has been fulfilled. 

Electricity prices continue to rise.

Alpiq welcomes Act on Subsidiary Financial 
Assistance to Rescue Systemically Critical Companies 
to ensure security of supply 

4 May 2022

Alpiq supports the federal government’s efforts to secure Switzerland’s power supply. The 

federal government presents a bill intended as a preventive subsidiary measure. It wants 

to compel systemically important energy companies to submit to a federal bailout 

scheme. Since the market conditions are extremely tense and the high volatility on the 

energy markets leads to systemic risks, this type of commitment can be purposeful and 

stabilising. It can relieve speculation and tension on the market as the companies 

concerned have sufficient liquidity. However, it is not possible to rule out all 

contingencies of a pan-European upheaval.

This measure is intended to ensure security of supply for the general population as well as 

businesses in the current extreme market environment impacted by geopolitical forces. In 

its response to the broad review, Alpiq draws attention to several critical points. Many of 

the suggestions are incorporated into the legislation during the subsequent legislative 

process. On 30 September 2022, the National Council and Council of States approved the 

urgent Federal Act on Subsidiary Financial Assistance to Rescue Systemically Critical 

Companies in the Electricity Industry and adopted this at 1 October 2022. The rescue 

package is limited until the end of 2026.  

The Parliament in Bern.

Photo: Parlamentsdienste 3003 

Bern / Goran Basic
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Nant de Drance is an essential cog in the security of 
supply 

1 July 2022

Fourteen years after the start of construction work, the Nant de Drance pumped storage 

power plant goes into operation on 1 July 2022. Thanks to its six extremely flexible 

machines and a capacity of 900 MW, Nant de Drance power plant is set to play a key role in 

the stabilisation of the Swiss and European electricity grid. The plant is built 600 metres 

into a mountain in a cavern between the Emosson and Vieux Emosson reservoirs in the 

Finhaut municipality of Valais. The highly flexible machines with a capacity of 150 MW 

each make it possible to switch from pumping at full power to turbining at full power in 

less than five minutes, i.e. from -900 MW to +900 MW. The machines are at the cutting edge 

of technology with the speed of the machines varying in both pump and turbine mode, 

allowing for optimum operating efficiency.

The Vieux Emosson reservoir holds 25 million cubic metres of water, which represents a 

storage capacity of 20 million kWh. Its output, storage capacity and flexibility allow Nant 

de Drance to play a crucial role in stabilising the electricity grid. In face of the growth of 

new renewable energies such as wind and photovoltaic whose production is intermittent, 

a great deal of flexibility is required to maintain continual equilibrium in the electricity 

grid between production and consumption. Nant de Drance works like a gigantic battery 

which allows excess electricity to be stored in the short term or to feed this energy back 

into the electricity grid when demand exceeds production. 

Assembling a pump turbine.

Photo: Nant de Drance / 

Sébastien Moret

Political debates surrounding price caps gain ground

August 2022

Hopes for a quick end to the war in Ukraine are shattered. Russia’s President, Vladimir 

Putin, uses natural gas as a political lever. After limited amounts of natural gas continued 

to flow from Russia to Europe via the Nord Stream 1 pipeline in spring, these deliveries are 

first halted temporarily in July – under the pretext of maintenance – and then later 

stopped completely. At the same time, the prolonged period of dry weather in 

combination with an unusually long heatwave mean that water levels in the rivers of 

Western Europe are very low. This not only restricts river traffic and thus the transport 

capacities for raw materials such as fuels, but also the cooling of nuclear power plants via 

river water is only possible to a limited extent. This again leads to higher prices across the 

board, not only for gas and electricity, but also for fuels.

Europe’s population and economy struggle with record energy prices. An energy shortage 

in the coming winter is also looming. Alternative procurement strategies are initiated and 

LNG terminals are planned for the delivery of liquid gas. Energy-saving measures and 

campaigns are launched to save energy for the coming winter. In the summer months, 

political efforts to intervene in the market in a regulatory manner also increase.

At the end of August, prices reach their highest point to date. Numerous energy-intensive 

industrial companies can no longer maintain their production at the high energy prices. 

Electricity prices climb to 

unprecedented heights.
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Nant de Drance: Visit to power plant leaves lasting 
impressions

9 September 2022

The Nant de Drance pumped storage power plant in Valais with a capacity of 900 MW is 

inaugurated on 9 September 2022. The day will go down as a key date in the history of 

Nant de Drance. It marks the end of a 14-year construction site with up to 650 workers, 

technicians and engineers from across Europe. Federal Councillor Simonetta Sommaruga 

and the President of the Cantonal Council of Valais, Roberto Schmidt, take part in the 

official inauguration, which is dedicated to today’s youth, future generations and the 

future of energy.

The Nant de Drance pumped storage power plant project officially started on 8 September 

2008. Fourteen years later, the opening ceremony for this monumental construction takes 

place. The power plant has been in operation since 1 July 2022 and is proving to be 

extremely reliable. The flexibility and availability of its machines are its distinguishing 

features, enabling it to respond to fluctuations in the electricity grid very quickly and to 

adapt to the market requirements. Shareholders Alpiq (39 %), SBB (36 %), IWB (15 %) and 

FMV (10 %) have access to the power plant’s production and pump capacities in 

proportion to their stake in the company, manage energy in line with market needs and 

thus contribute to the stabilisation of the Swiss and European electricity grid.

The inauguration celebrations are dedicated to the youth and future generations, in 

keeping with Nant de Drance’s central role for the future of energy. Children from Valais 

perform musical interludes for most of the official ceremony. Schoolchildren from the 

neighbouring primary schools visit the power plant on 8 September 2022. More than 2,000 

people explore the plant at open day events on 10 and 11 September 2022. Lastly, more 

than 700 Alpiq employees meet up at the large staff party in Sion on 12 and 13 September 

2022, including a tour of Nant de Drance and the Emosson reservoir. Visiting the power 

plant is a unique experience for all those who take part. 

The visit to the power plant 

cavern is a unique experience.
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Federal government sends important signal for 
energy industry 

5 September 2022

On 5 September 2022, at the request of Axpo, the Federal Council initiates the bailout 

scheme for systemically important Swiss energy companies by emergency decree. This 

automatically places Alpiq under the scheme with immediate effect. Alpiq welcomes the 

Swiss government’s decisive action, which sends an important confidence-building signal 

to the markets. The upheaval on the energy markets, which has persisted for many 

months, has prompted various countries to take measures to protect the security of 

supply against systemic risks.

With the entry into force of the Federal Act on Subsidiary Financial Assistance to Rescue 

Systemically Critical Companies in the Electricity Industry, Alpiq is automatically subject 

to the law and will comply with the associated obligations. However, Alpiq is not drawing 

on any federal assistance and is confident that it will not have to do so even if market 

conditions remain challenging. Comprehensive operational measures in the energy 

business, as well as additional financing in the credit and capital markets, have 

strengthened the company’s financial room for manoeuvre, which Alpiq is doing 

everything in its power to maintain. 

The Federal Palace of Switzerland 

in Bern.

Photo: Parlamentsdienste 3003 

Bern / Béatrice Devènes
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Autumn session: Federal government sets the course 
for accelerated expansion of renewable energies 

30 September 2022

The Swiss Parliament’s autumn session is dominated by the energy crisis. By adopting the 

urgent Federal Act on Subsidiary Financial Assistance in the autumn session, the National 

Council and Council of States create the legal basis for a CHF 10 billion rescue fund for the 

systemically critical electricity companies, namely the three companies Axpo, Alpiq and 

BKW. This act takes effect at 1 October 2022 and is limited until the end of 2026.

During consultation on the indirect counterproposal to the Glacier Initiative, Parliament 

launches a solar campaign and resolves on additional, urgent legislation to raise the 

Grimsel dam wall. By means of a simplified procedure, the solar campaign aims to pave 

the way for the expansion of alpine ground-mounted installations in the region of 2 TWh 

by the end of 2025. Alpiq is pursuing projects in Alpine regions that are affected by the 

legislation, for example Gondosolar and Prafleuri.

The Council of States was the first to start deliberations on the Federal Act on a Secure 

Electricity Supply from Renewable Energy Sources. It wants to rapidly expand domestic 

renewable energy sources and has therefore stepped up the expansion targets for 2035 

and 2050 and has decided that hydropower storage power plants, pumped storage power 

plants, photovoltaic installations and wind power plants as well as electrolysers and 

methanisation installations are in the national interest if they make a central 

contribution to achieving the expansion targets. National interests take priority over 

conflicting interests of cantonal, regional and local significance. In the future, investors 

should be able to choose between an investment contribution or a floating market 

premium. As a sign of support for the expansion of hydropower, the 15 “Round Table” 

projects were added as an appendix to the legislation. Alpiq is directly involved in key 

projects (Gornerli, Oberaletsch and potential projects to raise dam walls). 

Visualisation of the Gornerli 

reservoir near Zermatt.
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#prixalpiq 2022 goes to the “Regionale 
Wasserversorgung Südrampe” project in Valais

7 October 2022

In Martigny, the #prixalpiq for sustainable water management projects is awarded for the 

second time. The #prixalpiq 2022 is awarded to the “Regionale Wasserversorgung 

Südrampe” (Regional Water Supply of the Southern Ramp) project, supported by the 

municipalities of Visp, Naters, Brig-Glis and Lalden. The innovative intercommunal system 

of governance secures the regional supply of drinking water. The jury also awarded a 

“Winner of hearts” prize to the project “La Conquête de l’Eau” (The Conquest of Water) by 

the municipality of Ayent, a film about the value and importance of water resources and 

its preservation. The winning project receives CHF 40,000 and the “Winner of hearts” 

project receives CHF 10,000.

Alpiq, in partnership with the Association of Concession-Granting Municipalities of Valais 

(ACC), presents the winners with prizes worth a total of CHF 50,000 in a ceremony. “As has 

been made clear once again in the last few months, climate change is having a very real 

impact on our environment, especially when it comes to water management”, says Antje 

Kanngiesser, CEO of Alpiq.

The winning project “Regionale Wasserversorgung Südrampe” secures the supply of 

drinking water in the Brig-Naters-Visp agglomeration and meets the water needs of the 

municipalities and industry. The first stage of the project is completed in record time 

thanks to the intercommunal collaboration, which began in 2021. Since spring 2022, more 

than a million cubic metres of water have been injected into the water supply of the 

municipalities in the agglomeration. The next stage of the project is to extend this water 

supply system by constructing new pipes to guarantee access to drinking water until 2040. 

In addition, a turbine installation will use the waterfall to generate electricity.

The film project “La Conquête de l’Eau” wins the “Winner of hearts” prize. Produced by 

Artemis Films Production S.A. and sponsored by the municipality of Ayent, the film tells 

the story of the relentless struggle of our ancestors to find water in the Valais mountains. 

Faced with the current challenges of climate change, and particularly with periods of 

severe drought, the issue of water and its sustainable management now plays a major role 

in our society. 

The winners of the second 

edition of the #prixalpiq award.
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Alpiq provides more than half of the hydropower 
reserve for winter 2022/2023 

25 October 2022

The Swiss Federal Electricity Commission (ElCom) publishes the results of the auction for 

the hydropower reserve for winter 2022/2023. Alpiq participated in the auction held by 

national grid operator Swissgrid and submitted responsible bids. The result speaks for 

itself: Alpiq wins the contract for the entire bid, i.e. 218 GWh from seven different power 

plants. Alpiq is thus providing more than 50 % of the entire hydropower reserve and is 

making a substantial contribution to strengthening the security of supply in Switzerland, 

in order to bridge any critical moments in the winter months.

The hydropower reserve aims to ensure that the electricity supply in Switzerland can be 

guaranteed during a period of a few weeks towards the end of winter – even with higher 

domestic consumption, reduced availability in domestic power plants and fewer import 

opportunities. The hydropower reserve is a backup to bridge an unanticipated critical 

situation and, in doing so, contributes to strengthening the country’s security of supply.

A total of 149 bids totalling 672 GWh were submitted by various providers during the 

tender for the hydropower reserve. ElCom decided to award the contract to provide a 

hydropower reserve to bids with a total of 400 GWh. The quantities procured are thus 

within the pre-determined benchmarks, which propose 500 GWh with tolerance of 

+/-166 GWh. 

The Grande-Dixence reservoir 

holds  million cubic metres of 

water.

400
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About us

The inauguration of the Nant de Drance pumped storage power plant on 8 September 2022 was dedicated to today’s youth and future generations. 

Children from the neighbouring primary schools explored the monumental construction just before the official ceremony and decorated a wall in the 

machine cavern with colourful handprints. 

Photo: Nant de Drance / Sébastien Moret

Alpiq is a leading Swiss energy company that is active in various countries and markets throughout Europe. Our energy 

business contributes to a better climate and improves the security of supply in Switzerland and for our customers on the 

European markets. We pursue a sustainable, financially sound and risk-adjusted business model.

Our core business is the production of electricity from flexible CO -free hydropower and nuclear power in Switzerland as 

well as from wind power and photovoltaics in several European countries. In addition, we operate modern and flexible 

gas-fired combined-cycle power plants in Italy, Spain and Hungary. By producing green hydrogen, we are pioneers in 

contributing to CO -free heavy-duty traffic and are continuously expanding our competence.

 2

 2

Our core business also comprises energy trading. We sell production from our own plants as well as third-party plants on 

our modern and efficient trading platform. We trade with electricity, gas and other energy products in many European 

countries. A sustainable and cost-effective energy procurement strategy is an important aspect of any business. Our Sales 

& Origination team supports industrial and business customers with sustainable energy management as well as a wide 

range of energy solutions and services.

We have around 1,200 employees and are headquartered in Lausanne.
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Power Production in 2022

  Installed capacity at 31.12.2022 1 Production 2022 2

Power Plants MW MW GWh GWh

         

Hydropower   3,326   5,380

Switzerland 3,026   3,252  

France 3 300   2,128  

         

Small-scale hydropower, wind, photovoltaics   329   516

Switzerland 19   52  

Bulgaria 73   128  

France 13   31  

Italy 224   304  

         

Nuclear power   831   6,557

Switzerland 676   5,853  

France 4 155   704  

         

Conventional thermal power   1,308   4,997

Italy 491   2,726  

Spain 414   1,117  

Hungary 403   1,154  

         

Total   5,794   17,450

1 Based on Alpiq’s net share of total power plant production

2 Net share attributable to Alpiq from total power plant production (after deducting pumped energy)

3 Including base versus peak exchange contract

4 Long term supply contract
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Organisational structure

By the end of 2022, we organised our business into three business divisions: Switzerland, International and Trading.

The  business division comprises the production of electricity from Swiss hydropower, nuclear power, wind 

power and industrial photovoltaic plants, the operation of power plants and the development of several wind farm 

projects in Switzerland. The power plant portfolio includes run-of-river power plants, storage and pumped storage power 

plants (including Nant de Drance) as well as interests in the Gösgen and Leibstadt nuclear power plants. In addition to 

this, the business division manages shares in HYDRO Exploitation SA and Kernkraftwerk-Beteiligungsgesellschaft AG 

(KBG).

Switzerland

The  business division comprises power production of wind power plants, small-scale hydropower plants 

and industrial photovoltaic plants, the operation of power plants and the development of several wind farm projects 

located outside of Switzerland. The business division also covers the production of electricity and heat in thermal power 

plants in Hungary, Italy and Spain. The power plant portfolio is made up of gas-fired combined-cycle power plants and 

gas-fired turbine power plants. Power is sold on the European electricity trading market via the Trading business division 

or via third parties. The power plants are used by the respective grid operators to balance the grids. In addition, 

International includes direct marketing and energy management for industrial and business customers to help these 

meet their cost efficiency and sustainability goals, always with a view to increasing customer benefits and creating value.

International

The  business division comprises the optimisation of Alpiq’s own power plants as well as the optimisation of 

decentralised generation units and the production of electricity from third parties’ renewable energies. It also covers 

trading activities with standardised and structured products for electricity and gas as well as emission allowances and 

certificates. The business division was renamed Trading in the second half of 2022 following the transfer of the support 

functions D&C Technology and Operations to the Group Centre.

Trading
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Active throughout Europe

We are represented by branches in various European countries, both in trading and sales as well as with energy services. 

We operate our own power plants in Switzerland, Italy, France, Spain, Hungary and Bulgaria.
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Financial Calendar
23 February 2023: Annual media conference

26 April 2023: Annual General Meeting of Alpiq Holding Ltd.

24 August 2023: Media Conference Half-Year Results 2023
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Group and shareholder 
structure
Alpiq is committed to transparent and responsible business management and pursues sustainable corporate 

development. Transparency and fairness are ensured by effective management and controlling systems, an open 

information policy and ethical principles. Except where otherwise stated, all information given is at 31 December 2022. 

The same applies to references to clauses in regulations and instructions.

After his election onto the Board of Directors at the Extraordinary General Meeting on 9 December 2021, Johannes 

Teyssen assumed office as member of the Board of Directors and Chairman from 1 January 2022.

At 31 December 2022, the Alpiq Group’s management structure comprises the three operational business divisions of 

Switzerland, International and Trading. The Group Centre consists of the functional divisions Financial Services and 

Corporate Development as well as the functional units Legal & Compliance, Human Resources and Communications & 

Public Affairs, all of which report directly to the CEO.

At 31 December 2022, the parent company Alpiq Holding Ltd., domiciled in Lausanne, Switzerland, had share capital of 

CHF 331,103.64, divided into 33,110,364 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.01 each.

According to the share register, the following shareholders are registered at 

31 December 2022:

Shareholder

Stakes

in %

EOS Holding SA 33.33

Schweizer Kraftwerksbeteiligungs-AG 33.33

 EBM (Genossenschaft Elektra Birseck) 1 19.91

 EBL (Genossenschaft Elektra Baselland) 1 6.44

Eniwa Holding AG 1 2.12

Aziende Industriali di Lugano (AIL) SA 1 1.79

IBB Holding AG 1 1.12

Regio Energie Solothurn 1 1.00

WWZ AG 1 0.96

1 Consortium of Swiss minority shareholders

No cross-shareholdings exist.

The three shareholder groups EOS Holding SA, Schweizer Kraftwerksbeteiligungs-AG and the consortium of Swiss 

minority shareholders each hold one-third of the Alpiq shares.
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Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall management and strategic direction of the Alpiq Group as well as for 

supervising the Executive Board. The Board of Directors consists of the following seven members:
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Johannes Teyssen

Chairman

Nationality:

German 

Education:

– Juris Doctor Degree from the Georg August 

University of Goettingen, Germany

– Studied Law and Economics at the 

Universities of Freiburg and Goettingen, 

Germany

Professional background:

2010 – 04/2021: CEO and Chairman of the 

Management Board of E.ON SE, Essen, Germany 

2007 – 2010: Chief Operating Officer and Deputy 

CEO, E.ON SE, Duesseldorf, Germany 

2003 – 2007: CEO, E.ON Energie Ltd. (European 

Division), Munich, Germany

2001 – 2003: CFO, E.ON Energie Ltd., Munich, 

Germany

1999 – 2001: CEO and Chairman of the 

Management Board, Avacon AG, Helmstedt, 

Germany 

1998 – 1999: Member of the Management Board, 

Braunschweigische Stromversorgungs AG 

(HASTRA), Hanover, Germany (1999: merged into 

Avacon) 

1994 – 1998: Head of Legal Affairs, later also 

Wholesale Services, PreussenElektra Ltd., 

Hanover, Germany

1991 – 1994: Head of Energy and Corporate Law, 

PreussenElektra Ltd., Hanover, Germany 

1989 – 1991: Various positions in Legal Affairs, 

PreussenElektra Ltd., Hanover, Germany

Other mandates:

Director: Viridor plc, Taunton, United Kingdom; 

BP plc, London, United Kingdom

Senior Advisor: KKR plc, London, United 

Kingdom

First elected to the Board of Directors:

2022

Specific role on the Board of Directors:

– Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Jean-Yves Pidoux

Deputy Chairman

Nationality:

Swiss

Education:

Doctorate in Sociology and Anthropology

Professional background:

Until June 2021: Lausanne City Councillor, 

Municipal Utilities Director

Other mandates:

Director: Etablissement d’assurance contre 

l’incendie et les éléments naturels du Canton de 

Vaud (ECA), Pully

Foundation council member: Caisse de pensions 

ECA-RP, Lausanne

First elected to the Board of Directors:

2009

Specific role on the Board of Directors:

– Member of the Audit and Risk Committee
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Conrad Ammann

Director

Nationality:

Swiss

Education:

– Doctor in Technical Sciences, ETH Zurich

– BWI Postgraduate Diploma in Industrial 

Management, ETH Zurich

– Dipl. El. Ing., ETH Zurich

Professional background:

Since 2012: CEO/Chairman of the Executive 

Board of the Primeo Energie Group, 

Münchenstein 

1999 – 2012: Director of the Municipal Electric 

Utility Zurich (ewz) 

During this time: President of Swisspower Ltd; 

member of the Board of Directors of Kraftwerke 

Oberhasli AG; member of the Board of Directors 

of Maggia Kraftwerke AG; member of the Board 

of Directors of Blenio Kraftwerke AG; member of 

the Committee of the Board of Directors and 

Chairman of the Operations Commission of 

Kernkraftwerk Gösgen-Däniken AG; Vice 

President of Aktiengesellschaft für 

Kernenergiebeteiligungen; member of the Board 

of Directors of Swissgrid Ltd; member of the 

Board of Directors of Etrans Ltd; Vice President 

of the Association of Swiss Electricity 

Companies (VSE); Co-President of the Association 

for Environmentally Sound Energy (VUE) 

1993 – 1999: Elektra Birseck, Münchenstein, 

member of the Executive Board, responsible for 

the distribution grid 

1989 – 1993: Municipal Electric Utility Zurich 

(ewz), management assistant/contact for 

energy-related issues

Other mandates:

Chairman: aventron Holding AG, Münchenstein; 

Primeo Energie Ltd, Münchenstein 

Director: Kraftwerk Birsfelden AG, Birsfelden 

Board member: Handelskammer beider Basel 

(Basel Chamber of Commerce)

First elected to the Board of Directors:

2012

Specific role on the Board of Directors:

– Member of the Nomination & Remuneration 

Committee



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Corporate Governance 27

Tobias Andrist

Director

Nationality:

Swiss

Education:

– Master of Business Administration, Edinburgh 

Business School

– Business Economist, University of Applied 

Sciences & Arts Northwestern Switzerland

– Certified Electrician (Federal Diploma)

Professional background:

Since 2019: CEO EBLD Schweiz Strom GmbH, 

Rheinfelden, Germany

Since 2018: CEO EBL (Genossenschaft Elektra 

Baselland), Liestal 

2012 – 2018: Member of the Executive Board, 

Head of the Electricity Division, EBL

2009 – 2012: Head of Corporate Development, 

EBL 

2006 – 2009: Executive Assistant, IWB Industrielle 

Werke Basel

2004 – 2006: Project Assistant/Management 

Support, Baloise Asset Management AG

Other mandates:

Chairman: EBL España Services SI, Calasparra, 

Spain; EBLT AG, Liestal; EBL Wind Invest AG, 

Liestal; EBL Infrastruktur Management Ltd, 

Liestal; EBLS Schweiz Strom AG, Liestal; EBL 

Stromproduktion AG, Liestal; Tubo Sol PE2 S.L., 

Calasparra, Spain; EBL Italy S.r.l., Palermo, Italy

Director: EBL Fernwärme AG, Liestal; Kraftwerk 

Birsfelden AG, Birsfelden; Libattion AG, 

Glattbrugg

Board member: Energie Zukunft Schweiz 

Association, Basel

Employer representative: Transparenta 

Sammelstiftung für berufliche Vorsorge, Aesch 

Council member: KMU Forum Baselland

First elected to the Board of Directors:

2018

Specific role on the Board of Directors:

– Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee
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Aline Isoz

Director

Nationality:

Swiss

Education:

– Various training courses: Finance I, 

Fundamentals of the Board of Directors and 

the Added Value of the Board of Directors, 

Académie des administrateurs Sàrl (ACAD), 

Geneva; Specialization in Ethics and Artificial 

Intelligence, Coursera

– Bachelor in Communication, Marketing and 

Public Relations, Polycom Lausanne (SAWI)

Professional background:

2019 – 2020: Head of Strategy and Digital 

Transformation, MAZARS Ltd, Vernier/Lausanne

2010 – 2019: Founder and Manager, consulting 

firm for Digital Business Transformation, 

Blackswan Sàrl, Cossonay

2008 – 2010: Creative Director, then Head of 

Digital Strategy at a communications agency, 

Agence Trio SA, Lausanne, and Creatives SA, 

Vevey

2001 – 2008: Independent communication officer

Other mandates:

Chairwoman: Active Communication Ltd, 

Steinhausen; Fédération des hôpitaux vaudois 

informatique (Association), Prilly

Director: SIG, Geneva; vo énergies holdings SA, 

Vallorbe

Board member: Lab4Tech, Lausanne

Foundation council member: Swiss Paraplegics 

Foundation, Nottwil; Presses polytechniques et 

universitaires romandes, Ecublens

First elected to the Board of Directors:

2020

Specific role on the Board of Directors:

– Member of the Nomination & Remuneration 

Committee
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Jørgen Kildahl

Director

Nationality:

Norwegian

Education:

– Advanced Management Programme, Harvard 

Business School

– Master of Business Administration in Finance 

(MBA), Norwegian School of Economics and 

Business Administration, NHH

– Certified European Financial Analyst (CEFA)

– Master of Science in Economics and Business 

Administration (M.Sc.), Norwegian School of 

Economics and Business Administration, NHH

Professional background:

2010 – 2015: Board of Management Member, 

E.ON SE 

1999 – 2010: Executive Vice President, Statkraft 

AS 

1991 – 1999: Partner, Geelmuyden Kiese, PR 

Consulting Group 

1988 – 1991: Fund Manager, International 

Formuesforvaltning A/S

Other mandates:

Since 2016: Senior Advisor, Energy Infrastructure 

Partners AG (formerly Credit Suisse Energy 

Infrastructure Partners AG)

Vice-Chairman: Telenor ASA, Norway

Director: Ørsted A/S, Denmark; SCATEC ASA, Oslo

First elected to the Board of Directors:

2019

Specific role on the Board of Directors:

– Member of the Audit and Risk Committee
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Phyllis Scholl

Director

Nationality:

Swiss

Education:

– Advanced Management Programme HSG

– Admitted to the Bar

– London School of Economics, LL.M

– University of St. Gallen, lic. iur. (Master of 

Laws)

– University of St. Gallen, lic. rer. publ. (Master 

of Public Affairs)

Professional background:

Since 2018: Partner, Baryon AG 

2013 – 2018: Partner, Bär & Karrer AG 

2007 – 2012: Associate, Bär & Karrer AG 

2004 – 2007: Legal staff, Bär & Karrer AG

Other mandates:

Chairwoman: Lazzarini Beteiligungs AG, Chur; 

Unique Ltd., Zurich

Director: Energiedienst Holding AG, Laufenburg; 

EW Höfe AG, Freienbach; Baryon AG, Zurich; 

Mayor of the municipality of Kilchberg

First elected to the Board of Directors: 

2019

Specific role on the Board of Directors:

– Chairwoman of the Nomination & 

Remuneration Committee

The Board of Directors regularly reviews its composition in relation to a balance of specialist knowledge, experience and 

diversity. At 31 December 2022, the Board of Directors has two female members.
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Internal organisation

Allocation of tasks within the Board of Directors

The tasks of the Board of Directors are set out in the Swiss Code of Obligations, in Art. 12 of the Articles of Association as 

well as in the Organisational Regulations of Alpiq Holding Ltd.

Committees of the Board of Directors

The ARC consists exclusively of non-executive and independent members of the Board of Directors, most of whom have 

finance and accounting experience. At 31 December 2022, the members of the ARC are Tobias Andrist (Chairman), Jørgen 

Kildahl (member) and Jean-Yves Pidoux (member). The ARC’s role is to support the Board of Directors in assessing the 

performance of the external auditors, monitoring and assessing the internal auditors, the internal control system, 

financial accounting, risk management, compliance and corporate governance.

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) 

At 31 December 2022, the NRC consists of Phyllis Scholl (Chairwoman), Conrad Ammann (member) and Aline Isoz (member). 

The NRC is tasked with supporting the Board of Directors in discharging its supervisory duty regarding succession 

planning (Board of Directors and Executive Board), determining and reviewing remuneration policy and guidelines as well 

as performance targets, preparing proposals on the remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board on 

behalf of the Annual General Meeting (AGM), determining all other terms and conditions of employment of the members 

of the Board of Directors and approving the other contract terms and conditions of employment for the CEO (as proposed 

by the Chairman of the Board of Directors) and for the Executive Board (as proposed by the CEO).

Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC)

All committees can investigate and enquire about activities that fall within their area of responsibility and also can 

request any information required to fulfil their duties.

Sustainability

Economic, environmental and social issues as well as decisions regarding sustainability are handled by the Board of 

Directors, as the body responsible for the overall management. In addition to this, they are dealt with by the committees 

supporting the Board of Directors, in particular the ARC (economic and environmental issues) and the NRC (social issues).

Division of responsibilities

The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the Alpiq Group’s entire operational management to the CEO. The 

CEO chairs the Executive Board and has delegated some of her management responsibilities to the Executive Board 

members. The Organisational Regulations and the Executive Board Regulations govern authorities and the division of 

responsibilities between the Board of Directors and the CEO or Executive Board. As part of the Group Guidelines, the CEO 

has issued regulations governing the assignment of authorities and responsibilities. These regulations apply throughout 

the Group.

Information and controlling instruments in relation to the Executive Board

The Executive Board reports annually to the Board of Directors on strategic, medium-term and annual targets and on the 

progress made in attaining them. The Board of Directors issues a code of conduct to ensure compliance with the 

applicable norms. During the financial year, the Executive Board reports quarterly on business performance, progress in 

achieving targets and other important developments (activity report). The Board of Directors also receives a regular 

summary report including key financial figures (Alpiq Group short-form report), an assessment of the risk situation and 
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ongoing internal audits. Furthermore, the Board of Directors receives a written quarterly report showing detailed 

financial information and the principal activities and projects of the various business and functional divisions. At 31 

December 2022, the Board of Directors also has two standing committees: the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) and the 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC).

The external auditors submit a comprehensive report to the Board of Directors and give a verbal presentation of the 

results and findings of their audit and of their future key audit areas.

Internal Audit, which reports directly to the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the ARC, provides independent and 

objective auditing and advisory services aimed at adding value and improving business processes. It supports the 

organisation in achieving its objectives by using a systematic and targeted approach to evaluate the effectiveness of risk 

management, internal control systems as well as the management and supervisory processes, and by helping to improve 

them. Internal Audit is a management tool for the Board of Directors and its committees, in particular for the ARC. 

Internal Audit is tasked with assisting the Board of Directors and Executive Board in performing their monitoring and 

controlling functions. At the ARC’s request, the Board of Directors approves the risk-oriented audit schedule of Internal 

Audit on an annual basis and acknowledges the annual accountability report. The individual audit reports are submitted 

to the respective line manager, the Chairman and (in summary form) to the ARC and are tabled for discussion at each 

meeting. As and when necessary, Internal Audit also engages an external co-sourcing audit partner to assist it with its 

work. As Internal Audit uses the partial outsourcing model, the overall responsibility and accountability for assurance 

services of Internal Audit lie with the Head of Internal Audit, while the operational implementation is primarily performed 

by an external service partner.

Risk Management monitors strategic and operational risks, particularly market, credit and liquidity risks. The Board of 

Directors receives an annual written report on the situation and developments in Group-wide risk management and its 

most important constituents. The report presents principles and limits, details compliance with them and contains 

information on planned expansion moves. Central Risk Management reports to the CEO and proposes limits for the 

individual areas based on the results of analyses. The Executive Board is responsible for assigning the related risk 

categories. The overall limit for the Alpiq Group is set annually by the Board of Directors. The Risk Management 

Committee (RMC), a subcommittee of the Executive Board, monitors compliance with the limits and principles of risk 

management.

Compliance is integrated into the Legal & Compliance functional unit and regularly reports to the CEO and the Board of 

Directors. In addition to the actual compliance programme and measures to prevent breaches of ethical regulations and 

norms, Alpiq’s compliance management system comprises aspects of corporate culture as well as constant monitoring 

and improvement of the Compliance Organisation. Compliance carries out consulting assignments of the Chairman of the 

Board of Directors, the Executive Board or the ARC, conducts internal investigations and oversees the compliance 

reporting office as well as Group-wide directives. More detailed information on compliance can be found in the “Ethics 

and integrity” section of Alpiq’s sustainability report.
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Executive Board
The Executive Board comprises the following five members at 31 December 2022:

Antje Kanngiesser

CEO

 Nationality:

Swiss/German

:Function

CEO

President of the Executive Board

Education:

– EMBA, IMD, Lausanne, Switzerland

– Finance for Executives, Insead, 

Fontainebleau, France

– Doctor of Law, University of Regensburg, 

Germany

– First and Second State Examination in Law, 

Bavaria, Germany

Professional Background:

2014 – 2021: BKW AG, Vice President of Group 

Markets & Services and Member of the Executive 

Board, various functions

2007 – 2014: Alpiq Group and Energie Ouest 

Suisse, various functions

2005 – 2007: Lawyer at S&K, Berlin

2001 – 2005: Lawyer at GGSC, Berlin

 Year of joining the Alpiq Group:

2021 (also 2007 - 2014)
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Michael Wider

Head of Switzerland, Deputy of the 

CEO

Nationality:

Swiss 

 Functions:

Head of Switzerland

Deputy of the CEO

Education:

– Stanford Executive Programme

– Master of Business Administration, University 

of Lausanne

– Master of Law, University of Fribourg

Professional Background:

2003 – 2009: COO and Head of Energy Generation, 

EOS Holding

1997 – 2003: CFO and Head of Management 

Services, Entreprises Electriques Fribourgeoises 

(EEF), Head of the merger EEF/ENSA

1987 – 1997: Lawyer and general secretary within 

Entreprises Electriques Fribourgeoises

 Year of joining the Alpiq Group:

2009
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Luca Baroni

CFO

Nationality:

Swiss/Italian

Function:

Head of Financial Services

CFO (Chief Financial Officer)

Education:

– Executive MBA HSG in General Management

– Business Economist, University of Applied 

Sciences, Basel

Professional Background:

2017 – 2021: Group CFO, BLS Ltd.

2005 – 2016: CFO, Swissgrid Ltd

2000 – 2005: CFO, Energiedienst Holding AG

2000 – 2000: Head of Controlling & Energy 

Settlement, EGL AG

1998 – 2000: Head of Group and Holding 

Accounting, WATT AG

1990 – 1998: Various finance functions within the 

Migros Group

Year of joining the Alpiq Group: 

2021

Lukas Gresnigt

Head of International

Nationality:

Dutch

:Function

Head of International

Education:

– Master in Finance, with Distinction, London 

Business School

– MSc in Chemistry, Utrecht University, the 

Netherlands

– MSc in Chemical Engieering, with Honours, 

Technical University Delft, the Netherlands

Professional Background:

2019 – 2021: SHV Energy, Director Renewable 

Solutions 

2009 – 2019: Statkraft, Vice President Commercial 

Asset Management, International Power; various 

functions

Year of joining the Alpiq Group: 

2022
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Navin Parasram

Head of Trading

Nationality:

United Kingdom/Trinidad and Tobago

Function:

Head of Trading

Education:

– PhD in Mechanical Engineering, Imperial 

College London

– MSc in Electrical and Mechanical Engineering, 

Queen Mary University London

Professional Background:

2020 – 2022: Head of Merchant Trading, Alpiq

2015 – 2020: Head of Trading for Gas, Oil FX, Engie 

Global Markets, Paris

2014 – 2015: Independent consultant, London

2006 – 2012: Global Head of Commodity Exotics, 

Citigroup, London

2002 – 2006: Quantitative trader, EdF Trading, 

London 

Year of joining the Alpiq Group: 

2020
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Remuneration
This report was prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Swiss Code of Obligations. The amounts disclosed 

comprise the overall remuneration granted to the members of the Board of Directors of Alpiq Holding Ltd. and the 

Executive Board for the 2022 financial year. Remuneration is recognised in the year of final acquisition of title.

As laid down under the Articles of Association, the Annual General Meeting (AGM) approves the overall remuneration 

amounts for the Board of Directors and the Executive Board once a year, separately and with binding effect, prospectively 

for the following financial year. The Board of Directors extends an invitation to the AGM to approve the total 

compensation of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board once a year by way of separate consultative vote in the 

reporting year.

Information on Compensation Governance can be found in the relevant passages of the Organisational Regulations and is 

not listed separately here.

Market-compliant remuneration

To ensure that the remuneration of members of the Executive Board and the Board of Directors conforms to standard 

market practice, Alpiq regularly engages independent external consultancy firms to evaluate overall remuneration 

packages relative to the market environment. The most recent market comparison of remuneration of the Board of 

Directors and Executive Board was performed by HCM Hostettler & Company in mid-2018 at Alpiq’s instigation. The 

amount and structure of remuneration were analysed, using listed electricity and energy companies in Switzerland and 

Europe of a similar size with comparable structures and operations, as well as industrial companies as a benchmark.

Remuneration policy

Members of the Board of Directors receive fixed remuneration, additional expense allowances and statutory pension 

benefits. These components are not performance-related. The amount of fixed remuneration depends on whether an 

office is held as Chairman or as a Board member, as well as on mandates held in other committees of the Board of 

Directors. Apart from statutory social security contributions and pension contributions if they have pensions with the 

Swiss pension fund “Stiftung Pensionskasse Energie” (PKE), members of the Board of Directors do not receive any other 

pension benefits.

Members of the Executive Board receive a fixed salary and a reward. Selected members receive in addition a long-term 

incentive (LTI). In these cases, the total remuneration is made up of basic remuneration, reward (short-term incentive STI) 

and LTI. They also receive a company car allowance, an expense allowance and, if requested, a GA travelcard for 1st class 

travel. The reward is based on performance and value creation. It is approved by the Board of Directors and the Annual 

General Meeting after the end of the financial year. The reward can range between 0 % and 133 %. For the selected cases 

with additional LTI reward, the range of the STI is 0 % to 200 % and for the LTI 0 % to 100 %. All members of the Executive 

Board are covered by statutory social security and the PKE pension fund.
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Remuneration paid to the Board of Directors

  Sum total Board of Directors

CHF thousand 2022 2021

Fixed remuneration 1,652 1,218

Expense allowances 85 86

Other remuneration 18 182

Total 1,755 1,486

Remuneration paid to the Executive Board

  Sum total Executive Board

CHF thousand 2022 2021

Gross salaries (fixed) 3,268 2,896

Gross salaries (variable) 941 1,011

Expense allowances 136 117

Contributions in kind 144 133

Pension benefits 907 1,068

Total 5,396 5,225

– Matthias Zwicky was a member of the Executive Board until 31 March 2022.

– Alexandra Machnik was a member of the Executive Board until 31 August 2022.

– At 1 April 2022, Lukas Gresnigt joined the Executive Board as Head of International.

– At 1 June 2022, Navin Parasram joined the Executive Board as Head of Trading.
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Auditors
Duration of mandate and period of office of main auditor

Ernst & Young Ltd act as the auditors of Alpiq Holding Ltd. The statutory and Group auditors are appointed by the Annual 

General Meeting for a one-year term.

The current lead audit partner of Ernst & Young Ltd has been performing this function since the 2021 financial year.

Auditors’ fees and additional fees

Performance and fees are reviewed annually. For the past financial year, statutory and Group auditor Ernst & Young Ltd 

received fees of CHF 2.6 million for their services (previous year: CHF 2.3 million). Of this amount, CHF 2.3 million was paid 

for audit services (CHF 2.0 million), CHF 0.1 million for audit-related services (CHF 0.2 million) and CHF 0.2 million for tax 

services (CHF 0.1 million).

External audit information mechanisms

The external auditors report to the ARC at least once a year on the audits they have conducted and the resultant findings 

and recommendations. The ARC agrees audit plans with the external auditors in advance and assesses their work. The 

external auditors submit a comprehensive report to the full Board of Directors once a year. The ARC regularly invites the 

external auditors to attend its meetings.
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Information policy
Alpiq provides shareholders, potential investors and all other stakeholders with comprehensive, timely and regular 

information through its Annual and Interim Reports, at media and financial analyst conferences and at the Annual 

General Meetings. Communication channels also include the company’s regularly updated website at , as 

well as media releases on important events. Contact addresses are listed on the website at .

www.alpiq.com

www.alpiq.com/contacts

https://www.alpiq.com
https://www.alpiq.com/alpiq-group/about-alpiq/group-companies
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Financial Review
Alpiq is looking back on a successful financial year 2022, despite the very challenging market environment characterised 

by soaring and yet highly volatile energy prices. On the one hand, the market price distortions brought with it new 

opportunities and improved trading margins, but on the other hand, they also introduced new challenges and heightened 

risks.

Electricity forward prices rose continuously from the second half of 2021, peaking at the end of August 2022. Prices 

declined in the subsequent months and by year-end returned to the levels last seen in the first half of 2022. The strong 

fluctuations were attributable to geopolitical uncertainties in European gas supply on account of the war in Ukraine, 

unplanned outages of French nuclear power plants and a period of extremely dry weather in Europe.

Alpiq successfully participated in the federal government’s tender process for the hydropower reserve and is now 

responsible for more than half of the 400 GWh allotment. For Alpiq this move is not about maximising profits, but one of 

social responsibility. As one of the largest electricity producers in Switzerland, Alpiq is committed to ensuring security of 

supply. The fact that earnings will shift into 2023 and possibly on lower levels is an accepted consequence.

The liquidity requirements for the hedging of our production and the participation in international energy trade, was 

significantly increased as a result of the high energy prices in 2022. In response to these market developments, Alpiq 

initiated and implemented sufficient precautionary measures at an early stage to increase liquidity and to avoid cash 

outflows in the short term. These measures considerably improved Alpiq’s room to manoeuver and ensures that Alpiq is 

more resilient to market developments.

Furthermore, the accounting treatment in accordance with IFRS of energy price hedges leads to earnings being shifted to 

future periods (accounting mismatch). While the accounting mismatch has reduced in the second half of 2022 there is still 

a significant positive effect expected on the results in subsequent financial years stemming both from 2021 and 2022.

In order to allow transparent presentation and demarcation of the exceptional items, the consolidated income statement 

is presented as a pro forma statement. The commentary on the financial performance relates to an operational EBITDA 

before exceptional items view. The categories of exceptional items are detailed in the “Alternative performance measures 

of Alpiq” section.

Alpiq Group: results of operations (before exceptional items)

In the 2022 financial year, the Alpiq Group generated net revenues before exceptional items of CHF 14.9 billion (up 

CHF 7.2 billion on the previous year) and an EBITDA before exceptional items of CHF 473 million (up CHF 161 million). The 

Swiss power production contributed a stable result despite lower inflows into the reservoirs. International power 

generation and energy trading surpassed the previous year's result, benefiting from high market volatility and the rise in 

energy prices.
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Consolidated income statement (pro forma statement before and after exceptional items)

  2022 2021

CHF million

Results of 

operations 

before excep-

tional items

Exceptional 

items

Results 

under IFRS  

Results of 

operations 

before excep-

tional items 

(adjusted)1  

Exceptional 

items 

(adjusted)1

Results 

under IFRS

Net revenue 14,861 – 230 14,631 7,705 – 528 7,177

Own work capitalised and change in costs 

incurred to fulfil a contract 7 7 4 4

Other operating income 31 31 77 77

Total revenue and other income 14,899 – 230 14,669 7,786 – 528 7,258

Energy and inventory costs – 14,076 103 – 13,973 – 7,161 139 – 7,022

Employee costs – 240 – 240 – 221 – 221

Other operating expenses – 110 – 110 – 92 – 92

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 

and amortisation (EBITDA) 473 – 127 346 312 – 389 – 77

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 2     – 97     – 126

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)     249     – 203

Share of results of partner power plants and 

other associates     – 59     – 35

Finance costs     – 81     – 73

Finance income     7     12

Earnings before tax     116     – 299

Income tax (expense) / income     – 5     28

Net income / (loss)     111 – 271

1 The previous year figures have been adjusted to reflect the reduced number of categories of exceptional items.

2 In 2022, including reversals of impairment losses

Switzerland business division

At CHF 3 million, EBITDA of Swiss power production was slightly down CHF 4 million on the previous year, with the 

previous-year including the subsequent price adjustment of CHF 10 million from Swissgrid for the sale of the Swiss high-

voltage grid. The results from hydropower were impacted by lower inflows on account of less precipitation. The increased 

energy prices also resulted in a lower market premium. Thanks to increased power production and tight cost 

management, the area of Swiss nuclear power closed at a higher level than that of the previous year. In a year-on-year 

comparison, production volumes were largely higher, namely due to the maintenance work performed at the Leibstadt 

nuclear power plant in 2021. The EBITDA contribution from the new renewable energies in Switzerland was in line with 

previous year. With its climate-friendly power production in Switzerland, Alpiq is contributing to a better climate and 

strengthening the security of supply.

International business division

At CHF 134 million, EBITDA of international power production and sales & origination activities was up year-on-year by 

CHF 151 million. The gas-fired power plants in Italy, Hungary and Spain continued to contribute to security of supply. 

Thanks to their flexibility and high availability, these power plants generated strong results. The generation of 

renewables delivered strong profitability due to high availability and higher power prices.
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The sales & origination activities contributed to value creation despite turbulent market conditions. The counterparty 

credit risk was actively managed by implementing a tighter credit risk strategy. Particularly on the French and German 

market Alpiq performed well and exceeded the previous year results. The energy market conditions resulted in a 

continued high credit risk environment. The negative impact of credit events substantially reduced in 2022, due to 

changes in the business strategy.

Trading business division

At CHF 387 million, EBITDA of energy trading was up by CHF 49 million compared to the already very good previous year. 

On one hand, the high availability and flexibility of the Swiss and International assets have contributed significantly to 

the exceptional trading result. On the other hand, Alpiq took excellent advantage of the opportunities such a volatile 

market environment provides and improved earnings both from trading of its own production as well as from other 

trading activities.

Alternative performance measures of Alpiq

To measure and present its operating performance, Alpiq also uses alternative performance measures through to the 

level of “Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)”. Alpiq makes adjustments to the IFRS 

results for exceptional items which Alpiq does not consider part of results of operations.

These performance measures do not have a standardised definition in IFRS. This can therefore limit comparability with 

such measures as defined by other companies. These performance measures are presented in a pro forma statement in 

order to give investors a deeper understanding of how Alpiq’s management measures the performance of the Group. 

However, they are no substitute for IFRS performance measures. Starting from 1 January 2022, Alpiq no longer presents 

any exceptional items from the categories “Effects from business disposals” or “Restructuring costs and litigation” in its 

internal or external reporting in order to simplify reporting. The previous year figures have been adjusted for comparative 

purposes, causing exceptional items to decrease by CHF 10 million. Accordingly, EBITDA before exceptional items for 2021 

increased by CHF 10 million. Alpiq still does not use any alternative performance measures in the balance sheet and 

statement of cash flows.

Overview of exceptional items

 

Fair value

changes

(accounting

mismatch)

Development of

decommissioning

and waste

disposal funds

Onerous

contracts

Total

exceptional

items

CHF million 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Net revenue – 250 – 521 20 – 7 – 230 – 528

Total revenue and other income – 250 – 521 20 – 7 – 230 – 528

Energy and inventory costs     – 296 101 399 38 103 139

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 

amortisation (EBITDA) – 250 – 521 – 276 94 399 38 – 127 – 389
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Alpiq has defined the following categories of exceptional items:

Fair value changes (accounting mismatch)

Negative fair value changes of energy derivatives entered into to hedge future power production as well as energy 

procurement and energy delivery contracts do not reflect operating performance because they are economically linked 

with the changes in value of the hedged transactions. Rising forward prices cause the future production volumes and 

power purchase agreements to increase in value and the corresponding hedges to lose value. According to IFRS 

accounting policies, the fair value changes of financial hedges between the last and the current balance sheet date have 

to be recognised in the reporting year. As the future production volumes and the power purchase agreements are not 

measured at fair value and positive changes in value therefore cannot be recognised in the reporting year, this results in 

an accounting mismatch.

Accounting mismatch and expected reversals (based on energy prices as of 31 December 2022)

CHF million  

Accounting mismatch until 31 December 2021 – 475

Change in accounting mismatch in 2022 – 250

Total accounting mismatch at 31 December 2022 – 725

Of which, will be reversed in 2023 380

Of which, will be reversed in 2024 293

Of which, will be reversed in 2025 50

Of which, will be reversed after 2025 2

Development of decommissioning and waste disposal funds

The operating companies of Switzerland’s nuclear power plants are required to make payments into the 

decommissioning fund and the waste disposal fund to ensure that decommissioning and waste disposal activities are 

funded. The investments of these two funds are exposed to market fluctuations and changes in estimates, which cannot 

be influenced by Alpiq but which do influence electricity procurement costs. The difference between the return actually 

generated by the funds and the return budgeted by the nuclear power plants of 2.75 % is classified and recorded as an 

exceptional item.

Onerous contracts

Effects in connection with the future procurement of energy from the Nant de Drance pumped storage power plant (until 

June 2022) and an onerous contract abroad (until June 2021) relate to effects that are attributable to changes in 

expectations regarding future developments. Management therefore does not take these into account in the assessment 

of Alpiq’s operating performance. No onerous contracts are stated as exceptional items after July 2022.

Consolidated balance sheet and cash flow statement (after exceptional items)

Total assets amounted to CHF 14.7 billion at the 31 December 2022 reporting date, compared to CHF 13.6 billion at the end 

of 2021. Non-current assets of CHF 4.2 billion decreased by CHF 219 million, thereof CHF 118 million came from a decline in 

investments in partner power plants and other associates. Additionally, the sharp increase in the discount rate triggered 

an asset ceiling for pension assets, which meant that the net defined benefit assets of CHF 80 million reported in the 

previous year had to be derecognized. Thereof CHF 61 million was booked through other comprehensive income.
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Current assets rose by CHF 1.4 billion to CHF 10.5 billion at 31 December 2022. As a consequence of the increased energy 

prices during 2022 trade and other receivables were CHF 1 billion higher than in the previous year. Cash and cash 

equivalents also increased by CHF 0.6 billion, partially due to a reduction of financial security deposits for trading, leaving 

Alpiq in a solid financial position.

Equity stood at CHF 3.5 billion at 31 December 2022, CHF 29 million below the previous year. Total comprehensive income, 

which consists of net income of CHF 111 million and other comprehensive income of CHF -108 million, amounted to CHF 

3 million. The decrease in equity corresponds therefore almost entirely to the interest payment to the hybrid capital 

investors. The equity ratio decreased from 26.2 % to 24.0 %.

Financial liabilities increased by CHF 28 million to CHF 1.6 billion at 31 December 2022. Overall, the current financial 

liabilities decreased by CHF 420 million while the non-current financial liabilities increased by CHF 448 million. The main 

reason for this were new bonds issued in order to replace a bond and loans that fell due in the first half of 2022. The net 

debt could be significantly reduced from CHF 675 million to CHF 107 million. The gearing ratio (net debt / EBITDA before 

exceptional items) fell from 2.2 at 31 December 2021 to 0.2 at 31 December 2022. Compared to 31 December 2021, non-

current liabilities increased by CHF 47 million to CHF 1.5 billion and current liabilities by CHF 1.1 billion to CHF 9.7 billion. 

The increase in non-current bonds were partially offset by the decrease in provisions for onerous contracts. The main 

reason for this increase were the high energy prices, which led to trade payables being 1.5 billion higher than in the 

previous year.

The positive earnings before taxes of CHF 116 million as well as the reduction of financial security deposits led to a 

positive net cash flow from operating activities of CHF 734 million (last year CHF -298 million). This improvement is driven 

by lower financial security deposits and better earnings before taxes. Net cash flows from investing activities decreased 

on the previous year, mainly driven by significant term deposits and securities, which were liquidated in 2021. Net cash 

flows from financing activities amounted to CHF -41 million and were down on the previous year by CHF 293 million. 

Proceeds from and repayments of financial liabilities resulted in a net cash inflow of CHF 365 million in the previous year, 

while this year the net cash inflow from change in financial liabilities amounted to CHF 32 million. In the previous year, a 

dividend of CHF 46 million was distributed to shareholders. Overall increase in cash and cash equivalents amounted to 

CHF 624 million and thus nearly doubled from CHF 863 million in 2021 to CHF 1’474 million.

Outlook

Volatility in the market in which Alpiq operates is expected to continue. The measures taken during the energy crisis have 

left Alpiq financially and operationally well equipped and more resilient against future market disruptions. For 2023, 

Alpiq expects further positive developments in the operative performance of the Group. The IFRS result continues to be 

subjected to market developments both with regards to the development of the decommissioning and waste disposal 

fund and the fair value changes (accounting mismatch).



Alpiq Annual Report 2022   47

Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Alpiq Group
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Consolidated Income Statement
CHF million Note 2022 2021

Net revenue 2.2 14,631 7,177

Own work capitalised and change in costs incurred to fulfil a contract   7 4

Other operating income 2.3 31 77

Total revenue and other income 14,669 7,258

Energy and inventory costs 2.4 – 13,973 – 7,022

Employee costs 2.5 – 240 – 221

Other operating expenses   – 110 – 92

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)   346 – 77

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 1 4.1 / 4.2 – 97 – 126

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)   249 – 203

Share of results of partner power plants and other associates 4.3 – 59 – 35

Finance costs 2.6 – 81 – 73

Finance income 2.6 7 12

Earnings before tax   116 – 299

Income tax (expense) / income 2.7 – 5 28

Earnings after tax from continuing operations   111 – 271

Earnings after tax from discontinued operations 5.1 0 0

Net income / (loss)   111 – 271

Attributable to non-controlling interests 2 1

Attributable to equity investors of Alpiq Holding Ltd. 109 – 272

Earnings per share from continuing operations in CHF, basic and diluted 2.8 2.42 – 9.10

Earnings per share from discontinued operations in CHF, basic and diluted 2.8 – 0.01 0.00

Earnings per share in CHF, basic and diluted 2.8 2.41 – 9.10

1 In 2022, including reversals of impairment losses
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Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

CHF million 2022 2021

Net income / (loss) 111 – 271

     

Cash flow hedges (group companies) 9 16

Income tax effect – 2 – 3

Net of income tax 7 13

Currency translation differences – 32 – 32

Net of income tax – 32 – 32

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement, net of tax – 25 – 19

 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans (group companies) – 50 115

Income tax effect 8 – 18

Net of income tax – 42 97

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans (partner power plants and other associates) – 48 79

Income tax effect 7 – 12

Net of income tax – 41 67

Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement, net of tax – 83 164

 

Other comprehensive income – 108 145

 

Total comprehensive income 3 – 126

Attributable to non-controlling interests 1 2

Attributable to equity investors of Alpiq Holding Ltd. 2 – 128

Of which, total comprehensive income from continuing operations 2 – 128

Of which, total comprehensive income from discontinued operations 0 0
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
Assets

CHF million Note 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Property, plant and equipment 4.1 1,782 1,859

Intangible assets 4.2 80 92

Investments in partner power plants and other associates 4.3 2,183 2,301

Defined benefit assets 6.3   80

Other non-current assets 3.3 25 23

Deferred income tax assets 2.7 143 77

Non-current assets 4,213 4,432

Inventories 4.4 51 33

Derivative financial instruments 4,702 5,098

Receivables and other current assets 4.5 3,881 2,782

Prepayments and accrued income 290 314

Current term deposits 7 35

Cash and cash equivalents 4.6 1,474 863

Assets held for sale 5.2 83  

Current assets 10,488 9,125

Total assets 14,701 13,557
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Equity and liabilities

CHF million Note 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Share capital 1 3.6 0 0

Share premium   4,904 4,904

Hybrid capital 3.6 650 650

Retained earnings and other reserves – 2,099 – 2,072

Equity attributable to equity investors of Alpiq Holding Ltd. 3,455 3,482

Non-controlling interests   74 76

Total equity 3,529 3,558

Non-current provisions 4.7 86 490

Deferred income tax liabilities 2.7 333 321

Defined benefit liabilities 6.3 2 3

Non-current financial liabilities 3.4 1,075 627

Other non-current liabilities     8

Non-current liabilities   1,496 1,449

Current income tax liabilities   40 47

Current provisions 4.7 17 129

Current financial liabilities 3.4 526 946

Other current liabilities 4.9 3,153 1,723

Derivative financial instruments 5,130 5,343

Accruals and deferred income 800 362

Liabilities held for sale 5.2 10  

Current liabilities 9,676 8,550

Total liabilities 11,172 9,999

Total equity and liabilities 14,701 13,557

1 The share capital is at CHF 0.331 million.
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Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Equity

CHF million

Share

capital

Share

premium

Hybrid

capital

Cash flow

hedge 

reserves

Currency

translation

differences

Retained

earnings

Attributable 

to equity

investors

of Alpiq 

Holding 

Ltd.

Non-

controlling

interests

Total

equity

Equity at 1 January 2022 0.3 4,904.4 650.0 21.8 – 774.5 – 1,319.8 3,482.2 75.7 3,557.9

Net income for the period           109.2 109.2 1.9 111.1

Other comprehensive income       7.2 – 31.6 – 82.5 – 106.9 – 0.9 – 107.8

Total comprehensive income       7.2 – 31.6 26.7 2.3 1.0 3.3

Dividends             0.0 – 2.6 – 2.6

Distributions to hybrid investors           – 29.5 – 29.5   – 29.5

Equity at 31 December 2022 0.3 4,904.4 650.0 29.0 – 806.1 – 1,322.6 3,455.0 74.1 3,529.1

CHF million

Share

capital

Share

premium

Hybrid

capital

Cash flow

hedge 

reserves

Currency

translation

differences

Retained

earnings

Attributable 

to equity

investors

of Alpiq 

Holding 

Ltd.

Non-

controlling

interests

Total

equity

Equity at 1 January 2021 0.3 4,904.4 650.0 8.4 – 742.9 – 1,134.2 3,686.0 75.5 3,761.5

Net loss for the period           – 271.9 – 271.9 1.1 – 270.8

Other comprehensive income       13.4 – 31.6 162.2 144.0 0.4 144.4

Total comprehensive income       13.4 – 31.6 – 109.7 – 127.9 1.5 – 126.4

Dividends           – 46.4 – 46.4 – 1.3 – 47.7

Distributions to hybrid investors           – 29.5 – 29.5   – 29.5

Equity at 31 December 2021 0.3 4,904.4 650.0 21.8 – 774.5 – 1,319.8 3,482.2 75.7 3,557.9
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Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows

CHF million Note 2022 2021

Earnings before tax from continuing operations 116 – 299

Adjustments for:  

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 1 4.1 / 4.2 97 126

Gain on sale of non-current assets – 1 – 3

Share of results of partner power plants and other associates 4.3 59 35

Financial result 2.6 74 61

Other non-cash income and expenses 18 73

Change in provisions (excl. interest) 4.7 – 505 63

Change in defined benefit assets / liabilities and other non-current liabilities   30 8

Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments and hedged firm commitments   226 442

Change in net working capital (excl. derivatives, 

current financial assets / liabilities and current provisions) 690 – 744

Other financial income and expenses – 12 – 24

Income tax paid – 58 – 36

Net cash flows from operating activities of continuing operations   734 – 298

Net cash flows from operating activities of discontinued operations    

Net cash flows from operating activities 734 – 298

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets    

Investments 4.1 / 4.2 – 82 – 66

Proceeds from disposals 1 3

Subsidiaries    

Proceeds from disposals 5.1 34 20

Associates    

Investments 4.3 – 24 – 5

Proceeds from disposals   – 3

Loans receivable and financial investments      

Investments 3.3 – 3 – 10

Proceeds from disposals / repayments   1  

Change in current and non-current term deposits 4 587

Investments in / proceeds from disposals of securities   27

Dividends from partner power plants, other associates and financial investments 4.3 23 24

Interest received   10 12

Net cash flows from investing activities of continuing operations   – 36 589

Net cash flows from investing activities of discontinued operations 5.1 – 1

Net cash flows from investing activities   – 36 588

1 In 2022, including reversals of impairment losses



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Consolidated Financial Statements 54

CHF million Note 2022 2021

Dividends paid   – 46

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests   – 1 – 2

Proceeds from financial liabilities 3.4 2,709 895

Repayment of financial liabilities 3.4 – 2,677 – 530

Distributions to hybrid investors recognised in equity outside profit or loss 3.6 – 29 – 29

Interest paid   – 43 – 36

Net cash flows from financing activities of continuing operations   – 41 252

Net cash flows from financing activities of discontinued operations  

Net cash flows from financing activities   – 41 252

Currency translation differences   – 33 – 19

Change in cash and cash equivalents   624 523

Reconciliation:      

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 4.6 863 340

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 4.6 1,487 863

Of which, cash and cash equivalents   1,474 863

Of which, cash and cash equivalents under assets held for sale 5.2 13

Change   624 523
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Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

1 Overview

Alpiq Holding Ltd. is a stock corporation under Swiss law and domiciled in Lausanne. The company and its Swiss and 

foreign subsidiaries collectively form the Alpiq Group.

1.1 Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Alpiq Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Interpretations (IFRIC and SIC) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB), and comply with Swiss law. The consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 

position, financial performance and cash flows of the Alpiq Group. They have been prepared on a historical cost basis, 

except for certain items such as financial instruments, which have been measured at fair value in some instances. The 

consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of Alpiq Holding Ltd. at 22 February 

2023 and are subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting at 26 April 2023.

1.2 Adoption of new and revised accounting standards

Amendments, standards and interpretations adopted for the first time in 2022

At 1 January 2022, the following amendments to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) entered into force 

and were applied by the Alpiq Group:

– Amendments to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

– Amendments to IFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework 

– Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 – 2020

In 2021, Alpiq early adopted the amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use.

These amendments and improvements had no significant impact on the Alpiq Group.
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IFRS effective in future periods

The IASB has published the following standards and interpretations of relevance for Alpiq:

Standard / interpretation Effective at

Adoption

planned from

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 Jan 2023 1 Jan 2023

Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 Jan 2023 1 Jan 2023

Amendments to IAS 12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 1 Jan 2023 1 Jan 2023

Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2: Making Materiality Judgements 1 Jan 2023 1 Jan 2023

IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts 1 Jan 2023 1 Jan 2023

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 1 Jan 2024 1 Jan 2024

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale of Assets by an Investor or Contribution to their Associate or Joint 

Venture undefined undefined

Based on our analyses, Alpiq does not expect the aforementioned changes in standards to have any significant effect on 

the consolidated financial statements of the Alpiq Group.

1.3 Significant estimation uncertainties and judgements 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the management to exercise judgement and make 

estimates and assumptions. These can significantly affect recognised assets and liabilities, reported income and 

expenses and disclosures. Estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and expectations of future 

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates. Any 

revisions to estimates and assumptions are recognised and disclosed in the period in which they are identified.

The explanations on significant estimation uncertainties and judgements are highlighted in colour. They are 

contained in notes , , , , 

, , , ,  and 

.

2.2 Net revenue 2.7 Income tax 3.2 Financial instruments 3.5 Leases 4.1 Property, plant and 

equipment 4.2 Intangible assets 4.7 Provisions 4.8 Contingent liabilities and guarantees 5.1 Companies sold

6.3 Employee benefits

2 Performance

2.1 Segment information

The segment reporting of the Alpiq Group is based on the Group’s internal organisational and management structure and 

the internal financial information reported to the chief operating decision maker. The reportable segments under IFRS 8 

consist of the three business divisions Switzerland, International and Trading (formerly Digital & Commerce (D&C)). The 

Executive Board evaluates each of these separately for the purpose of assessing performance and allocating resources. 

Segment results (EBITDA and EBITDA before exceptional items) are the key performance indicators used for internal 

management and assessment purposes at Alpiq. Besides energy procurement and production costs, operating costs 

comprise all costs of operations, including personnel and service expenses. No operating business segments have been 

aggregated in the presentation of reportable segments. The financial steering process within Alpiq that is to be set up 

along the value chain sourcing, trading, and supply will be implemented for the annual report 2023.
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The internal organisational and management structure was adjusted in 2022. As a result, the international sales & 

origination business units were moved from Trading to International, the Swiss sales & origination business unit from 

Trading to Switzerland, the Swiss RES business units from International to Switzerland and a part of the support 

functions D&C Technology and Operations from Trading to the division Group Centre & other companies. Furthermore, 

the number of categories of exceptional items for reconciling the IFRS results to the alternative performance measures 

has been reduced to simplify the internal reporting. For more information, please refer to the explanations in the 

unaudited “Alternative performance measures of Alpiq” section of the . Previous year segment reporting 

for 2021 has been adjusted for comparability. As a result, the Alpiq Group’s EBITDA before exceptional items for 2021 

increased by CHF 10 million from CHF 302 million to CHF 312 million. On business division level, this means an increase of 

CHF 23 million for Switzerland, a decrease of CHF 97 million for International, an increase of CHF 80 million for Trading 

and an increase of CHF 4 million for Group Centre. EBITDA (IFRS) increased by CHF 13 million for Switzerland, decreased by 

CHF 238 million for International, increased by CHF 222 million for Trading and increased by CHF 3 million Group Centre. 

Financial Review

– The Switzerland business division comprises the production of electricity from Swiss hydropower, nuclear power, 

wind power and industrial photovoltaic plants as well as the operation of power plants and the development of 

several wind farm projects in Switzerland. The power plant portfolio includes run-of-river power plants, storage and 

pumped storage power plants (including Nant de Drance) as well as interests in the Gösgen and Leibstadt nuclear 

power plants. The Swiss sales and origination business, which does not include the asset optimization, is also part of 

the division. Moreover, the business division manages shares in HYDRO Exploitation SA and Kernkraftwerk-

Beteiligungsgesellschaft AG (KBG).

– The International business division comprises power production of wind power plants, small-scale hydropower 

plants and industrial photovoltaic plants, the operation of power plants and the development of several wind farm 

projects located outside of Switzerland. The business division also covers the production of electricity and heat in 

thermal power plants in Hungary, Italy and Spain. The power plant portfolio is made up of gas-fired combined-cycle 

power plants and gas-fired turbine power plants. Power is sold on the European electricity trading market via the 

Trading business division or via third parties. The power plants are used by the respective grid operators to balance 

the grids. In addition, International includes direct marketing and energy management for industrial and business 

customers to help these meet their cost efficiency and sustainability goals always with a view to increasing customer 

benefits and creating value.

– The Trading business division comprises the optimisation of Alpiq’s own power plants as well as the optimisation of 

decentralised generation units and the production of electricity from third parties’ renewable energies. It also covers 

trading activities with standardised and structured products for electricity and gas as well as emission allowances 

and certificates.

The business divisions’ results are carried over to the Alpiq Group’s consolidated figures by including the units with 

limited market operations (Group Centre & other companies), Group consolidation effects as well as other reconciliation 

items presented in a separate column. This comprises shifts of CHF 13 million (previous year: CHF 14 million) between 

external net revenue and other income due to the difference in account structures between internal and external 

reporting. This column also contains foreign currency effects from using other average exchange rates in management 

reporting than pursuant to IFRS. Group Centre & other companies includes the financial and non-strategic investments 

which cannot be allocated directly to the business divisions as well as hedging of foreign exchange rates and other 

activities of the Group headquarters including Alpiq Holding Ltd. and the functional units.
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2022: Information by business division

CHF million Switzerland

Interna-

tional Trading

Group 

Centre

& other

companies

Consoli-

dation

Reconcili-

ation

Alpiq

Group

Net revenue from third parties – 236 7,729 7,058 26   60 14,637

Inter-segment transactions 1 957 690 1,828 – 15 – 3,446 – 20 – 6

Net revenue 721 8,419 8,886 11 – 3,446 40 14,631

Exceptional items 2 98 192 – 68     8 230

Net revenue before exceptional items 819 8,611 8,818 11 – 3,446 48 14,861

Other income 30 34 – 22 25 – 16 – 13 38

Total revenue and other income 751 8,453 8,864 36 – 3,462 27 14,669

Total revenue and other income before exceptional items 849 8,645 8,796 36 – 3,462 35 14,899

               

Total operating costs – 743 – 8,511 – 8,409 – 89 3,462 – 33 – 14,323

Exceptional items 2 – 103           – 103

Total operating costs before exceptional items – 846 – 8,511 – 8,409 – 89 3,462 – 33 – 14,426

               

EBITDA 8 – 58 455 – 53 0 – 6 346

Exceptional items 2 – 5 192 – 68 8 127

EBITDA before exceptional items 3 134 387 – 53 0 2 473

               

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 3 – 64 – 18   – 15     – 97

EBIT – 56 – 76 455 – 68 0 – 6 249

               

Number of employees at 31 December 167 373 144 496     1,180

Property, plant and equipment 1,414 276   92     1,782

Intangible assets 43 15 1 21     80

Investments in partner power plants

and other associates 2,176 4   3     2,183

Non-current assets 3,633 295 1 116 0 0 4,045

Net capital expenditure

on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 42 31   8     81

1 The net effect of CHF – 6 million results from currency effects on intragroup energy transactions.

2 Includes effects from fair value changes of energy derivatives that were entered into in connection with hedges for future power production, 

from the performance of the fund shares for the decommissioning and waste disposal of Kernkraftwerk Gösgen-Däniken AG and Kernkraftwerk 

Leibstadt AG, as well as from onerous contracts. For more information, please refer to the unaudited explanations in the “Alternative 

performance measures of Alpiq” section of the Financial Review.

3 Including reversals of impairment losses
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2021: Information by business division (adjusted)

CHF million Switzerland

Interna-

tional Trading

Group 

Centre

& other

companies

Consoli-

dation

Reconcili-

ation

Alpiq

Group

Net revenue from third parties – 359 4,021 3,458 33   36 7,189

Inter-segment transactions 1 919 62 731 – 29 – 1,696 1 – 12

Net revenue 560 4,083 4,189 4 – 1,696 37 7,177

Exceptional items 2 109 141 276     2 528

Net revenue before exceptional items 669 4,224 4,465 4 – 1,696 39 7,705

Other income 65 21   24 – 15 – 14 81

Total revenue and other income 625 4,104 4,189 28 – 1,711 23 7,258

Total revenue and other income before exceptional items 734 4,245 4,465 28 – 1,711 25 7,786

               

Total operating costs – 595 – 4,262 – 4,119 – 53 1,711 – 17 – 7,335

Exceptional items 2 – 132   – 8     1 – 139

Total operating costs before exceptional items – 727 – 4,262 – 4,127 – 53 1,711 – 16 – 7,474

               

EBITDA 30 – 158 70 – 25 0 6 – 77

Exceptional items 2 – 23 141 268 3 389

EBITDA before exceptional items 7 – 17 338 – 25 0 9 312

               

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment – 63 – 49 – 3 – 11     – 126

EBIT – 33 – 207 67 – 36 0 6 – 203

               

Number of employees at 31 December 164 398 154 550     1,266

Property, plant and equipment 1,435 329   95     1,859

Intangible assets 47 20 1 24     92

Investments in partner power plants

and other associates 2,294 4   3     2,301

Non-current assets 3,776 353 1 122 0 0 4,252

Net capital expenditure

on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 22 35   5     62

1 The net effect of CHF – 12 million results from currency effects on intragroup energy transactions.

2 Includes effects from fair value changes of energy derivatives that were entered into in connection with hedges for future power production, 

from the performance of the fund shares for the decommissioning and waste disposal of Kernkraftwerk Gösgen-Däniken AG and Kernkraftwerk 

Leibstadt AG, as well as from onerous contracts. For more information, please refer to the unaudited explanations in the “Alternative 

performance measures of Alpiq” section of the Financial Review.
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2022: Information by geographical area

CHF million Switzerland Germany France Italy Hungary

United 

Kingdom Luxembourg

Czech 

Republic

Other 

countries

Alpiq

Group

   Net revenue 1 / 2

from third parties 1,342 2,147 4,011 4,271 808 – 1,886 2,638 – 764 2,070 14,637

Property, plant

and equipment 1,395 1 117 210 25     1 33 1,782

Intangible assets 64   9 7           80

Investments in 

partner power plants

and other associates 2,179               4 2,183

Non-current assets 3,638 1 126 217 25 0 0 1 37 4,045

1 The difference to net revenue in the income statement results from currency effects on intragroup energy transactions of CHF – 6 million.

2 Negative net revenue is attributable to the change in the fair value measurement of energy derivatives, which are presented in net revenue (see 

note 2.2).

2021: Information by geographical area

CHF million Switzerland Germany France Italy Hungary

United 

Kingdom Luxembourg

Czech 

Republic

Other 

countries

Alpiq

Group

   Net revenue 1 / 2

from third parties 1,602 – 895 2,109 1,627 327 440 148 – 100 1,931 7,189

Property, plant

and equipment 1,417   114 232 27     1 68 1,859

Intangible assets 71   10 7         4 92

Investments in 

partner power plants

and other associates 2,297               4 2,301

Non-current assets 3,785 0 124 239 27 0 0 1 76 4,252

1 The difference to net revenue in the income statement results from currency effects on intragroup energy transactions of CHF – 12 million.

2 Negative net revenue is attributable to the change in the fair value measurement of energy derivatives, which are presented in net revenue (see 

note 2.2).

Net revenue from external customers by country is allocated based on the customer’s country of domicile. Those 

countries in which Alpiq generated the most net revenue in the reporting period are presented separately in this segment 

information. There were no transactions with any single external customers that amounted to 10 % or more of the 

consolidated net revenue of the Alpiq Group. Non-current assets consist of property, plant and equipment (including 

right-of-use assets), intangible assets and investments in the respective countries.

2.2 Net revenue

The Alpiq Group’s net revenue comprises revenue from contracts with customers (IFRS 15) and income from energy and 

financial derivatives (IFRS 9).

The internal organisational and management structure was adjusted in 2022, see . The disaggregation of net 

revenue for 2021 has been adjusted for comparability.

note 2.1



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Consolidated Financial Statements 61

2022: Disaggregation of net revenue

CHF million Switzerland International Trading

Group Centre

& other

companies Total

Revenue from energy and grid services 173 8,380 6,809   15,362

Revenue from other services 13       13

Total revenue from contracts with customers 186 8,380 6,809 0 15,375

(Loss) / income from energy and financial derivatives – 409 – 616 261 26 – 738

Net revenue from third parties 1 – 223 7,764 7,070 26 14,637

1 The difference to net revenue in the income statement results from currency effects on intragroup energy transactions of CHF – 6 million.

2021: Disaggregation of net revenue (adjusted)

CHF million Switzerland International Trading

Group Centre

& other

companies Total

Revenue from energy and grid services 143 4,013 2,999   7,155

Revenue from digital energy services and e-mobility 1   4   5

Revenue from other services 14       14

Total revenue from contracts with customers 158 4,013 3,003 0 7,174

(Loss) / income from energy and financial derivatives – 503 22 463 33 15

Net revenue from third parties 1 – 345 4,035 3,466 33 7,189

1 The difference to net revenue in the income statement results from currency effects on intragroup energy transactions of CHF – 12 million.

Accounting policies

Alpiq generally satisfies its performance obligations as principal. However, for performance obligations in connection 

with the transmission of energy, Alpiq acts as agent in all represented markets. Where Alpiq acts as agent, revenue is 

recognised net of the corresponding costs.

Revenue from energy and grid services

Revenue from energy supply from contracts with customers (“own use exception” pursuant to IFRS 9) is generally 

recognised over the period agreed for completion of performance. However, for energy supplies, Alpiq has a right to 

consideration that directly corresponds to the value to the customer of the energy already supplied. For such cases, Alpiq 

exercises the practical expedient and recognises revenue in the amount that can be billed. In some contracts, Alpiq sells 

the proportionate right in energy production of a power plant. Revenue from these contracts is recognised over the 

period that corresponds to the timing of the costs.

Revenue from stand-ready obligations to deliver ancillary services is recognised on a straight-line basis over the period in 

which Alpiq is available to render these services. Revenue for called ancillary services is recognised when it is delivered.

Contractual penalties – for example, for deviations between the delivered and contractually agreed-upon quantity of 

energy – represent variable components in energy sales. Only when they become highly probable they are included 

in the estimation of the transaction price. This is normally the case towards the end of the delivery period. 

Estimating the point in time when such variable price components are recognised requires significant judgement.
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Revenue from other services

Revenue from other services from contracts with customers is recognised, on the one hand, over the time period over 

which the performance obligation is satisfied on a straight-line basis. On the other hand, Alpiq applies the following 

practical expedient: if Alpiq has a right to consideration that directly corresponds to the value to the customer, then 

revenue is recognised in the amount that can be billed.

Practical expedients applied regarding revenue from contracts with customers

Alpiq exercises the practical expedient provided in IFRS 15 and, wherever possible, opts not to disclose the remaining 

performance obligations at the end of the reporting period. After applying this practical expedient, the remaining 

performance obligations disclosed by Alpiq at the end of the reporting period are not significant.

Alpiq applies the practical expedient and does not capitalise incremental costs of obtaining a customer contract, as far as 

these costs would be amortised within one year. Due to the application of this practical expedient, Alpiq did not disclose 

any significant costs of this type.

Income from energy and financial derivatives

Energy and financial derivatives are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in value in energy derivatives 

are disclosed in net revenue in the period in which they occur. Revenue from trading in energy and financial derivatives 

comprises realised net gains and losses from settled contracts and unrealised changes in the fair value of unsettled 

contracts. For more information on measurement, please refer to  .note 3.2

2.3 Other operating income

Other operating income includes income from government grants such as the market premium for large-scale 

hydropower plants in Switzerland. This item also includes income from operating leases as well as income that does not 

arise in the course of ordinary activities of the Alpiq Group. The latter is therefore generally not of a predictable or 

recurring nature. It includes gains from sales of non-current assets or business disposals, insurance claims received and 

payments received from litigations.

CHF million 2022 2021

Market premiums 11 32

Gain from disposal of companies 1 1 12

Gain on sale of non-current assets 1 3

Income from operating leases 2 2

Miscellaneous 16 28

Other operating income 31 77

1 See note 5.1

Market premium for large-scale hydropower plants in Switzerland

In accordance with the Energy Act (EnA), operators of large-scale hydropower plants in Switzerland with a mean 

mechanical gross output of more than 10 MW that sell their energy on the market at prices below production cost are 

eligible to receive a market premium. If the risk of uncovered production costs is not borne by the operators of the 

hydropower plants, but instead by the owners or electricity suppliers as a result of purchase agreements for the 

electricity, then the latter are eligible for the market premium. The Energy Act prescribed a time limit until 2022 for the 
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market premium model. In November 2020, the Swiss Federal Council made the decision to combine the revisions of the 

Energy Act and the Electricity Supply Act in an omnibus bill entitled “Federal Act on a Secure Electricity Supply from 

Renewable Energy Sources”. The Council of States commenced consultation on the omnibus bill in the 2022 session. In the 

2021 autumn session, both councils had already approved a parliamentary initiative, which presented a transitional 

solution for the promotion of renewable energies (wind turbines as well as biogas, geothermal and photovoltaic plants) 

from 2023 onwards. This initiative is limited until the end of 2030 and includes the following measures: continuation of 

subsidies for investments in renewable energies and the market premium until 2030, indefinite extension of the 

possibility to deliver renewable energies to the basic supply at cost price and an extension of the current maximum water 

usage levy until 2030.

In order to assert a claim for a market premium in a given year, the applicant must submit the entire application 

documentation by 31 May of that year at the latest. Should the claims of all those applicants entitled to do so exceed the 

funds available, all claims will be reduced on a straight-line basis. As a result, if demand exceeds the funds available, each 

claim for a market premium is dependent on all other claims. For this reason, the Swiss Federal Office of Energy (BFE) 

simultaneously announces the claims of all applicants by issuing an order.

As both the amount of the funds made available for the market premium and the effective entitlement to a market 

premium are still unknown upon issuing the first order, the BFE may decide to pay 100 % or 80 % of the provisional 

amount assigned by order to the applicants with the first order. For practical reasons, 20 % may be retained and only paid 

out when the second order is issued in order to avoid the time-consuming administrative process of reclaiming any 

overpayments where possible.

2022 claim

The first order for the claim for market premiums for 2022 was issued on 4 November 2022 and took legal effect on 

4 December 2022. Alpiq’s claim for the 2022 financial year amounted to CHF 2 million and was recognised in full, as the BFE 

had decided to pay out 100 % of the amount assigned as soon as the first order became legally binding. Compared to the 

previous period, the claim for market premiums was significantly lower due to higher prevailing market prices. 

2021 claim

On 17 December 2021, Alpiq received the first order for the claim for market premiums for 2021 with legal effect from the 

start of February 2022. Alpiq’s claim for the 2021 financial year amounted to CHF 40 million, of which CHF 32 million was 

recognised in the 2021 financial year, as the BFE decided in its first order to initially pay out only 80 % of the amount 

assigned. The remaining amount was recognised in 2022.

Accounting policies

The market premium for large-scale hydropower plants in Switzerland relates to government grants as defined by IAS 20. 

Government grants may not be recognised until there is reasonable assurance as to the entitlement. Alpiq deems 

reasonable assurance of the claim for a market premium in the amount of the prospective payment to be given within the 

meaning of IAS 20 as soon as the order is legally binding or Alpiq has decided to accept the order. 100 % or 80 % of the 

provisional amount assigned will be recognised at this point in time, depending on the amount of the payment. Any 

residual amount will be recognised as soon as the second order is legally binding.
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Income from operating leases

Alpiq has several operating leases that relate in particular to the rental of commercial premises that it owns. The leased 

assets are recognised in property, plant and equipment in the balance sheet and lease payments are recognised on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term. Undiscounted lease payments expected in the future amount to CHF 8 million 

(previous year: CHF 8 million).

2.4 Energy and inventory costs

CHF million 2022 2021

Electricity purchased from third parties – 9,775 – 5,054

Electricity purchased from partner power plants – 774 – 399

  Gas procurement and CO2 certificates – 3,648 – 1,348

Other energy and inventory costs – 74 – 75

Energy and inventory costs before provisions – 14,271 – 6,876

Movement in provisions for onerous contracts 298 – 146

Energy and inventory costs – 13,973 – 7,022

The item “Other energy and inventory costs” mainly comprises water taxes, concession fees and plant maintenance costs.

2.5 Employee costs

CHF million 2022 2021

Wages and salaries – 171 – 178

Defined benefit pension costs 1 – 43 – 19

Defined contribution pension costs – 1 – 1

Social security costs and other employee costs – 25 – 23

Employee costs – 240 – 221

1 For further details see note 6.3

Number of employees at the reporting date

  31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Employees (full-time equivalents) 1,169 1,254

Apprentices 11 12

Total 1,180 1,266
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2.6 Finance costs and finance income

CHF million 2022 2021

Finance costs    

Interest expense – 48 – 33

Net interest on pension plans and provisions – 11 – 21

Other finance costs 1 – 22 – 5

Net foreign exchange losses   – 14

Total – 81 – 73

     

Finance income    

Interest income 6 7

Other finance income 1 5

Total 7 12

Financial result – 74 – 61

1 Of which, an amount of CHF 6.6 million was recognised as commitment fee for the federal bailout fund.

2.7 Income tax

Income tax expense charged to the income statement

CHF million 2022 2021

Current income tax – 41 – 22

Deferred income tax 36 50

Income tax – 5 28
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Reconciliation

CHF million 2022 2021

Earnings before tax 116 – 299

Expected income tax rate (Swiss average rate) 15 % 16 %

Income tax at the expected income tax rate – 17 48

Tax effects from:    

Difference in expected income tax rate compared to locally expected income tax rates 1 – 6

Income exempt from tax 10 9

Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes – 12 – 27

Valuation from tax loss carryforwards – 3 1

Effect of changes in tax rates – 3 1

Previous years 31 7

Other effects 1 – 12 – 5

Total income tax expense – 5 28

Effective income tax rate 4 % 9 %

1 Of which, an amount of CHF 10 million (previous year: CHF 0 million) relates to an extraordinary contribution on surplus income of energy 

companies in Italy (windfall tax).

Change in deferred tax assets and liabilities

CHF million Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax 

liabilities

Net deferred tax 

liabilities

Balance at 31 December 2020 79 338 259

Deferred taxes recognised in the income statement 3 – 47 – 50

Deferred taxes recognised in other comprehensive income – 2 31 33

Currency translation differences – 3 – 1 2

Balance at 31 December 2021 77 321 244

Deferred taxes recognised in the income statement 66 30 – 36

Deferred taxes recognised in other comprehensive income – 2 – 15 – 13

Other 6   – 6

Reclassified to “Liabilities held for sale”   – 2 – 2

Currency translation differences – 4 – 1 3

Balance at 31 December 2022 143 333 190
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities by origination of temporary differences

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Tax losses and tax assets not yet used 38 109

Property, plant and equipment 22 30

Other non-current assets 12 1

Current assets 92 36

Provisions and liabilities 96 29

Total gross deferred tax assets 260 205

Property, plant and equipment 122 124

Other non-current assets 170 196

Current assets 83 80

Provisions and liabilities 75 49

Total gross deferred tax liabilities 450 449

Net deferred tax liabilities 190 244

Tax assets recognised in the balance sheet 143 77

Tax liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 333 321

At 31 December 2022, individual subsidiaries held tax loss carryforwards totalling CHF 638 million (previous year: 

CHF 1,024 million), which are available for offsetting against future taxable profits. Of these, the Alpiq Group has not 

recognised tax benefits on tax loss carryforwards of CHF 397 million (CHF 376 million) in the balance sheet item “Deferred 

tax assets”, as they are recognised for tax loss carryforwards only to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit 

is probable. The average tax rate on tax loss carryforwards not eligible for capitalisation is 17 % (17 %). These tax loss 

carryforwards expire in the following periods:

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Within 1 year 14  

Within 2 – 3 years 16 35

After 3 years 250 230

Unlimited use 117 111

Total unrecognised tax loss carryforwards 397 376

In addition, unrecognised deductible temporary differences exist in an amount of CHF 167 million (CHF 227 million).

Global minimum corporate taxation

On 22 December 2021, the European Commission proposed the enactment of a directive that ensures a minimum effective 

tax rate for the global activities of large multinational groups. The proposal delivers on the EU’s pledge to move 

extremely swiftly and be among the first to implement the recent historic global tax reform agreement, which aims to 

bring fairness, transparency and stability to the international corporate tax framework. The proposal closely follows the 

international agreement and sets out how the principles of the 15 % effective tax rate – agreed by 137 countries – will be 

applied in practice within the EU. It includes a common set of rules on how to calculate this effective tax rate, so that it is 

properly and consistently applied across the EU. As soon as the changes in the tax laws have or have essentially come into 

effect (implementation expected as of 1 January 2024), in the countries in which the Alpiq Group operates the national 
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entities may be subject to a supplemental tax. Alpiq is closely monitoring the progress of the legislative process in the 

relevant countries. At 31 December 2022, the available publications and data were not sufficient to determine a possible 

quantitative impact.

Assumptions are made based on local legal principles in calculating current income tax. Income taxes that are 

actually payable may deviate from the values originally calculated, as the definitive assessment is not finalised until 

years after the end of the reporting period in some cases. Furthermore, the definitive clarification of the taxation 

issue at the partner power plants in the canton of Grisons is still pending. The resulting risks are identified, assessed 

and recognised where necessary. Deferred tax assets are calculated in part using far-reaching estimates. The 

underlying forecasts pertain to a period of several years and comprise, among other things, a forecast of future 

taxable income as well as interpretations of the existing regulatory framework. 

Accounting policies

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred income tax. Current income tax is calculated on taxable 

earnings using the tax rates that have been enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred income tax is calculated 

using the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred taxes are recognised due to the differing recognition of certain income and expense items in the Group’s annual 

internal accounts and annual tax accounts. Deferred tax arising from temporary differences is calculated applying the 

balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax is not recognised for differences associated with investments in group 

companies, which will not reverse in the foreseeable future and where the timing of the reversal is controlled by the 

Group. Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is probable that they will be realised. 

2.8 Earnings per share

  2022 2021

Earnings after tax from continuing operations attributable to equity investors of Alpiq Holding Ltd.

(CHF million) 109 – 272

Interest on hybrid capital attributable to the period (CHF million) – 29 – 29

Share of Alpiq Holding Ltd. shareholders in earnings from continuing operations (CHF million) 80 – 301

Earnings after tax from discontinued operations attributable to equity investors of Alpiq Holding Ltd.

(CHF million) 0 0

Share of Alpiq Holding Ltd. shareholders in earnings from continuing and discontinued operations

(CHF million) 80 – 301

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 33,110,364 33,110,364

Earnings per share from continuing operations in CHF, basic and diluted 2.42 – 9.10

Earnings per share from discontinued operations in CHF, basic and diluted – 0.01 0.00

Earnings per share in CHF, basic and diluted 2.41 – 9.10

There are no circumstances that would lead to a dilution of earnings per share.
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3 Risk management, financial instruments and financing

3.1 Financial risk management

General principles

The Alpiq Group’s operating activities are exposed to strategic, operational and financial risks, in particular liquidity, 

credit and market risks (energy price risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk). The principles of the Group’s risk 

management policy are established by the Board of Directors. The Executive Board is responsible for their development 

and implementation. The Risk Management Committee monitors compliance with the principles and policies.

The principles for managing risks in the Alpiq Group are set out in the Group Risk Policy. They comprise guidelines for 

entering into, for measurement, management and mitigation of business risks and specify the organisation and 

responsibilities for risk management. The units responsible manage their risks within the framework of the risk 

management policy and the limits defined for their areas of activity. The objective is to maintain a reasonable balance 

between the business risks incurred, earnings and risk-bearing equity.

The Group Risk Policy comprises a Group-wide Business Risk Policy, an Energy Risk Policy specifically for the energy 

business and a Financial Risk Policy. The Business Risk Policy governs the annual risk mapping process, the definition and 

monitoring of the measures to reduce exposure to operational and strategic risks as well as integral security 

management. The Energy Risk Policy defines the processes and methods to manage market and credit risks in the energy 

business. It also regulates the management of liquidity fluctuations caused by trading activities on stock exchanges and 

under bilateral arrangements (Over the Counter; OTC) to settle margin differences. Furthermore, it defines the principles 

of the hedging strategy for energy production trading books. The Financial Risk Policy defines the substance, 

organisation and system for financial risk management within the Alpiq Group. It defines the management of liquidity, 

foreign currency and interest rate risks.

The Risk Management functional unit is responsible for assessing risks and reports to the CFO. The functional unit 

provides methods and tools for implementing risk management, and ensures timely reporting to the Board of Directors, 

Executive Board and the Risk Management Committee.

During the annual business risk assessment process, strategic and operational risks throughout the Group are recorded 

and assessed, and then assigned to the identified risk owners for management and monitoring. The Risk Management 

functional unit monitors the implementation of the measures. Exposure limits are set for market, credit and liquidity 

risks, which are adjusted in the context of the company’s overall risk-bearing capacity and with compliance monitored on 

an ongoing basis.

Capital management

Across the Alpiq Group, capital is managed in line with the Group’s overall financial strategy. During the budgeting and 

planning process, the Board of Directors takes note annually of the planned performance of the figures critical for capital 

management. In addition, it receives regular reports on current developments. 

Alpiq Holding Ltd. procures a significant portion of financing centrally for the Alpiq Group. The Swiss capital market 

remains the main source of financing. The aim pursued in financing the Group is that the level of financial liabilities 

contributes to a solid credit rating in line with industry standards.
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The capital management strategy is in principle focused on the Group’s reported consolidated equity and net debt to 

EBITDA ratio. Due to developments on the energy markets and the resulting increased liquidity needs Alpiq sourced 

additional non-current financing during the year amounting to CHF 450 million by means of 2 additional bonds. 

At 31 December 2022, the Group reports an equity ratio of 24.0 %, which is below the 26.2 % of the previous year due to the 

higher financing requirements, the higher energy prices driving the valuation of derivative financial instruments and the 

lower comprehensive income generated.

The net debt to EBITDA before exceptional items ratio is calculated and compares to the previous year as follows:

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Non-current financial liabilities 1,075 627

Current financial liabilities 526 946

Financial liabilities 1,601 1,573

Current term deposits 7 35

Cash and cash equivalents 1,474 863

Cash and cash equivalents under assets held for sale 13  

Financial assets (liquidity) 1,494 898

Net debt 107 675

EBITDA before exceptional items 1 473 312

Net debt / EBITDA before exceptional items 0.2 2.2

1 The previous-year figure has been adjusted to reflect the reduced number of categories of exceptional items (see note 2.1 for explanations). As a 

result, the Alpiq Group’s EBITDA before exceptional items for 2021 increased by CHF 10 million from CHF 302 million to CHF 312 million.

The Alpiq Group has the following credit lines from banks:

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Non-earmarked credit lines committed by banks and financial institutions 963 503

Of which, utilised 220 331

Of which, still available 743 172

In addition to the credit lines provided by the banks, Alpiq also has a committed credit facility from its shareholders 

amounting to CHF 300 million.

The Alpiq Group has the following covenants from finance agreements:
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          Financial covenants

Other

covenants

Agreement Maturity

In CHF 

million

Utilisation 

at

31 Dec 2022 

in CHF 

million

Utilisation 

at

31 Dec 2021 

in CHF 

million Equity ratio Equity

Net debt /

EBITDA

Bank 

rating

Syndicated loan line 1 1 expired 200   200 x   x x

Syndicated loan line 2 Feb 25 205         x x

Syndicated loan line 3 2 Mar 25 360 200     x   x

Bilateral term loan May 25 50 50     x    

Bilateral credit line May 25 50       x    

Bilateral credit line 2 indefinite 20           x

1 At the reporting date 31 December 2021, the financial covenants were suspended.

2 Can be terminated by either party within 364 days

The counterparty has a right to terminate the agreement if the covenants are breached. All covenants were met at 

31 December 2022. 

Credit risk management

Credit risk management deals with potential losses arising from business partners’ inability to meet their contractual 

obligations to the Alpiq Group.

Credit risk management in the energy business encompasses all business units and subsidiaries that transact significant 

business volumes with external counterparties. It entails regular monitoring of outstanding receivables from 

counterparties and their expected future changes, as well as an analysis of the creditworthiness of new and existing 

counterparties. Besides energy derivatives recognised as financial instruments on the balance sheet, credit risk 

management also covers physical receipt or delivery contracts. Credit risk is primarily managed by applying rating-based 

credit limits. The Alpiq Group classifies counterparties or groups of counterparties (with similar risk characteristics) in 

risk categories (AAA – CCC) based on probability of default. Once established, these ratings are applied as the basis for 

setting credit limits. Such limits may be increased if collateral (such as guarantees, advances or insurance cover) is 

provided. The ratings of active counterparties are reviewed periodically and credit limits are adjusted where appropriate. 

The policy in the energy business is to enter into contracts only with counterparties that meet the criteria of the Group 

Risk Policy. Outstanding credit exposures are monitored and managed on an ongoing basis using a formalised process.

The maximum credit risk corresponds to the carrying amount of the financial assets and is calculated at CHF 10,099 

million at 31 December 2022 (previous year: CHF 8,785 million). Credit risk is mitigated by collateral. The Alpiq Group’s 

exposure to concentrations of risk is reduced by the number of customers, geographical diversification as well as the 

consolidation of positions. Due to the volatile and significant increase in energy prices since 2021, the replacement values 

of energy derivatives as well as receivables and thus the credit risk associated with several counterparties in various 

countries increased considerably, which resulted in credit risk becoming a significant input factor for fair value 

measurement. Information about the effect of credit risk on receivables is disclosed in .note 4.5

In addition, on the reporting date, there were the following concentrations of risk with three counterparties (previous 

year: two counterparties), however without concrete indications of a default risk:
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CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Counterparty classified in risk category BBB  

Positive replacement values for energy derivatives 432 851

Trade receivables 96

Counterparty classified in risk category BBB-    

Positive replacement values for energy derivatives 454

Trade receivables 181

Counterparty classified in risk category BB-    

Positive replacement values for energy derivatives 657

Trade receivables 1

Counterparty classified in risk category CCC    

Positive replacement values for energy derivatives 468

In order to actively manage the credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents and term deposits, the Treasury 

functional unit at the Alpiq Group centrally sets limits that restrict the amount of assets held per counterparty. The limits 

are calculated and monitored monthly based on a number of factors. To date, there have been no impairment losses on 

receivables due from financial counterparties.

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

A substantial portion of the energy contracts entered into by the Alpiq Group is based on agreements containing a 

netting arrangement. Netting arrangements are used widely in energy trading to reduce the volume of effective cash 

flows. Items relating to the same counterparties are only presented on a net basis in the balance sheet if a legally 

enforceable right to offsetting of the recognised amounts exists in the netting arrangement, and the intention exists to 

settle on a net basis.

  31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

CHF million Gross Offsetting

Net

(balance sheet) Gross Offsetting

Net

(balance sheet)

Financial assets            

Trade receivables 4,815 – 2,662 2,153 3,644 – 1,998 1,646

Energy derivatives 1 13,888 – 9,193 4,695 22,101 – 17,041 5,060

Currency and interest rate derivatives 7 7 38   38

Financial liabilities            

Trade payables 5,125 – 2,662 2,463 3,011 – 1,998 1,013

Energy derivatives 2 14,299 – 9,193 5,106 22,363 – 17,041 5,322

Currency and interest rate derivatives 24 24 21   21

1 Of which, a net amount of CHF 0 million (previous year: CHF 41 million) stems from own use contracts designated at fair value on initial 

recognition.

2 Of which, a net amount of CHF 94 million (previous year: CHF 0 million) stems from own use contracts designated at fair value on initial 

recognition.

Financial collateral

Furthermore, additional collateral, such as guarantees, variation margin payments or insurance cover, is obtained where 

required. This is done to hedge the risk that one party does not fulfil its part of the deal and may default on the 

contractual obligations. The amounts to be provided change based on the net obligation that is calculated daily based on 
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the price movements. As a rule, the collateral held by the Alpiq Group covers both unrecognised energy transactions 

involving physical delivery and transactions recognised as financial instruments. Financial collateral received and issued 

in connection with the bilateral agreements to settle margin differences is presented in the following:

  31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

CHF million

Collateral

received

Collateral

issued

Collateral

received

Collateral

issued

Cash collateral 1 316 1,076 318 101

Guarantees 2 64 325 323 72

Total 380 1,401 641 173

1 Contained under “Receivables” or “Other current liabilities” respectively

2 Guarantees to third parties in favour of third parties are presented in note 4.8.

Liquidity risk

Margin agreements are commonly used on energy commodity exchanges and among energy traders to reduce 

counterparty risk. A margin agreement is a collateralisation agreement to ensure both parties’ performance. 

Consequently, Alpiq has to provide or can demand significant collateral in the form of cash or bank guarantees due to 

energy price movements and depending on the value of the net obligation. In addition, they can result in significant 

changes in liquidity, as both Alpiq and its counterparties are in most cases contractually entitled to replace cash 

collateral with bank guarantees in the short term and vice versa. The Alpiq Group manages such variable liquidity 

requirements by means of an early warning system, by maintaining sufficient liquidity resources and by obtaining 

committed credit lines from banks. The role of liquidity management is to plan, monitor, provide and optimise liquidity of 

the Alpiq Group on a monthly rolling basis.

During 2022, an unprecedented situation arose through a very strong increase in energy prices over a long period of time. 

The liquidity needs of the Group rose to a level that required daily monitoring and management. The margined positions 

per exchange, counterparty, market / commodity, and delivery period were actively optimised to reduce liquidity needs 

and the liquidity risk stemming from the margined positions assessed by means of value-at-risk analyses and dedicated 

stress tests. The wide range of energy market scenarios used to design these stress tests were reviewed and updated 

continuously to ensure any market changes and their potential impact on Alpiq were properly assessed and the 

outcomes of the stress tests were compared with the company’s available liquidity. If necessary, additional financing was 

sourced. The committed credit lines from banks in place at 31 December 2022 are shown in the "Capital Management" 

section. The financial liabilities are shown in  .note 3.4

The anticipated cash flows of financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments are disclosed in the table below. 

Where the intention exists to refinance loans at the end of the contract term, but refinancing has not yet been 

contractually secured, a cash outflow on maturity is assumed. Accordingly, actual cash flows can differ significantly from 

the contractual maturities. The cash flows from derivatives are presented net when there are netting arrangements in 

place with counterparties and the amounts are expected to be settled net. Depending on the future changes in value of 

the derivatives until maturity, the effective cash flows may deviate significantly from the amounts reported. In order to 

demonstrate the effective liquidity risk from derivative financial instruments, the cash inflows and outflows from 

contracts with positive and negative replacement values are shown in the following table. Derivative financial 

instruments for hedging future own use energy transactions are normally not included in the table, because these are 

unrecognised pending transactions.
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2022: Maturity analysis of financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments

 
Carrying

amount Cash flows

CHF million   Total

< 1

month

1 – 3

months

4 – 12

months

1 – 5

years

> 5

years

Trade payables 2,463 – 2,467 – 2,119 – 338 – 10

Bonds 850 – 882 – 159 – 723

Loans payable 710 – 745 – 120 – 168 – 121 – 290 – 46

Lease liabilities 41 – 50 – 1 – 2 – 5 – 26 – 16

Other financial liabilities 479 – 486 – 420 – 10 – 56

Cash outflows from non-derivative financial liabilities   – 4,630 – 2,660 – 518 – 351 – 1,039 – 62

Energy derivatives 1 – 411

Cash inflows 9,172 32 1,753 4,530 2,717 140

Cash outflows – 9,190 – 8 – 2,114 – 5,115 – 1,944 – 9

Currency / interest rate derivatives – 17

Cash inflows 6,035 1,570 1,970 2,135 360

Cash outflows – 6,060 – 1,569 – 1,973 – 2,148 – 370

Net cash inflows / (outflows) from derivative financial 

instruments   – 43 25 – 364 – 598 763 131

1 Of which, an amount of CHF 94 million stems from own use contracts designated at fair value on initial recognition.

2021: Maturity analysis of financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments

 
Carrying

amount Cash flows

CHF million   Total

< 1

month

1 – 3

months

4 – 12

months

1 – 5

years

> 5

years

Trade payables 1,013 – 1,013 – 886 – 106 – 20 – 1

Bonds 675 – 709 – 291 – 418

Loans payable 854 – 871 – 441 – 129 – 101 – 154 – 46

Lease liabilities 44 – 54 – 1 – 1 – 5 – 23 – 24

Other financial liabilities 1 507 – 457 – 407 – 37 – 11 – 2

Cash outflows from

non-derivative financial liabilities   – 3,104 – 1,735 – 273 – 428 – 598 – 70

Energy derivatives 2 – 262

Cash inflows 4,789 2 971 1,913 1,837 66

Cash outflows – 5,039 – 4 – 1,064 – 2,179 – 1,785 – 7

Currency / interest rate derivatives 17

Cash inflows 736 337 310 79 10

Cash outflows – 726 – 330 – 300 – 81 – 15

Net cash inflows / (outflows) from derivative 

financial instruments   – 240 5 – 83 – 268 47 59

1 The carrying amount includes liabilities in connection with the convertible loans of Swissgrid Ltd, for which no cash outflow is expected (see 

note 3.3).

2 Of which, an amount of CHF 41 million stems from own use contracts designated at fair value on initial recognition.
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Market risk

The Alpiq Group’s exposure to market risk primarily comprises energy price risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate 

risk. These risks are monitored on an ongoing basis and managed using derivative financial instruments. Market risk is 

measured within the framework of the Group Risk Policy that sets out rules on the taking of risks as well as their 

measurement, limitation and monitoring. Compliance with the risk limits is monitored on an ongoing basis by the Risk 

Management Committee based on regular reporting by the Risk Management functional unit.

Energy price risk

Energy price risk refers to potential price fluctuations that could have an adverse impact on the Alpiq Group. These 

fluctuations can arise from factors such as market price movements, variations in price volatility or changing correlations 

between markets and products. Market liquidity risks also belong to this category. They occur when an open energy 

position cannot be closed out or can only be closed out on very unfavourable terms due to a lack of market bids. Future 

own use energy transactions are normally not reported as financial instruments unless the fair value option or hedge 

accounting for firm commitments are applied in accordance with IFRS 9. Energy transactions are also conducted as part 

of the programme to optimise Alpiq’s power plant portfolio. A large proportion of the replacement values for energy 

derivatives shown at the reporting date are attributable to optimisation positions, with positive and negative 

replacement values generally cancelling each other out. Alpiq also engages in energy derivatives trading. The energy 

derivatives concluded by the Alpiq Group are usually forward contracts. The fair values are calculated on the basis of the 

difference between the contractually fixed forward prices and current forward prices applicable at the reporting date. 

The risks associated with trading and optimisation transactions are managed via clearly defined responsibilities and 

stipulated risk limits in accordance with the Group Risk Policy. Risk Management reports regularly on compliance with 

these limits to the Risk Management Committee and the Executive Board utilising a formalised risk reporting system. The 

risk positions are monitored in accordance with the Value at Risk (VaR) industry standards.

Foreign currency risk

The Alpiq Group seeks wherever possible to mitigate foreign currency risks by natural hedging of operating income and 

expenses denominated in foreign currencies. The remaining foreign currency risk is hedged by means of forward 

transactions in accordance with the Group’s Financial Risk Policy. Foreign currency risk arising from energy generation or 

purchasing is contractually transferred to the counterparty wherever possible. Where this is not possible or is only partly 

possible, forward currency contracts with a medium-term hedging horizon are deployed to manage exposure centrally on 

the market in line with the Group’s Financial Risk Policy. Hedge accounting is used to avoid fluctuations in results. The 

foreign currency derivatives are all OTC products. The fair values are calculated on the basis of the difference between the 

contractually fixed forward prices and forward prices applicable at the reporting date. Net investments in foreign 

subsidiaries are also exposed to changes in foreign exchange rates, although the difference in inflation rates should 

offset these changes in the long term. Investments in foreign subsidiaries (translation risks) are therefore not hedged.

Interest rate risk

The risks arising from volatility in interest rates relate to the interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities of the Alpiq 

Group. According to the Group’s Financial Risk Policy, liquidity is invested for a maximum of two years. The funding 

required for the business, however, is obtained on a long-term basis at fixed interest rates. Financing instruments with 

variable interest rates, particularly those that are long-term, are generally hedged by means of interest rate swaps. This 

means that a change in interest rates applied to interest-bearing assets has an impact on financial income. The interest 

rate derivatives are all OTC products. The fair value is determined by discounting the contractually agreed payment 

streams with current market interest rates.
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Sensitivity analysis

To illustrate the sensitivity of market risks to the Alpiq Group’s financial results, the effects of reasonably possible 

changes in the market risks listed above are set out below. The sensitivities are based in each case on financial 

instruments recognised on the reporting date. The possible annual percentage changes in the fair value of energy 

derivatives are derived from the commodity market prices for electricity, gas, coal and oil over the past twelve months. In 

the previous year, the last three years were used for the sensitivity analysis, but due to the very volatile energy prices in 

2022 and the expected high volatility in the near future, a narrower period seemed more appropriate. The sensitivities are 

calculated by applying maximum deviations from the mean with a 99 % confidence level. Taking into consideration the 

historical fluctuations, the reasonably possible changes in foreign currency prices are estimated at 5 %. Interest rate 

swap sensitivity is shown as the effect on the change in fair value that would arise from a 1 % parallel shift in the yield 

curve. Alpiq quantifies each type of risk assuming that all other variables remain constant. The effects for continuing 

operations are shown before tax.

  31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

CHF million

+ / – 

in %

+ / – 

effect on 

earnings before 

income tax

+ / – 

effect on OCI

before income 

tax

+ / – 

in %

+ / – 

effect on 

earnings before 

income tax

+ / – 

effect on OCI

before income 

tax

Energy price risk 403.3 1,275   154.7 470  

EUR / CHF currency risk 5.0 60 14 5.0 30 27

EUR / CZK currency risk 5.0 1   5.0 0  

EUR / PLN currency risk 5.0 1   5.0 1  

Interest rate risk 1.0 6 1 1.0 2 2
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3.2 Financial instruments

Carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities

  31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

CHF million Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss        

Financial investments 1 1 1 1

Positive replacement values of derivatives        

Energy derivatives 1 4,695 4,695 5,060 5,060

Currency and interest rate derivatives 7 7 38 38

Financial liabilities at amortised cost        

Bonds 850 835 675 701

Loans payable 710 697 854 861

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss        

Negative replacement values of derivatives        

Energy derivatives 2 5,106 5,106 5,322 5,322

Currency and interest rate derivatives 24 24 21 21

1 Of which, a net amount of CHF 0 million (previous year: CHF 41 million) stems from own use contracts designated at fair value on initial 

recognition.

2 Of which, a net amount of CHF 94 million (previous year: CHF 0 million) stems from own use contracts designated at fair value on initial 

recognition.

Apart from lease liabilities, the carrying amounts of all other financial instruments measured at amortised cost differ 

only insignificantly from the fair values. This is why the corresponding fair values have not been disclosed.

Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments

At the reporting date, the Alpiq Group measured the following assets and liabilities at their fair value or disclosed a fair 

value. The fair value hierarchy shown below was used to classify the financial instruments:

Level 1:

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: 

Valuation model based on prices quoted in active markets that have a significant effect on the fair value

Level 3: 

Valuation models utilising inputs which are not based on quoted prices in active markets and which have a significant 

effect on fair value
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CHF million 31 Dec 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss        

Financial investments 1   1  

Energy derivatives 4,695   4,537 158

Currency and interest rate derivatives 7   7  

Financial liabilities at amortised cost        

Bonds 835 835    

Loans payable 697   697  

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss        

Energy derivatives 5,106   4,801 305

Currency and interest rate derivatives 24   24  

CHF million 31 Dec 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss        

Financial investments 1   1  

Energy derivatives 5,060   4,956 104

Currency and interest rate derivatives 38   38  

Financial liabilities at amortised cost        

Bonds 701 701    

Loans payable 861   861  

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss        

Energy derivatives 5,322   5,234 88

Currency and interest rate derivatives 21   21  

Both in the reporting year and during the previous year, no reclassifications were applied between Levels 1 and 2. The 

reclassification from Level 2 to Level 3 in 2021 relates to energy derivatives with a significantly increased credit risk. The 

reclassification from Level 2 to Level 3 in 2022 relates to energy derivatives measured on the basis of inputs that are no 

longer observable in an active market due to decreased market activity. The reclassification from Level 3 to Level 2 in 2021 

relates to longer-term energy derivatives, which are now measured on the basis of observable market prices as market 

liquidity increases. Alpiq always applies reclassifications between Level 2 and Level 3 at the end of the reporting period.

The energy, currency and interest rate derivatives comprise OTC products, the majority of which are to be classified as 

Level 2. Fair value of energy derivatives is determined using a price curve model. The observable input factors (market 

prices) in the price curve model are supplemented by hourly forward prices, which are arbitrage-free and compared with 

external price benchmarking on a monthly basis. Due to the persistently high and volatile energy prices, the replacement 

values of energy derivatives and thus the credit risk for several counterparties in various countries remain high. At 31 

December 2022, the fair value of the derivatives that are classified as Level 3 due to a significantly increased credit risk is 

not material.

The fair value of the loans payable corresponds to the contractually agreed interest and amortisation payments 

discounted at market rates.
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Level 3 energy derivatives

Energy derivatives disclosed under Level 3 are measured using methods that in some cases utilise input factors, such as 

long-term energy prices or discount rates, which cannot be derived directly from an active market. In complex cases, a 

discounted cash flow method is used for the measurement. Transfers into Level 3 relate to energy derivatives which have 

been reclassified from level 2 to level 3 mainly due to reassessment of market liquidity. A change in the price of EUR 1 of 

the underlying commodity would lead to an increase / decrease in the fair value of Level 3 instruments of CHF 8 million. 

The sensitivity analysis does not include any interdependencies between different commodities. In order to hedge 

contracts assigned to Level 3, Alpiq enters into hedges that may be classified as Level 2 or Level 1. It is also possible that 

the Level 3 instrument is a hedge for an own use contract. Thus, the sensitivity analysis of Level 3 instruments does not 

include the offsetting effect from the hedging position or the own use contract. More information about the credit risk 

associated with Level 3 energy derivatives can be found in .note 3.1

The following table shows the development of Level 3 energy derivatives:

  2022 2021

CHF million Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Fair values at 1 January 104 88 81 2

Purchases 55 1 18 7

Sales – 45   – 132  

Settlements – 67 – 119 – 37 – 5

Fair value changes through profit or loss in net revenue 1 185 277 159 149

Transfer to level 3 56 75 20 5

Transfer out of level 3 – 9     – 1

Offsetting – 119 – 12 – 1 – 62

Currency translation differences – 2 – 6 – 4 – 7

Fair values at 31 December 158 305 104 88

1 Includes CHF 203 million (previous year: CHF 64 million) attributable to assets and CHF 263 million (CHF 149 million) to liabilities (before 

offsetting), which were still held at 31 December

2 Offsetting reflects the effect of netting agreements related to Level 3 energy derivatives

Development of day one gains and losses

Measuring financial instruments with valuation inputs that are not entirely based on quoted prices in active markets may 

result in deviations between the fair value and the transaction price at the time of entering into the contract. These 

deviations are recognised as day one gains or losses and are amortised on a straight-line basis until the underlying 

markets of the valuation inputs become active.

The following table shows the reconciliation of the change in deferred day one gains and losses. These items relate 

entirely to Level 3 energy derivatives.
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  2022 2021

CHF million Day one gains Day one losses Day one gains Day one losses

Balance at 1 January 18 17 11 12

Deferred profit / loss arising from new transactions 55 1 18 7

Profit or loss recognised in the income statement – 53 – 5 – 10 – 2

Currency translation differences 1 – 1 – 1  

Balance at 31 December 21 12 18 17

Expense / income related to financial assets and liabilities

  2022 2021

CHF million

Income 

statement

Other

comprehensive

income

Income 

statement

Other

comprehensive

income

Net gains / losses (excluding interest)        

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – 541   – 49  

Own use contracts designated at fair value on initial recognition – 227   36  

Financial assets at amortised cost 1 – 5   – 66  

Designated for hedge accounting 24 9 20 16

Interest income and expense        

Interest income for financial assets at amortised cost 1 6   7  

Interest expense for financial liabilities at amortised cost – 44   – 27  

Interest expense for financial liabilities measured at fair value and 

designated for hedge accounting – 4   – 6  

1 Includes effects from the purchase price adjustment for the transfer of the Swiss high-voltage grid amounting to CHF 12 million in the previous 

year (see note 5.1).

Information about the impairment of trade receivables is disclosed in .note 4.5

Accounting policies

Financial investments, securities and derivatives are measured at fair value through profit or loss. All other financial 

assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost. The Alpiq Group did not have any financial instruments that are 

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities in this category are initially recognised at fair value. The corresponding 

transaction costs are recognised immediately in the income statement. Changes in value of the financial instruments 

measured at fair value are recognised through profit or loss in the financial result with the exception of energy 

derivatives and currency derivatives concluded in connection with the hedging of energy transactions. Changes in the 

fair value of derivatives in connection with the energy business are presented in net revenue.

In principle, future own use energy transactions are not reported in the balance sheet. This also includes contracts to buy 

or sell a non-financial item that can be settled net in cash or another financial instrument, or by exchanging financial 

instruments, as if the contracts were financial instruments. By way of exception, Alpiq irrevocably designates some of 
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these transactions as contracts measured at fair value through profit or loss if there is an accounting mismatch with the 

hedges.

Financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost

With the exception of trade receivables, financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised 

at fair value plus or less direct transaction costs. Trade receivables are measured at transaction price.

For the subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised cost, any impairments are calculated using the 

expected credit loss model according to which losses on unsecured financial assets expected in future are also 

recognised. Impairment losses expected in the future are determined using the publicly available probability of default, 

which takes into account forward-looking information as well as historical probability of default. For financial assets, 

losses that are expected to occur in the next twelve month period are generally recognised. If the credit risk increases 

significantly for specific counterparties, impairment is recognised on the assets affected over the entire residual term of 

the asset. In accordance with IFRS 9, the simplified approach is applied for trade receivables for the measurement of the 

expected losses by recognising the lifetime expected credit losses (see ).note 4.5

Alpiq analyses historical credit losses and derives a forward looking estimate of expected credit losses taking into 

account the economic conditions and information obtained externally. The estimates are reviewed and analysed 

periodically. However, actual results can differ from these estimates, resulting in adjustments in subsequent 

periods.

Hedge accounting

Alpiq uses energy, foreign currency and interest rate derivatives to hedge exposure to fluctuations in the cash flows of 

highly probable forecasted transactions (cash flow hedges) and firm commitments (fair value hedges). Cash flow hedge 

accounting is applied to certain foreign currency and interest rate derivatives. In general, hedge accounting is not applied 

to energy derivatives. However, for selected energy purchase contracts, Alpiq introduced fair value hedge accounting in 

2022.

Before designating a new hedging instrument, the Group conducts a thorough analysis of the risk situation by analysing 

the risk management strategy and objective and defines the relationship between the hedging instrument and 

underlying transaction. It also ensures that the effectiveness requirements are met at the beginning of the hedging 

relationship. The formal designation occurs by documenting the hedging relationship. The designation of a new hedging 

instrument is authorised formally.

Cash flow hedge accounting

  31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

 

Foreign currency 

hedges

Interest rate

swaps

Foreign currency 

hedges

Interest rate

swaps

Derivative financial instruments in current assets (in CHF million) 2   9  

Derivative financial instruments in current liabilities (in CHF million) 12 1 3 8

Nominal amount (in CHF million) 1,377   466  

Nominal amount (in EUR million) 897 69 980 97
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Change in cash flow hedge reserves

  2022 2021

CHF million

Foreign currency 

hedges

Interest rate

swaps

Foreign currency 

hedges

Interest rate

swaps

Cash flow hedge reserves at 1 January 32 – 10 24 – 15

Recognition of gain / loss 25 4 29 1

Reclassification of realised gain / loss to net revenue – 24   – 19  

Reclassification of realised gain / loss to financial result   4   6

Change from partner power plants and other associates    

Ineffective portion posted in finance income     – 1

Income tax expense 1 – 3 – 2 – 1

Cash flow hedge reserves at 31 December 34 – 5 32 – 10

Foreign currency hedges

Foreign currency positions from the sale of Swiss production capacity in euros are hedged utilising forward transactions 

on the basis of the expected transaction volumes. Each spot component is designated as hedging instrument for hedge 

accounting. The unrealised gains / losses of the spot components are included in other comprehensive income taking 

deferred taxes into account. Changes in the forward components are recognised through profit or loss. There were no 

ineffective portions of the hedge from the foreign currency hedges at the reporting date. The underlying transactions will 

be recognised in the income statements for 2023 to 2026.

Interest rate swaps

At 31 December 2022, interest rate swaps were in place in order to fix interest rates on variable-interest project financing 

facilities in Italy. The project financing facilities have a remaining maturity of between two and seven years.

CHF million 2022 2021

Negative replacement values of interest rate swaps at 1 January 8 16

Realised interest payments – 3 – 6

Change in fair value – 4 – 1

Currency translation differences – 1

Negative replacement values of interest rate swaps at 31 December 1 8

Fair value hedge accounting

Since 1 July 2022, Alpiq applies fair value hedge accounting for selected fixed-priced, physical energy purchase contracts 

(firm commitments). Firm commitments are normally accounted for as own-use contracts and thus off-balance sheet 

unless they were to become onerous. Different accounting treatments of derivatives (hedges) and own-use contracts lead 

to an accounting mismatch reported as an exceptional item in the alternative performance measures. The introduction of 

fair value hedge accounting allows the fair value changes of the hedged item to be recognised in the IFRS financial 

statements and thus to eliminate this accounting mismatch for the effective part of the hedge.

Changes in fair value of firm commitments mainly result from commodity price fluctuations. To mitigate the exposure to 

these market price changes, Alpiq hedges the fair value of such transactions in accordance with its hedging strategy and 

risk management objectives either with physical contracts or financial derivatives (see ). To a limited extent, Alpiq 

designates these financial forwards and futures as hedging instruments in relationship to the hedged item. The hedged 

note 3.1
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items are layers of firm commitments whereby the layers represent the part of the firm commitments that is hedged with 

derivatives accounted for at fair value through profit or loss. Beside prospective effectiveness testing, a half-yearly own 

use eligibility test is performed to ensure that the layering approach is still justified and that there is no over-hedging 

which would lead to significant ineffectiveness.

Hedged item

The fair value changes of the hedged items are recorded in net revenue and reflected in the balance sheet line items 

"Other non-current assets" and "Other current liabilities". The following table shows the carrying amount of the hedged 

items which represents the accumulated amount of fair value hedge adjustments on the hedged items since inception of 

the hedge relationship.

 

Other non-current 

assets

Other current 

liabilities Total

Carrying amount of the hedged item at 1 July 2022 0 0 0

Fair value movement included in the hedge relationship 2 37 35

Carrying amount of the hedged item at 31 December 2022 2 37 35

Hedging instruments

The maturity profile as well as the average price of the hedging instruments used for hedging a layer of a firm 

commitment are shown in the table below.

  Futures Forwards

  2023 2024 2023

Nominal amount in CHF million 18 6 10

Nominal amount in MWh 245,280 70,272 175,200

Average forward price in CHF 73.44 83.32 55.31

Forwards are recorded under the balance sheet line item derivative financial instruments (either as assets or liabilities). 

Futures are cash settled daily and therefore no open exposure is recognised in the balance sheet. The following table 

provides an overview of the hedging instruments:

  31 Dec 2022

 

Nominal amount 

in MWh

Nominal amount 

in CHF million

Carrying amount 

in CHF million

Forwards 175,200 10 – 30

Futures 315,552 24 0

Hedge effectiveness

At each reporting date or on significant changes in circumstances a quantitative hedge effectiveness assessment is 

performed. The fair values of both hedged items and hedging instruments are measured and the net difference of the 

changes is the hedge ineffectiveness amount. Specific factors that may cause ineffectiveness are timing differences (i.e. 

mismatch between the designated hedge period and the maturity period of the hedging instrument) and location 

differences. Hedge ineffectiveness is recorded under net revenue in the income statement. 
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  2022

Change in fair value of hedging instruments 33

Change in fair value of the hedged items – 35

Net loss (hedge ineffectiveness) – 2

3.3 Other non-current assets

CHF million

Financial

investments Loans receivable

Hedged firm 

commitments 1

Other 

non-current

assets Total

Carrying amount at 1 January 2022 1 10   12 23

Additions   1 2   3

Disposals   – 1     – 1

Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 1 10 2 12 25

1 Application of fair value hedge accounting as of 1 July 2022 (see note 3.2)

CHF million

Financial

investments Loans receivable

Hedged firm 

commitments

Other 

non-current

assets Total

Carrying amount at 1 January 2021 1 11   49 61

Additions       12 12

Reclassifications   – 1   – 49 – 50

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 1 10   12 23

Alpiq disposed of all of the loan claims received from Swissgrid Ltd in 2014 in the course of the transfer of the Swiss high-

voltage grid. As part of the disposal, the Swissgrid loan tranches were sold without the contractually related conversion 

rights. In 2021, the related assets and liabilities were reclassiefied from non-current to current. In 2022, the obligation 

expired and such a conversion never occurred. Upon expiry, the corresponding asset and liability were derecognised. 
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3.4 Financial liabilities

CHF million Bonds

Loans

payable

Lease

liabilities Total

Non-current financial liabilities at 1 January 2022 400 189 38 627

Current financial liabilities at 1 January 2022 275 665 6 946

Financial liabilities at 1 January 2022 675 854 44 1,573

Acquisition / disposal of subsidiaries     – 1 – 1

Proceeds from financial liabilities 450 2,259 8 2,717

Repayment of financial liabilities – 275 – 2,396 – 8 – 2,679

Unwinding of discount     2 2

Adjustment of lease agreements     – 2 – 2

Other changes   – 1   – 1

Currency translation differences   – 6 – 2 – 8

Financial liabilities at 31 December 2022 850 710 41 1,601

Non-current financial liabilities at 31 December 2022 709 331 35 1,075

Current financial liabilities at 31 December 2022 141 379 6 526

CHF million Bonds

Loans

payable

Lease

liabilities Total

Non-current financial liabilities at 1 January 2021 675 196 42 913

Current financial liabilities at 1 January 2021 143 150 6 299

Financial liabilities at 1 January 2021 818 346 48 1,212

Proceeds from financial liabilities   895 4 899

Repayment of financial liabilities – 143 – 381 – 8 – 532

Unwinding of discount     2 2

Currency translation differences   – 6 – 2 – 8

Financial liabilities at 31 December 2021 675 854 44 1,573

Non-current financial liabilities at 31 December 2021 400 189 38 627

Current financial liabilities at 31 December 2021 275 665 6 946
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Bonds outstanding at the reporting date

CHF million Maturity

Earliest

repayment date

Effective

interest rate %

Carrying amount

at 31 Dec 2022

Carrying amount

at 31 Dec 2021

Alpiq Holding Ltd.

CHF 145 million nominal amount, 3.00 % fixed rate 2012 / 2022 16 May 2022 3.06   145

Alpiq Holding Ltd.

CHF 141 million nominal amount, 2.13 % fixed rate 2015 / 2023 30 Jun 2023 2.12 141 141

Alpiq Holding Ltd.

CHF 260 million nominal amount, 2.63 % fixed rate 2014 / 2024 29 Jul 2024 2.71 259 259

Alpiq Holding Ltd.

CHF 200 million nominal amount, 1.63 % fixed rate 2022 / 2025 30 May 2025 1.69 200  

Alpiq Holding Ltd.

CHF 250 million nominal amount, 1.75 % fixed rate 2022 / 2026 24 Jun 2026 1.63 250  

Electricité d’Emosson SA

CHF 130 million nominal amount, 1.38 % fixed rate 2017 / 2022 2 Nov 2022 1.44   130

The weighted interest rate on the bonds issued and listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange based on the nominal value at the 

reporting date is 2.04 % (previous year: 2.29 %), and that on the loans payable is 2.25 % (2.78 %). The latter also includes 

project financing denominated in euros. The weighted average interest rate of the bonds and the loans payable is 2.11 % 

(2.47 %).

Accounting policies

The accounting policies for financial liabilities are disclosed in  and .note 3.2 note 3.5

3.5 Leases

Alpiq is lessee in various contracts particularly in connection with power plants, land, building and IT infrastructure 

rentals. These leases are concluded for a fixed term of one month to 20 years and may contain renewal or termination 

options. The table below shows the change in net carrying amounts of the right of use assets capitalised in the line item 

property, plant and equipment:

CHF million

Rights of use

buildings

Rights of use

power plants

Rights of use

others Total

Net carrying amount at 1 January 2022 16 21 2 39

Acquisition / disposal of subsidiaries – 1 – 1

Investments 8 8

Divestments / early termination – 2 – 2

Depreciation – 3 – 2 – 1 – 6

Currency translation differences – 1 – 1 – 2

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2022 17 18 1 36

Of which, cost value 26 35 4 65

Of which, accumulated depreciation – 9 – 17 – 3 – 29
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CHF million

Rights of use

buildings

Rights of use

power plants

Rights of use

others Total

Net carrying amount at 1 January 2021 16 24 3 43

Investments 4 4

Depreciation – 3 – 2 – 1 – 6

Currency translation differences – 1 – 1 – 2

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2021 16 21 2 39

Of which, cost value 24 37 5 66

Of which, accumulated depreciation – 8 – 16 – 3 – 27

The change in carrying amounts of the lease liabilities included under financial liabilities can be seen in . The total 

cash outflow from leases amounted to CHF 8 million in 2022 (previous year: CHF 8 million).

note 3.4

Accounting policies

The Alpiq Group applies a uniform approach for the recognition and measurement of leases. It does not make use of the 

practical expedients for short-term and low-value leases permitted under IFRS 16. At inception of a contract Alpiq 

assesses whether the contract is or contains a lease. A lease exists if a contract grants Alpiq the right to control a certain 

asset over a period of time in exchange for consideration. The right of use assets and the lease liabilities representing 

Alpiq’s obligation to make lease payments are recognised in the balance sheet at the time when the lease asset becomes 

available. The right of use assets are included under property, plant and equipment in the balance sheet. They are 

measured at amortised cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term or the lifetime of the asset taking 

any impairment losses into account. Acquisition costs include the amount of recognised lease liabilities plus any 

dismantling obligations, directly attributable acquisition costs and one-off payments made at or before the start of the 

contract, less any lease incentives received.

The lease liabilities are initially recognised at the present value of the expected future lease payments. The present value 

is calculated with the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applicable for the country, the term and the currency. In 

subsequent periods, the lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost by applying the effective interest method. The 

lease liabilities are recognised in current or non-current financial liabilities as appropriate.

The determination of the lease term as a basis for the expected future payments may require various estimates from 

management regarding the future use of the leased asset. Extension options are only taken into account in the 

contractual term if it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. Termination options are only taken into 

account if it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. Alpiq takes into account all relevant factors that 

create an economic incentive to exercise the option. Alpiq has internally defined the following limits to determine 

the contractual term for callable leases with an unlimited term: for buildings, car parks and power plants a 

maximum of ten years, and for all others such as furniture, IT equipment and vehicles a maximum of two years.
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3.6 Equity

Share capital

The share capital of CHF 0.331 million (previous year: CHF 0.331 million) consists of 33,110,364 registered shares at par 

value of CHF 0.01 each and is fully paid in. The shareholder structure breaks down as follows:

 

Stakes in % at

31 Dec 2022

Stakes in % at

31 Dec 2021

EOS HOLDING SA 33.33 33.33

Schweizer Kraftwerksbeteiligungs-AG 33.33 33.33

EBM (Genossenschaft Elektra Birseck) 19.91 19.91

EBL (Genossenschaft Elektra Baselland) 6.44 6.44

Eniwa Holding AG 2.12 2.12

Aziende Industriali di Lugano (AIL) SA 1.79 1.79

IBB Holding AG 1.12 1.12

Regio Energie Solothurn 1.00 1.00

WWZ AG 0.96 0.96

The Board of Directors of Alpiq Holding Ltd. will propose to the Annual General Meeting on 26 April 2023 to distribute no 

dividend for the 2022 financial year. No dividend was distributed in 2022 for the 2021 financial year. 

Hybrid capital

In 2013, Alpiq placed a CHF 650 million public hybrid bond on the Swiss capital market. It has no maturity date and 

qualifies as equity under IFRS. Alpiq is entitled to repay the public hybrid bond at 15 November of each year. As in the 

previous years, Alpiq opted not to exercise this option in the 2022 financial year.

Every five years, the interest rate is adjusted to reflect prevailing market conditions. In 2018, the interest rate was 

adjusted to 4.5325 % for the first time. The interest rate will next be adjusted at 15 November 2023. Furthermore, in 2023 

and 2043, the interest rate will be increased by additional 25 bps and 75 bps respectively. Interest payments on the public 

hybrid bond can be suspended at Alpiq’s discretion. In this case, the payment of interest lapses after three years.

The interest after tax attributable to 2022 was CHF 29 million (previous year: CHF 29 million). Interest from the public 

hybrid bond that is attributable to the reporting year meets the criteria of a preference dividend, irrespective of whether 

the interest was paid or a legal obligation for the payment exists and is deducted from the “Net income attributable to 

equity investors of Alpiq Holding Ltd.” for the calculation of the basic earnings per share. The accrued interest after tax 

totalled CHF 4 million at 31 December 2022 (CHF 4 million). As no legally enforceable payment obligation exists, the 

accrued interest was not accrued as a financial liability, and was not deducted from equity. Interest payments totalling 

CHF 29 million were made in 2022 (CHF 29 million). Due to the equity character of the hybrid capital, these distributions 

were deducted from retained earnings.
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4 Operating assets and liabilities

4.1 Property, plant and equipment

CHF million

Land and

buildings Power plants Others 1

Assets under

construction

and prepayments

Right-of-use

assets 2 Total

Net carrying amount at 1 January 2022 113 1,623 26 58 39 1,859

Acquisition / disposal of subsidiaries       – 2 – 1 – 3

Investments   2   65 8 75

Own work capitalised       1   1

Reclassifications   30 2 – 32    

Reclassified to “Assets held for sale”   – 47 – 1     – 48

Disposals         – 2 – 2

Depreciation – 2 – 89 – 4   – 6 – 101

Reversals of impairment   18       18

Currency translation differences   – 12 – 1 – 2 – 2 – 17

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2022 111 1,525 22 88 36 1,782

Of which, cost value 175 4,771 62 92 65 5,165

Of which, accumulated depreciation – 64 – 3,246 – 40 – 4 – 29 – 3,383

1 Includes transmission assets, machinery, equipment and vehicles as well as decommissioning, restoration and maintenance costs

2 For details, see note 3.6

CHF million

Land and

buildings Power plants Others 1

Assets under

construction

and prepayments

Right-of-use

assets 2 Total

Net carrying amount at 1 January 2021 112 1,655 34 77 43 1,921

Investments   1   58 4 63

Own work capitalised       1   1

Reclassifications 5 76 – 3 – 78    

Disposals – 1         – 1

Depreciation – 3 – 88 – 5   – 6 – 102

Impairment   – 8       – 8

Currency translation differences   – 13     – 2 – 15

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2021 113 1,623 26 58 39 1,859

Of which, cost value 176 4,917 73 62 66 5,294

Of which, accumulated depreciation – 63 – 3,294 – 47 – 4 – 27 – 3,435

1 Includes transmission assets, machinery, equipment and vehicles as well as decommissioning, restoration and maintenance costs

2 For details, see note 3.6
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Impairment and reversals of impairment 2022

The integration of Nant de Drance (NdD) into the Production Switzerland CGU as of 1 July 2022 constituted a triggering 

event. The impairment test of the Production Switzerland CGU was performed at half-year closing and did not lead to any 

impairment losses. Further information can be found in  .note 4.7

In the second half of 2022, the management initiated the sale of the three Bulgarian companies. As a result, the 

corresponding assets and liabilities were classified as "held for sale" (see ). Prior to this reclassification Alpiq 

tested the assets of the cash-generating unit Vetrocom for impairment and determined the recoverable amount based on 

the fair value less cost to sell which was calculated on the basis of the non-binding offers (level 2) received. The 

assessment led to a reversal of impairment losses recognized in prior years in the amount of CHF 23 million in the 

International business division, thereof CHF 18 million on wind park assets and CHF 5 million on intangible assets.

note 5.2

Impairment 2021

Impairment losses of CHF 8 million were recognised in 2021. Thereof, an amount of CHF 6 million was attributable to the 

Spanish gas-fired combined-cycle power plant Plana del Vent in the International business division. Major drivers for the 

impairment in Plana del Vent were the deterioration in earnings prospects and the extended downtime until December 

2021 as a result of delivery delays at the manufacturer in connection with additional repairs. The recoverable amount was 

calculated using a pre-tax discount rate of 6.24 %.

Contractual obligations

At the reporting date, the Group had contractual commitments of CHF 66 million (previous year: CHF 59 million) for the 

construction and acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

Accounting policies

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Obligations 

to restore land and sites after licence expiry or decommissioning are accounted for individually in accordance with the 

contract terms. Estimated restoration costs (including decommissioning costs) are included in the cost of acquisition and 

manufacture, and are recognised as a provision. Replacements and improvements are capitalised if they substantially 

extend the useful life, increase the capacity or substantially improve the quality of the property, plant or equipment.

Depreciation is applied to property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, or to 

the expiry date of power plant licences. Assets under construction and prepayments are not subject to depreciation until 

they are completed or in working condition and have been reclassified to the corresponding asset category. The 

estimated useful lives of the various classes of assets range as follows:

– Power plants: 20 – 80 years

– Transmission assets: 15 – 40 years

– Buildings: 20 – 60 years

– Machinery, equipment and vehicles: 3 – 20 years

– Land: only in case of impairment

– Assets under construction and prepayments: if impairment is already evident



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Consolidated Financial Statements 91

The residual value and useful life of an asset are reviewed regularly, but at least at each financial year end, and adjusted 

where required. At every reporting date, a test is performed to determine whether there is any indication that items of 

property, plant and equipment are impaired. If there is any indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is 

determined for the asset. If the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss 

equivalent to the difference is recognised. An impairment loss previously recognised for an asset is reversed in the 

income statement if the impairment no longer exists, or has decreased. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 

that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 

depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised.

The calculation of the useful life, residual value and recoverable amount involves estimates. The recoverable amount 

of an asset or cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. If an asset 

does not generate cash inflows that are independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount of the 

individual asset is estimated for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Value in use is calculated by 

discounting the estimated future cash flows based on budget figures approved by management, business 

assumptions as well as other relevant factors. These assumptions are based on historical empirical data as well as 

current market expectations and therefore contain significant estimation uncertainties. These assumptions largely 

relate to wholesale prices on European forward markets and forecasts of medium-term and long-term energy prices, 

foreign currencies (especially EUR / CHF and EUR / USD exchange rates), inflation rates, discount rates, regulatory 

conditions and investment activities relating to the company. The estimates made are reviewed periodically using 

external market data and analyses. To calculate the terminal values, the cash flows were extrapolated by a growth 

rate of 2.0 % (previous year: 2.0 %). This growth rate corresponds to the long-term average growth that Alpiq expects 

and represents a forecast. The discount rates that have been applied reflect the current market estimate for the 

specific risks to be allocated to the assets and represent a best estimate. Actual results can differ from these 

estimates, assumptions and forecasts, resulting in significant adjustments in subsequent periods.

4.2 Intangible assets

CHF million

Energy

purchase rights 1
Other

intangible assets

Assets under

development and 

prepayments Total

Net carrying amount at 1 January 2022 26 62 4 92

Investments     5 5

Own work capitalised     6 6

Reclassifications   8 – 8  

Reclassified to “Assets held for sale”   – 8   – 8

Amortisation – 1 – 15   – 16

Impairment   – 2 – 1 – 3

Reversals of impairment   5   5

Currency translation differences   – 1   – 1

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2022 25 49 6 80

Of which, cost value 1,490 523 6 2,019

Of which, accumulated amortisation – 1,465 – 474   – 1,939

1 Include prepayments for rights to purchase energy in the long term, including capitalised interest, as well as long-term energy purchase 

agreements acquired in business combinations.
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CHF million

Energy

purchase rights 1
Other

intangible assets

Assets under

development and 

prepayments Total

Net carrying amount at 1 January 2021 27 65 7 99

Investments     5 5

Own work capitalised     5 5

Reclassifications   11 – 11  

Amortisation – 1 – 13   – 14

Impairment     – 2 – 2

Currency translation differences   – 1   – 1

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2021 26 62 4 92

Of which, cost value 1,490 523 4 2,017

Of which, accumulated amortisation – 1,464 – 461   – 1,925

1 Include prepayments for rights to purchase energy in the long term, including capitalised interest, as well as long-term energy purchase 

agreements acquired in business combinations.

Impairment and reversals of impairment

Impairment losses of CHF 3 million (previous year: CHF 2 million) were recognised in the Trading business division as 

internally developed software could not be used as originally planned.

More information on reversals of impairment losses is disclosed in  and .note 4.1 note 5.2

Accounting policies

Intangible assets are stated at cost, net of accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Assets with a limited 

useful life are generally amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful economic lives. Amortisation of 

energy purchase rights is applied in line with the scope of the energy purchases made each year in relation to the total 

energy purchase quantity agreed contractually. The amortisation period and amortisation method are reviewed at each 

financial year end. The useful lives of the intangible assets recognised range from 1 to 75 years. Assets under development 

and prepayments are not subject to amortisation. An impairment test is only performed whenever indications exist that 

the assets may be impaired.

If the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss previously recognised for an intangible asset is reversed in the income statement if the impairment no 

longer exists, or has decreased. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 

recognised.

For significant estimation uncertainties and assumptions, please refer to .note 4.1
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4.3 Investments in partner power plants and other associates

CHF million

Partner 

power plants Other associates Total

Carrying amount at 1 January 2022 2,266 35 2,301

Dividends – 23   – 23

Share of profit / loss – 58 – 1 – 59

IAS 19 effects recognised in other comprehensive income – 43 – 5 – 48

Investments 24   24

Reclassifications – 12   – 12

Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 2,154 29 2,183

CHF million

Partner 

power plants Other associates Total

Carrying amount at 1 January 2021 2,264 16 2,280

Dividends – 24   – 24

Share of profit / loss – 37 2 – 35

IAS 19 effects recognised in other comprehensive income 67 12 79

Investments   5 5

Reclassifications – 4   – 4

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 2,266 35 2,301

Summarised financial information

Under the partner agreements in force, the shareholders of partner power plants are required to take on the energy and 

pay the annual costs allotted to their ownership interest throughout the concession period. Furthermore, nuclear power 

plant owners are required to pay limited additional contributions to the decommissioning and waste disposal fund, in 

case a primary contributor is unable to fulfil payments. The partner agreements run through the useful life of the power 

plant, or through the concession period, and cannot be terminated. For individual partner power plants, Alpiq assigned a 

portion of the energy to be granted to it on account of its ownership interest as well as the associated obligation to pay 

its annual costs to another company. In such cases, the reported interest relevant from an economic perspective may 

differ from the interest held pursuant to corporate law. The Alpiq Group’s share of the regular annual costs of all partner 

power plants in 2022 amounted to CHF 774 million (previous year: CHF 399 million). This amount is included in energy and 

inventory costs.

The merger of Atel and EOS, which formed Alpiq in 2009, led to fair value adjustments being made on the acquired assets 

in the course of the business combination. These are included in the summarised financial information and are calculated 

on the basis of a weighting.



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Consolidated Financial Statements 94

Material partner power plants 2022

  Grande Dixence SA Nant de Drance SA

Kernkraftwerk 

Gösgen-Däniken AG

Kernkraftwerk 

Leibstadt AG

Kernkraftwerk-

Beteiligungs-

gesellschaft AG (KBG)

CHF million

Gross 

values

Alpiq

share

Gross 

values

Alpiq

share

Gross 

values

Alpiq

share

Gross 

values

Alpiq

share

Gross 

values

Alpiq

share

Non-current assets 2,063 1,239 2,097 818 3,357 1,334 4,912 1,284 732 244

Of which, non-current 

financial assets 47 28 9 4 2,215 880 2,192 573    

Current assets 14 8 – 4 – 2 469 186 554 145 12 4

Of which, cash 

and current

financial assets 9 5 4 2 48 19 41 11 1  

Non-current liabilities 736 442 1,660 647 3,325 1,321 4,125 1,079 117 39

Of which, non-current

financial liabilities 735 441 1,647 642 244 97 535 140 117 39

Current liabilities 157 94 41 16 166 66 126 33 59 20

Of which, current

financial liabilities 100 60 9 4 80 32     47 16

Total equity 1,184 711 392 153 335 133 1,215 317 568 189

Income 166 100 103 40 800 319 887 232 120 40

Expenses – 189 – 114 – 106 – 41 – 888 – 353 – 900 – 235 – 139 – 46

Net income – 23 – 14 – 3 – 1 – 88 – 34 – 13 – 3 – 19 – 6

Other

comprehensive income – 6 – 4 1   – 54 – 22 – 48 – 14    

Total 

comprehensive income – 29 – 18 – 2 – 1 – 142 – 56 – 61 – 17 – 19 – 6

Dividends received   8       7   6    

The associates classified as material by Alpiq comprise only strategically significant partner power plants. Market prices 

are not available for any of these companies.
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Material partner power plants 2021

  Grande Dixence SA Nant de Drance SA

Kernkraftwerk 

Gösgen-Däniken AG

Kernkraftwerk 

Leibstadt AG

Kernkraftwerk-

Beteiligungs-

gesellschaft AG (KBG)

CHF million

Gross 

values

Alpiq

share

Gross 

values

Alpiq

share

Gross 

values

Alpiq

share

Gross 

values

Alpiq

share

Gross 

values

Alpiq

share

Non-current assets 2,106 1,265 2,109 822 3,917 1,557 5,493 1,437 739 247

Of which, non-current 

financial assets 48 29 9 4 2,584 1,027 2,550 667    

Current assets 9 5 10 4 118 47 259 68 5 2

Of which, cash 

and current

financial assets 2 1 6 2 27 11 14 4    

Non-current liabilities 666 400 1,659 647 3,410 1,355 4,164 1,089 77 26

Of which, non-current

financial liabilities 665 399 1,647 642 245 97 535 140 77 26

Current liabilities 221 133 64 25 191 76 291 76 80 27

Of which, current

financial liabilities 165 99 30 12     10 3 73 24

Total equity 1,228 737 396 154 434 173 1,297 340 587 196

Income 157 94 3 1 423 168 559 146 140 47

Expenses – 180 – 108 – 12 – 5 – 410 – 163 – 574 – 151 – 178 – 59

Net income – 23 – 14 – 9 – 4 13 5 – 15 – 5 – 38 – 12

Other

comprehensive income 12 7 1   84 34 76 21    

Total 

comprehensive income – 11 – 7 – 8 – 4 97 39 61 16 – 38 – 12

Dividends received   9       7   6    



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Consolidated Financial Statements 96

Individually immaterial partner power plants and other associates 2022

 
Individually immaterial

partner power plants Other associates

CHF million Gross values Alpiq share Gross values Alpiq share

Non-current assets 3,721 988 121 33

Of which, non-current financial assets 46 7 14 2

Current assets 85 16 65 14

Of which, cash and current financial assets 22 5 31 9

Non-current liabilities 1,250 276 39 12

Of which, non-current financial liabilities 1,225 271 33 11

Current liabilities 391 77 31 6

Of which, current financial liabilities 261 52 3 1

Total equity 2,165 651 116 29

Income 412 85 197 33

Expenses – 424 – 91 – 196 – 34

Net income – 12 – 6 1 – 1

Other comprehensive income – 28 – 3 – 36 – 5

Total comprehensive income – 40 – 9 – 35 – 6

Dividends received   2    

Individually immaterial partner power plants and other associates 2021

 
Individually immaterial

partner power plants Other associates

CHF million Gross values Alpiq share Gross values Alpiq share

Non-current assets 3,829 1,011 142 35

Of which, non-current financial assets 51 8 1

Current assets 111 18 80 18

Of which, cash and current financial assets 45 9 55 14

Non-current liabilities 1,222 273 20 7

Of which, non-current financial liabilities 1,196 268 16 5

Current liabilities 490 90 50 11

Of which, current financial liabilities 357 66 2 1

Total equity 2,228 666 152 35

Income 414 83 194 33

Expenses – 428 – 90 – 191 – 31

Net income – 14 – 7 3 2

Other comprehensive income 35 5 71 12

Total comprehensive income 21 – 2 74 14

Dividends received   2    
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Accounting policies

An associate is a company over which the Alpiq Group is in a position to exercise significant influence through 

participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, and that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint 

arrangement. Significant influence is generally presumed with a share of voting rights ranging from 20 % to 50 %. Where 

appropriate, companies may likewise be accounted for as associates in the consolidated financial statements by applying 

the equity method, even if the ownership interest is less than 20 %. This applies especially where the Alpiq Group is 

represented in the authoritative decision-making bodies, such as the Board of Directors, or participates in operating and 

financial policymaking. The equity method is also applied to assess companies over which Alpiq, despite having a related 

ownership interest of 50 % or greater, has no control, as a result of restrictions in articles of association, contracts and 

organisational rules.

With regard to associates, Alpiq makes the distinction between partner power plants and other associates. The partner 

power plants are companies that construct, maintain or operate nuclear power plants or hydropower plants or manage 

the energy purchase rights. Goodwill may also arise when purchasing investments in associates and corresponds to the 

difference between the cost of investment and the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets. Such 

goodwill forms part of the carrying amount at which the associate is recognised.

The reporting date of a few partner power plants (hydrological year) and other associates differs from that of the Group. 

The most recent available financial statements of these companies are utilised to prepare the consolidated financial 

statements of the Alpiq Group. Significant transactions and events that occur between the end of the most recent 

reporting period and 31 December are taken into account in the consolidated financial statements. To be included in the 

consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of the associates are prepared applying uniform accounting 

policies. Reconciliation statements are prepared for companies that have no IFRS financial statements.

4.4 Inventories

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

  CO2 and other certificates 25 21

Gas 15  

Consumables, supplies and fuels 11 12

Total 51 33

Accounting policies

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (calculated applying the FIFO method or the average cost method) and net 

realisable value. 
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4.5 Receivables and other current assets

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Trade receivables 1 2,153 1,646

Prepayments to suppliers 12 16

Other current receivables 1,716 1,120

Total 3,881 2,782

1 Of which, an amount of CHF 1,187 million (previous year: CHF 1,033 million) stems from contracts with customers pursuant to IFRS 15.

Alpiq usually grants its customers a payment term of no longer than 30 days. In certain cases, the payment term can be 60 

days. Trade receivables from and trade payables to the same counterparties are offset, provided that a netting agreement 

has been reached with the counterparties, and payment is made on a net basis. For more information, please refer to 

.

note 

3.1

Age analysis of trade receivables

  31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

CHF million Gross

Allowance 

for ECL

Net 

(balance sheet) Gross

Allowance 

for ECL

Net 

(balance sheet)

Not past due 2,032 – 5 2,027 1,479 1,479

1 – 90 days past due 186 – 74 112 296 – 148 148

91 – 180 days past due 8 8 37 – 30 7

181 – 360 days past due 20 – 18 2 1 – 1

Over 360 days past due 141 – 137 4 49 – 37 12

Total 2,387 – 234 2,153 1,862 – 216 1,646

Allowance for expected credit loss (ECL) on trade receivables

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Carrying amount before impairment 2,387 1,862

Of which, impaired – 234 – 216

Impairment at beginning of year – 216 – 43

Impairment charge for the year 1 – 65 – 79

Valuation adjustment of realised energy derivatives – 108

Amounts written off as uncollectible 27 2

Unused amounts reversed 10 3

Currency translation differences 10 9

Impairment at end of year 2 – 234 – 216

1 Of which, an amount of CHF – 2 million (previous year: CHF – 2 million) stems from contracts with customers pursuant to IFRS 15.

2 Of which, an amount of CHF – 29 million (previous year: CHF – 39 million) stems from contracts with customers pursuant to IFRS 15.
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The impairment comprises specific bad debt allowances of CHF 233 million (previous year: CHF 215 million) that were 

recognised for receivables with concrete indications of a default risk (e.g. insolvency). In accordance with the expected 

credit loss model, it also includes general bad debt allowances of CHF 1 million (CHF 1 million) due to the inherent default 

risk for receivables. For this, individual probabilities of default are calculated for each counterparty amounting to 

between 0.0 % and 19.0 % (previous year: between 0.0 % and 20.3 %), depending on the maturity of the trade receivables.

Accounting policies

The accounting policies for financial receivables are disclosed in .note 3.2

4.6 Cash and cash equivalents

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Cash at bank and in hand 1,374 863

Term deposits with a maturity of 90 days or less 100  

Total 1,474 863

Cash at bank and in hand include foreign subsidiaries’ bank accounts with a total balance of EUR 72 million, translated 

CHF 71 million, (previous year: EUR 57 million, translated CHF 59 million), which are pledged in accordance with 

regulations in local finance agreements and which may only be used to cover their own needs for cash and cash 

equivalents. These funds are therefore not freely available in full for the Alpiq Group.

4.7 Provisions

CHF million

Onerous

contracts

Decommis-

sioning own

power plants Other Total

Non-current provisions at 1 January 2022 416 48 26 490

Current provisions at 1 January 2022 121   8 129

Provisions at 1 January 2022 537 48 34 619

Increase 130   9 139

Unwinding of discount 9 2   11

Utilised – 206   – 3 – 209

Unused amounts reversed – 428   – 7 – 435

Reclassified to “Liabilities held for sale” – 1 – 1   – 2

Currency translation differences – 19   – 1 – 20

Provisions at 31 December 2022 22 49 32 103

Non-current provisions at 31 December 2022 14 49 23 86

Current provisions at 31 December 2022 8   9 17

Onerous contracts

These provisions comprise the present value of the onerous contracts in place at the reporting date.
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Due to movements in electricity and gas prices, own use contracts for the physical purchase or sale of electricity can 

become onerous. Although Alpiq hedges these contracts from an economic perspective, this hedging also involves 

financial contracts. As Alpiq applies hedge accounting for energy purchase and sale contracts only for firm commitments 

in very restricted cases, own use contracts and associated financial hedges normally have to be accounted for and 

presented separately. 

The onerous contract provision relating to the future procurement of energy from the Nant de Drance (NdD) pumped 

storage power plant, which amounted to CHF 389 million at the beginning of the year, was reversed in full at 30 June 2022, 

resulting in a positive effect on earnings of CHF 399 million. The section below explains the background of the reversal.

Electricity produced by Swiss assets (hydropower plants and nuclear plants) as well as some long-term energy purchase 

contracts are all hedged, optimised and marketed together on a portfolio basis within the Switzerland business division 

and thus form the Production Switzerland CGU. With the full commercial commissioning of NdD on 1 July 2022 the energy 

produced by NdD is hedged, optimised and marketed together with the other production facilities in the portfolio of the 

Production Switzerland CGU and thus its cashflows are no longer independent. As a result, NdD became part of the 

Production Switzerland CGU and no longer constitutes a separate valuation unit. As the combined expected economic 

benefits of the Production Switzerland CGU exceeded the expected cost, the provision for NdD was reversed in full. The 

integration of NdD into the Production Switzerland CGU represented a triggering event. The impairment test performed 

at 30 June 2022 did not lead to any impairment losses on PPE.

The amount of the provisions for onerous contracts depends on various assumptions, relating in particular to the 

development of wholesale prices on European forward markets and forecasts of medium-term and long-term energy 

prices. These assumptions associated with uncertainties are made at the reporting date, some of which can result in 

significant adjustments in subsequent periods.

Decommissioning own power plants

The provision for decommissioning the Group’s own power plant portfolio covers the estimated costs of 

decommissioning and restoration obligations associated with the Group’s existing power plants.

Other provisions

Other provisions include obligations arising from the human resources area, existing and pending obligations from 

litigation as well as other operating risks deemed probable. 

Provisions for pending obligations from litigation are based on information available in each case and estimates 

made by management as to the outcome of the litigation. Depending on the actual outcome, the effective cash 

outflow can differ significantly from the provisions.

Accounting policies

Provisions cover all (legal or constructive) obligations arising from past transactions or events that are known at the 

reporting date and likely to be incurred, but are uncertain as to timing and / or amount. The amount is determined at the 

reporting date and corresponds to the best possible estimate of the expected cash outflow, discounted to the reporting 

date.
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4.8 Contingent liabilities and guarantees

ANAF’s tax audit at Alpiq Energy SE

After the tax audit on the Bucharest branch of Alpiq Energy SE, Prague, the Romanian tax authority ANAF (Agenţia 

Naţională de Administrare Fiscală) issued the final tax assessment notice to Alpiq in September 2017 for an amount of 

RON 793 million (CHF 158 million) for value added tax, corporate income tax and penalties (including late payment 

penalties) for the assessment period 2010 to 2014. The tax assessment determined by ANAF is being contested on its 

merits and the amount assessed, as Alpiq is convinced that the activities of Alpiq Energy SE in Romania have always been 

carried out in accordance with the applicable Romanian and European rules and regulations. Alpiq’s position is supported 

by current assessments provided by external legal and tax experts. Alpiq filed an objection with ANAF against the tax 

assessment in 2017. In the main matter, ANAF supported its own view and dismissed the objection with regard to an 

amount of RON 589 million or CHF 117 million as being without merit, while it repealed the decision from the tax audit 

with regard to an amount of RON 204 million (CHF 41 million), and ordered a reassessment. Alpiq contested the decision 

on the appeal made by ANAF by making use of the legal means of appeal at its disposal. On 3 September 2019, the court of 

appeal in Bucharest endorsed Alpiq’s request that the tax assessment of RON 589 million is not enforceable until a 

decision has been reached by the last court of appeal.

In a ruling from 19 October 2021, the competent Romanian administrative court agreed with the reasoning of Alpiq 

Energy SE and revoked the decision of ANAF on the assessment in the amount of RON 589 million as unlawful. After 

having received the written substantiation for the court’s decision in May 2022, ANAF contested the ruling by filing an 

appeal with the Romanian administrative court of second instance at the end of May 2022. Alpiq Energy SE also filed an 

appeal on part of the reasoning. The first court hearing for the second appeal phase is scheduled for December 2023.

The reassessment with regard to the amount of RON 204 million (CHF 41 million) will not take place until there is a final 

ruling in the proceedings concerning the amount of RON 589 million. In separate proceedings, Alpiq Energy SE claimed 

compensation for damage caused by the illegal precautionary measures order following ANAF’s request, as well as part of 

the bank guarantee costs. On 12 December, 2022 the court accepted Alpiq Energy SE’s damage claim and awarded Alpiq 

Energy SE RON 10 milion as damages caused by the issuance of tax as well as court fees amounting to RON 0.1 million. 

ANAF is expected to appeal this verdict and Alpiq Energy SE is also planning to file a supplementation request and or an 

appeal, therehus no receivable was recognised.

Alpiq continues to deem it unlikely that these proceedings will result in a negative outcome for the company and has 

therefore decided not to record a liability for the pending tax assessment.

Compensation review proceedings against Alpiq Holding Ltd.

In 2020, appraisal claims were filed against Alpiq Holding Ltd. by the two investors Knight Vinke (KVIP International V L.P.) 

and Merion Capital (Merion Capital LP, Merion Capital ERISA LP and Merion Capital II LP) pursuant to Sec. 105 of the Swiss 

Merger Act (FusG). The claims seek a review of the compensation of CHF 70.00 per share approved by the Annual General 

Meetings of Alpha 2020 AG (current Alpiq Holding Ltd.) and former Alpiq Holding AG (“Former Alpiq”) and paid to minority 

shareholders of in the squeeze-out merger in 2020.

In February 2023, Alpiq Holding Ltd. and Merion Capital reached an out-of-court settlement and Merion Capital withdrew 

their appraisal claim in the proceedings started at the Chambre patrimoniale cantonale of Canton of Vaud, Switzerland 

and waived any right to claim any additional payment from Alpiq in relation to Merion’s shares acquired as part of the 

squeeze-out merger.
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The proceeding initiated by Knight Vinke is continuing, whereby Knight Vinke is seeking a compensation based on a value 

per share amounting to at least CHF 140. This would correspond to additional aggregate compensation of around CHF 73 

million to be paid by Alpiq Holding Ltd. to all relevant minority shareholders (excluding Merion Capital). The proceeding is 

currently pending in the competent court of Canton of Vaud. A first instance ruling is not expected before 2024.

In the context of the voluntary public purchase offer by SKBAG, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) was engaged as an 

independent expert to prepare and submit a fairness opinion on the appropriateness of the offer price from a financial 

perspective. At the time, PwC concluded that the offer price is fair and appropriate from a financial perspective. In 

connection with the squeeze-out merger, Alantra Ltd. was engaged to compile an independent valuation report for the 

members of the Board of Directors of Alpiq Holding Ltd. (Former Alpiq) and Alpha 2020 Ltd. (current Alpiq Holding Ltd.). The 

valuation report of Alantra determined a value range of CHF 63.30 to CHF 72.50 per share in Former Alpiq and therefore 

confirmed that the agreed compensation of CHF 70 per share is appropriate.

Based on the facts and circumstances known at this time, in particular the two independent valuation reports which 

deemed the amount of compensation per share to be appropriate, Alpiq considers it unlikely that this litigation will 

result in a negative outcome for the company.

Other matters

Alpiq is currently in negotiations with a contracting party regarding the termination of a long-term energy sales contract, 

as Alpiq is of the opinion that this contract is no longer valid given the current market conditions. If a settlement 

agreement can be agreed on by both parties, this would result in recognition of a liability in the amount of CHF 20 to 

25 million. If no agreement can be reached, it cannot be ruled out that the other party will take legal action.

There were no significant contingent liabilities from pledges, guarantees and other commitments to third parties in 

favour of third parties at the reporting date, as was also the case at 31 December 2021. For additional obligations in 

connection with partner power plants, please see . Contingent liabilities in connection with the sale of the 

Engineering Services business can be found in .

note 4.3

note 5.1

4.9 Other current liabilities

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Trade payables 2,463 1,013

Hedged firm commitments 1 37  

Other current liabilities 493 509

Advances from customers 160 201

Total 3,153 1,723

1 Application of fair value hedge accounting as of 1 July 2022 (see note 3.2)

Trade payables to suppliers who are also customers are settled with trade receivables, provided that a netting agreement 

has been reached with the counterparties, and payment is made on a net basis. For more information, please refer to 

.note 3.1

In the previous year, the item “Other current liabilities” included obligations in the amount of CHF 49 million arising from 

the sale of loans receivable due from Swissgrid Ltd. Further information can be found in the  .note 3.3
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5 Group structure

5.1 Companies sold

Compensation for the transfer of the Swiss high-voltage grid

The adjustment of the valuation of the transfer of the Swiss high-voltage grid was finalised for Alpiq in the second half of 

2021. In the previous year, additional sales proceeds of CHF 12 million were recorded under “Other operating income” and 

interest components of CHF 5 million were recognised as interest income. Cash inflows from the additional sales 

proceeds amounted to CHF 31 million in 2022 (previous year: CHF 20 million) and were recorded under “Disposal of 

subsidiaries” in the statement of cash flows. Cash inflows from the interest components amounted to CHF 5 million in 

2022 (previous year: CHF 11 million) and were recorded under “Interest received” in the statement of cash flows. 

Accordingly, all sales proceeds and interest components have been collected in full and for Alpiq the transaction to 

transfer the Swiss high-voltage grid is thus completed. 

Sale of two Spanish project companies

In the second half of 2022, Alpiq sold 75 % of its shares in two Spanish project companies. The sale price amounted to 

CHF 3 million, which resulted in a net cash inflow of cash and cash equivalents of CHF 3 million. In total, net assets of CHF 

2 million were disposed of. The gain on disposal amounted to CHF 1 million and was recognized in other operating 

income.

Discontinued operations

In 2018, Alpiq sold the Engineering Services business, which comprises the Alpiq InTec Group and the Kraftanlagen Group. 

These operations were classified as discontinued operations. Therefore, all income and expenses in connection with the 

sale continue to be posted to “Earnings after tax from discontinued operations”.

As part of the sale of the Engineering Services business, Alpiq must bear any fines and costs of Kraftanlagen Energies & 

Services GmbH (“Kraftanlagen”) resulting from the proceedings started by the state prosecutor of Munich I and the 

German Federal Cartel Office in the first quarter of 2015. In the course of these proceedings, the German Federal Cartel 

Office imposed a fine of EUR 47.5 million (CHF 46.8 million) on Kraftanlagen in December 2019. Kraftanlagen cooperated 

fully with the authorities from the outset in order to support them in investigating the allegations in question. Despite 

extensive investigations, a law firm commissioned by Kraftanlagen to clarify the facts of the case could not find any 

evidence of misconduct by Kraftanlagen or the accused former employees. Kraftanlagen does not believe that it is in the 

wrong and refutes the allegations. Kraftanlagen filed an appeal against the administrative order imposing the fine. In 

2022 several hearings at the Higher Regional Court of Düsseldorf took place in which Alpiq was deemed guilty on two out 

of five indictments. The fine was reduced by EUR 26.5 million (CHF 26 million) to EUR 21 million (CHF 20.7 million). Both the 

Federal Cartel Office and Kraftanlagen have appealed to the Federal Court of Justice.

Alpiq still deems it not probable that Kraftanlagen will be convicted, which is why it has been decided not to 

recognise a liability for this matter.
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The cash outflow from bearing the costs in connection with the aforementioned proceedings amounted to CHF 0.3 

million in 2022 (previous year: CHF 1 million). According to the sales agreement, these payments are treated as an 

adjustment to the sale price. They are therefore contained in the statement of cash flows under “Net cash flows from 

investing activities of discontinued operations”.

5.2 Assets held for sale

In the second half of 2022, Alpiq decided to sell its three Bulgarian subsidiaries Vetrocom EOOD, Alpiq Energia Bulgaria 

EOOD and Alpiq Wind Services EAD. Following this decision the assets and liabilities of the companies were classified as 

“held for sale". Prior to the reclassification an impairment test was performed which resulted in the recognition of 

impairment reversals of CHF 23 million. 

Assets

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Property, plant and equipment 48  

Intangible assets 8  

Inventories 1  

Derivative financial instruments 8  

Receivables and other current assets 5  

Cash and cash equivalents 13  

Total assets held for sale 83 0

Liabilities

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Non-current provisions 1  

Deferred income tax liabilities 2  

Current provisions 1  

Other current liabilities 6  

Total liabilities held for sale 10 0

At 31 December 2022, currency translation losses of CHF 33 million related to assets and liabilities held for sale are 

included in equity. 

Accounting policies

An asset or group of assets and related liabilities (disposal group) is classified as held for sale if its carrying amount will be 

recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing use. The Alpiq Group measures non-current 

assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs of disposal. 

These assets or disposal groups, once classified as held for sale, are no longer depreciated or amortised. They are 

presented separately from the Group’s other assets and liabilities.
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5.3 Significant Group companies and investments

Group companies Place of incorporation Switzerland

Interna-

tional Trading

Group 

Centre &

other

companies

Direct 

ownership

interest 

in %

Alpiq Holding Ltd. Lausanne, CH       X 100.0

Aare-Tessin Ltd. for Electricity (Atel) 1 Olten, CH       X 100.0

Aero Rossa S.r.l. Milan, IT   X     100.0

Alpiq Ltd. 1 Olten, CH X X X X 100.0

Alpiq Csepel Kft. Budapest, HU   X     100.0

Alpiq Deutschland GmbH 1 Munich, DE       X 100.0

Alpiq Digital Austria GmbH  Vienna, AT     X   100.0

 Alpiq EcoPower Ltd.  1 Olten, CH   X     100.0

Alpiq EcoPower Switzerland Ltd. Olten, CH X       100.0

Alpiq Energia Bulgaria EOOD Sofia, BG   X     100.0

ALPIQ ENERGÍA ESPAÑA, S.A.U. Madrid, ES   X X   100.0

Alpiq Energia Italia S.p.A. Milan, IT   X X X 100.0

Alpiq Energie Deutschland GmbH Berlin, DE   X X   100.0

Alpiq Energie France S.A.S. Paris, FR   X X X 100.0

Alpiq Energy SE Prague, CZ   X X X 100.0

Alpiq Finland Oy Vantaa, FI   X     100.0

Alpiq Hydro Aare AG Boningen, CH X       100.0

Alpiq Hydro Italia S.r.l. Milan, IT   X     90.0

Alpiq Italia S.r.l. Milan, IT       X 100.0

Alpiq Le Bayet S.A.S. Paris, FR   X     100.0

Alpiq Retail France S.A.S.  Paris, FR   X     100.0

Alpiq Services CZ s.r.o. Prague, CZ   X X X 100.0

Alpiq Solutions France S.A.S. Paris, FR   X     100.0

 Alpiq Suisse Ltd.  1 Lausanne, CH X     X 100.0
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Group companies Place of incorporation Switzerland

Interna-

tional Trading

Group 

Centre &

other

companies

Direct 

ownership

interest 

in %

Alpiq Wind Italia S.r.l. Milan, IT   X     100.0

Alpiq Wind Services EAD Sofia, BG   X     100.0

Bel Coster SA L’Abergement, CH X       100.0

Birs Wasserkraft AG Olten, CH X       100.0

C.E.P.E. Des Gravières S.A.S. Paris, FR   X     100.0

Cotlan Wasserkraft AG Glarus Süd, CH X       60.0

EESP European Energy Service Platform GmbH Berlin, DE       X 100.0

Électricité d’Émosson SA Martigny, CH X       50.0

En Plus S.r.l.  Milan, IT   X     100.0

Energie Electrique du Simplon SA (E.E.S.) Simplon, CH X       82.0

Enpower 2 S.r.l. Milan, IT   X     100.0

Enpower 3 S.r.l. Milan, IT   X     100.0

Entegra Wasserkraft AG St. Gallen, CH X       59.6

Eole Jura SA Muriaux, CH X       100.0

EolJorat Nord SA Lausanne, CH X       100.0

Hydro-Solar Energie AG Niederdorf, CH X       65.0

Isento Wasserkraft AG St. Gallen, CH X       100.0

Kraftwerke Gougra AG Sierre, CH X       54.0

 Motor-Columbus Ltd.  1 Olten, CH       X 100.0

NOVAGAVIA BUSINESS, S.L. Madrid, ES   X     100.0

Novel S.p.A. Milan, IT   X     51.0

Salanfe SA Vernayaz, CH X       100.0

Società Agricola Solar Farm 2 S.r.l. Milan, IT   X     100.0

Società Agricola Solar Farm 4 S.r.l. Milan, IT   X     100.0

Tous-Vents SA Lausanne, CH X       100.0

Vetrocom EOOD 1 Sofia, BG   X     100.0

Wasserkraftwerk Hüscherabach AG Splügen, CH X       60.0

Wasserkraftwerk Peist AG 2 Arosa, CH X       51.0

Wasserkraftwerk Tambobach AG Splügen, CH X       70.0

1 Interest held directly by Alpiq Holding Ltd.

2 Indirect interest held via Entegra with non-controlling interests of 69.6 %
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Partner power plants and other associates Place of incorporation

Licence /

agreement

expiry Switzerland

Interna-

tional Trading

Group 

Centre &

other

companies

Direct 

ownership

interest 

in %

Blenio Kraftwerke AG Blenio, CH 2042 X       17.0

CERS Holding SAS Toulouse, FR     X     15.0

Cleuson-Dixence 1 Sion, CH 2044 X       31.8

Electra-Massa AG Naters, CH 2048 X       34.5

Engadiner Kraftwerke AG Zernez, CH 2050/2074 X       22.0

Forces Motrices de Martigny-Bourg S.A. Martigny, CH 2080 X       18.0

Forces Motrices Hongrin-Léman S.A. (FMHL) Château-d’Oex, CH 2051/2094 X       39.3

Grande Dixence SA 2 Sion, CH 2044 X       60.0

HYDRO Exploitation SA Sion, CH   X       26.2

Kernkraftwerk Gösgen-Däniken AG Däniken, CH   X       40.0

Kernkraftwerk Leibstadt AG Leibstadt, CH   X       27.4

Kernkraftwerk-Beteiligungsgesellschaft AG 

(KBG) Bern, CH 2041 X       33.3

Kraftwerk Ryburg-Schwörstadt AG Rheinfelden, CH 2070 X       13.5

Kraftwerke Hinterrhein AG Thusis, CH 2042 X       9.3

Kraftwerke Zervreila AG Vals, CH 2037 X       21.6

Maggia Kraftwerke AG Locarno, CH 2035/2048 X       12.5

MOVE Mobility SA Granges-Paccot, CH       X   25.0

Nant de Drance SA Finhaut, CH   X       39.0

Tormoseröd Vindpark AB Karlstad, SE     X     30.0

Unoenergia S.r.l. Biella, IT     X     28.0

Wasserkraftwerke Weinfelden AG Weinfelden, CH   X       49.0

1 Simple partnership

2 Although Alpiq holds direct ownership of 60 %, it has no control. For more explanations on accounting policies, please refer to note 4.3.

Joint venture Place of incorporation Switzerland

Interna-

tional Trading

Group 

Centre &

other

companies

Direct 

ownership

interest 

in %

Hydrospider Ltd Niedergösgen, CH X       45.0

SC Produccion Renovable S.L. Barcelona, Spain   X     25.0
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6 Other disclosures

6.1 General accounting policies

Due to the necessary rounding, it is possible that subtotals or totals do not match the individual amounts.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Alpiq Group comprise the consolidated financial statements of Alpiq 

Holding Ltd. and its subsidiaries which were prepared by using uniform accounting policies. All intragroup balances, 

transactions, income and expenses are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are companies that are controlled by Alpiq Holding Ltd., either directly or indirectly. Such companies are 

consolidated at the date control is obtained. Companies are deconsolidated or recognised under “Investments in partner 

power plants and other associates” or under “Other non-current assets” when control of the company is lost.

Investments in partner power plants and other associates in which the Alpiq Group has significant influence are included 

in the consolidated financial statements by applying the equity method. The Alpiq Group’s interest in the assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses of such companies is disclosed in .note 4.3

All other investments are recognised at fair value and included in “Other non-current assets”.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Swiss francs (CHF), which is both the functional currency of Alpiq 

Holding Ltd. and its reporting currency. The functional currency of each company in the Group is determined by the 

economic environment in which it operates. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the group company’s 

functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the closing exchange rate on the reporting date. The 

resultant currency translation differences are recognised in the income statement.

Receivables and loans due from foreign operations for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the 

foreseeable future are, in substance, part of the company’s net investment in that foreign operation. The resulting 

translation differences are recognised separately in other comprehensive income as part of the foreign currency 

translation differences and reclassified from equity to the income statement on disposal of the net investment in the 

foreign operation.

The assets and liabilities of subsidiaries are translated into Swiss francs at the closing exchange rate at the reporting 

date. Income statement items are translated at the average exchange rate for the reporting period. Currency translation 

differences are recognised as a separate item in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a subsidiary or loss of 

control and on disposal of an associate or partner power plant or the loss of significant influence, the cumulative 

currency translation differences relating to that subsidiary are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or 

loss on sale in the period in which the subsidiary is disposed of, or control is lost.

The following exchange rates were used for currency translation:
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Unit

Closing rate at

31 Dec 2022

Closing rate at

31 Dec 2021

Average rate

for 2022

Average rate

for 2021

1 EUR 0.985 1.033 1.005 1.081

1 GBP 1.110 1.229 1.180 1.258

1 USD 0.923 0.912 0.955 0.914

100 CZK 4.083 4.156 4.093 4.217

100 HUF 0.246 0.280 0.258 0.302

100 NOK 9.366 10.343 9.961 10.644

100 PLN 21.037 22.474 21.473 23.699

100 RON 19.895 20.875 20.381 21.978

6.2 Related party transactions

Related parties include partner power plants, other associates and major shareholders with significant influence on the 

Alpiq Group as well as employee pension schemes, the Board of Directors and the Executive Board. EOS Holding SA and 

Schweizer Kraftwerksbeteiligungs-AG have significant influence over the Alpiq Group and are referred to below as “Other 

related companies”.

Transactions between the Group and related companies

  2022 2021

CHF million

Partner

power plants

Other 

associates

Other related

companies

Partner 

power plants

Other 

associates

Other related

companies

Total revenue and other income            

Net revenue 1 59 4 – 14 64 19  

Other operating income 2 1   2 1  

Operating expenses            

Energy and inventory costs – 774 – 18 – 25 – 399 – 15 – 7

Other operating expenses – 1     – 1    

Financial result            

Interest expense     – 1      

1 The negative net revenue with other related companies is attributable to the change in the fair value measurement of energy derivatives, which 

are presented in net revenue. For more explanations on accounting policies, please refer to note 2.2.
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Outstanding balances with related companies at the reporting date

  31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

CHF million

Partner

power plants

Other 

associates

Other related

companies

Partner 

power plants

Other 

associates

Other related

companies

Assets            

Other non-current assets 1 6 1 1 6 2

Derivative financial instruments           2

Receivables 3 1   21 1  

Prepayments and accrued income 8     104    

Current term deposits 5 2   8 2  

Liabilities            

Current financial liabilities           141

Other current liabilities 6 1 2 28 1 1

Accruals and deferred income 236     8   1

Investments in partner power plants and other associates are presented in . The Alpiq Group has contractual 

power offtake arrangements with partner power plants. Electricity is purchased according to the ownership interest, 

although no volumes have been agreed contractually. Power generation capacity depends on optimum utilisation of the 

power plants. The costs for power production at the partner power plants are assumed on a cost-plus basis.

note 4.3

The Alpiq Group has no non-financial energy trading contracts outstanding with other associates and other related 

entities at 31 December 2022. In the previous year, the contract volume was 49 GWh and the gross value CHF 5 million.

The previous year current financial liabilities to other related companies pertained to interest-bearing loans payable to 

shareholders with significant influence on the Alpiq Group. The interest rate was set at 1.5 %.

Details of transactions between the Group and its employee pension schemes are disclosed in .note 6.3

Members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board

The total compensation for the Board of Directors and the Executive Board breaks down as follows:

  Board of Directors Executive Board

CHF million 2022 2021 2022 2021

Fixed and variable remuneration 1.8 1.3 4.5 4.0

Social security contributions   0.2 0.9 1.1

Total 1.8 1.5 5.4 5.1
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6.3 Employee benefits

The Group operates a number of pension schemes as required by law. The group companies in Switzerland participate in 

PKE Vorsorgestiftung Energie, a legally independent pension scheme which meets the criteria of a defined benefit plan in 

accordance with IAS 19. Employees of foreign subsidiaries are generally covered by state social security schemes or 

independent defined contribution pension plans in accordance with national practices. These plans meet the criteria of a 

defined contribution plan according to IAS 19.

Defined benefit liabilities / assets in the balance sheet

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Present value of defined benefit obligation 633 738

Fair value of plan assets 692 815

Deficit / surplus (–) – 59 – 77

Change in effect of asset ceiling 61  

Net defined benefit liabilities / assets (–) 2 – 77

Of which, liabilities 2 3

Of which, assets – 80

Reconciliation of net defined benefit liabilities / assets

CHF million 2022 2021

Net defined benefit liabilities / assets (–) at 1 January – 77 31

Defined benefit expense recognised in the income statement 43 19

Defined benefit expense recognised in other comprehensive income 1 50 – 115

Contributions by employer to legally independent pension schemes – 14 – 12

Net defined benefit liabilities / assets (–) at 31 December 2 – 77

1 Of which, CHF 61 million relating to change in effect of asset ceiling.
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation

CHF million 2022 2021

Present value of defined benefit obligation at 1 January 738 790

Interest expense on defined benefit obligations 3 1

Current service cost 16 18

Contributions by plan participants 8 8

Benefits paid – 68 – 40

Remeasurements:    

Financial assumptions – 116 – 22

Demographic assumptions 1 – 21

Experience adjustments 26 3

Settlement 2 26  

Others   1

Present value of defined benefit obligation at 31 December 633 738

1 In the previous year the effect mainly resulted from the switch to the BVG 2020 generation tables.

2 In 2022, PKE informed Alpiq that, based on the provisions in the affiliation agreement between Alpiq and PKE some of the pensioners must be 

transferred from the Alpiq pension scheme to the separate scheme “pensioners without employer”. This transfer will take effect on 1 January 

2023 and will result in a payment of CHF 13.5 million to be made by Alpiq in 2023. The settlement eliminates all further obligations of Alpiq 

towards the transferred pensioners and results in a loss on settlement of CHF 26 million in 2022.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date is 11.4 years (previous year: 13.3 

years).

Changes in the fair value of the plan assets

CHF million 2022 2021

Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 815 759

Interest income on plan assets 3 1

Contributions by employer to legally independent pension schemes 14 12

Contributions by plan participants 8 8

Benefits paid – 68 – 40

Remeasurement on plan assets – 80 75

Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 692 815
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Asset classes of plan assets

CHF million 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Quoted market prices    

Liquidity – 5 10

Equity instruments of third parties 265 332

Debt instruments of third parties 209 240

Property funds 38 40

Other investments 78 85

Total plan assets at fair value (quoted market prices) 585 707

Unquoted market prices    

Property not used by the company 107 108

Total plan assets at fair value (unquoted market prices) 107 108

Total fair value of plan assets 692 815

Accounting policies

The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent pension experts using the projected unit credit 

method. This accrued benefit method prorated on service recognises not only the known benefits and benefits accrued at 

the reporting date, but also expected future salary and pension increases. The Continuous Mortality Investigation (CMI) 

model with generation tables as a technical basis is used to reflect mortality rates. Mortality data according to the CMI 

model is calculated based on a long-term rate of change. The net interest result is recognised directly in finance costs / 

income; any remaining employee benefit costs are included in employee costs. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised 

in other comprehensive income as part of equity in the period in which they occur. Past service costs are recognised 

directly in the income statement as employee costs.

All plans are funded by both employer and employee contributions, as a rule. Employer contributions paid or owed to 

pension schemes that provide defined contribution pension plans are recognised directly in the income statement.

The calculation of the recognised defined benefit liabilities is based on statistical and actuarial assumptions. Such 

assumptions can differ substantially from actual circumstances due to changes in market conditions and the 

economic environment, higher or lower exit rates, longer or shorter lives of plan participants and other estimated 

factors. Such deviations may have an impact on the defined benefit liabilities recognised in future reporting periods.

Actuarial assumptions

in % 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Discount rate 2.25 0.35

Projected interest rate for retirement assets 2.50 0.75

Expected rates of salary increase (weighted average) 1.50 0.50

Estimated long-term rate of change in the CMI model (basis: BVG 2020) 1.25 1.25
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Sensitivity analysis

In each case, the sensitivity analysis takes into consideration the influence on the net defined benefit obligation in the 

event of one assumption changing while all of the other assumptions remain unchanged. This approach does not take 

into account that some assumptions are dependent on each other.

CHF million 2022 2021

Discount rate    

0.25 % increase – 17 – 24

0.25 % reduction 18 25

Projected interest rate for retirement assets    

0.25 % increase 4 5

0.25 % reduction – 4 – 5

Rate of salary increase    

0.25 % increase 1 2

0.25 % reduction – 1 – 2

Life expectancy    

1 year increase 23 32

1 year reduction – 24 – 33

Expected contributions by the employer and plan participants for the next period

Employer social security contributions are estimated at CHF 25 million and employee contributions are estimated at CHF 

7 million for 2023.

6.4 Pledged assets

The power plants of Aero Rossa S.r.l., Milan / IT, En Plus S.r.l., Milan / IT, Enpower 3 S.r.l., Milan / IT and Società Agricola Solar 

Farm 4 S.r.l., Milan / IT, are funded through common project financing arrangements with banks. The related liabilities are 

reported on the consolidated balance sheet. The Alpiq Group has pledged CHF 133 million of its interests in these power 

plants to the financing banks as collateral (previous year: CHF 111 million). In addition, Alpiq has pledged all of its shares 

in the associate Tormoseröd Vindpark AB, Karlstad, SE, of CHF 3.7 million in the context of project financing for the 

construction of a wind farm in Sweden (CHF 3.9 million). For information about pledged cash and cash equivalents, please 

refer to .note 4.6

6.5 Events after the reporting period

There were no reportable events after the reporting date of 31 December 2022.



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Report of the Statutory Auditor 115



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Report of the Statutory Auditor 116



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Report of the Statutory Auditor 117



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Report of the Statutory Auditor 118



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Report of the Statutory Auditor 119



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 5-year Overview 120

5-year Overview
Income Statement

CHF million 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Net revenue 14,631 7,177 3,905 4,099 5,186

Other operating income 38 81 124 55 50

Total revenue and other income 14,669 7,258 4,029 4,154 5,236

Operating expenses – 14,323 – 7,335 – 3,747 – 3,986 – 5,227

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation

and amortisation (EBITDA) 346 – 77 282 168 9

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 1 – 97 – 126 – 80 – 401 – 169

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 249 – 203 202 – 233 – 160

Share of results of

partner power plants and other associates – 59 – 35 – 35 – 44 – 50

Financial result – 74 – 61 – 55 – 59 – 95

Income tax (expense) / income – 5 28 43 110 44

Earnings after tax from continuing operations 111 – 271 155 – 226 – 261

Earnings after tax from discontinued operations 0 0 – 56 – 42 198

Net income / (loss) 111 – 271 99 – 268 – 63

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 2 1 3 3 14

Net income attributable to equity investors of

Alpiq Holding Ltd. 109 – 272 96 – 271 – 77

1 In 2022 and 2020, including reversals of impairment losses

Balance sheet

CHF million 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Total assets 14,701 13,557 7,368 7,360 9,074

Assets          

Non-current assets 4,213 4,432 4,440 4,566 5,475

Current assets 10,488 9,125 2,928 2,794 3,599

Equity and liabilities          

Total equity 3,529 3,558 3,761 3,671 3,944

As % of total assets 24.0 26.2 51.0 49.9 43.5

Liabilities 11,172 9,999 3,607 3,689 5,130
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Other key performance indicators

  2022 2021 1 2020 2019 2 2018 3

EBITDA before exceptional items in CHF million 473 312 262 110 166

Net debt in CHF million 107 675 249 206 272

Net debt / EBITDA before exceptional items 0.2 2.2 1.0 1.9 1.6

Number of employees at the reporting date 1,180 1,266 1,258 1,226 1,548

1 Since 2022, Alpiq no longer presents any exceptional items from the categories “Effects from business disposals” or “Restructuring costs and 

litigation” in its internal or external reporting in order to simplify reporting. The previous year figures 2021 have been adjusted, see note 2.1 of 

the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

2 Since 2019, EBITDA before exceptional items without Flexitricity Ltd. and e-mobility business

3 Including Flexitricity Ltd. and e-mobility business

Per share data

  2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Par value in CHF 0.01 0.01 0.01 10 10

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 1 33,110,364 33,110,364 33,110,364 33,110,364 27,874,649

Net income in CHF 1 2.41 – 9.10 2.01 – 9.07 – 3.90

Dividend in CHF 2 0.00 0.00 1.40 0.00 0.00

1 The figures for 2019 have been adjusted due to the conversion of the hybrid loan from the shareholders and the resulting higher number of 

shares. The figures for 2018 have not been adjusted.

2 2022: to be proposed to the Annual General Meeting



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 122

Financial Statements of Alpiq 
Holding Ltd.



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Financial Statements of Alpiq Holding Ltd. 123

Income statement
CHF Note 2022 2021

Income      

Dividend income 2 4,418,001 56,364,974

Finance income 3 1,174,626,475 404,909,009

Reversal of impairment losses on loans receivable   2,376,040 12,500,000

Reversal of impairment losses on investments     42,374,383

Other income   29,504,917 1,465,910

Total income   1,210,925,433 517,614,276

Expenses      

Finance costs 4 – 1,213,622,899 – 499,971,560

Impairments on loans receivable   – 3,231,914 – 1,007,853

Impairments on investments   – 4,570,239 – 4,410,400

Other expenses   – 27,667,724 – 19,522,562

Direct taxes   – 1,006,604 – 720,825

Total expenses   – 1,250,099,380 – 525,633,200

Net income / (loss)   – 39,173,947 – 8,018,924
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Balance sheet
Assets

CHF Note 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Cash and cash equivalents   1,047,383,392 548,071,311

Trade receivables 5 200,732 169,041

Other current receivables 6 1,316,224,706 471,725,351

Prepayments and accrued income   48,009,433 1,594,633

Current assets   2,411,818,263 1,021,560,336

Loans receivable 7 767,055,175 786,741,575

Investments 8 4,358,980,149 4,367,815,645

Non-current assets   5,126,035,324 5,154,557,220

Total assets   7,537,853,587 6,176,117,556

Equity and liabilities

CHF Note 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Trade payables 9 130,998 351,054

Current interest-bearing payables 10 2,891,607,352 1,060,756,534

Other current liabilities 11 352,916 20,981

Accruals and deferred income   173,561,116 104,740,414

Current provisions 12 3,883,397 1,508,021

Current liabilities   3,069,535,779 1,167,377,004

Interest-bearing loans payable 13 50,000,000 860,553,797

Bonds 14 1,360,000,000 1,050,695,000

Non-current provisions 12 730,000 730,000

Non-current liabilities   1,410,730,000 1,911,978,797

Share capital   331,104 331,104

Capital contribution reserves   1,740,949,469 1,744,580,362

Other capital reserves   3,630,893  

Legal retained earnings   170,000 170,000

Retained earnings carried forward   1,351,680,289 1,359,699,213

Net income / (loss)   – 39,173,947 – 8,018,924

Equity 15 3,057,587,808 3,096,761,755

Total equity and liabilities   7,537,853,587 6,176,117,556
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Notes to the Financial 
Statements
1 Preliminary note

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of Alpiq Holding Ltd., Lausanne, have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Swiss 

accounting legislation (Title 32 of the Swiss Code of Obligations). As in the previous year, the company employed no staff 

during the financial year.

The following section describes the main valuation principles applied that are not specified by law.

Loans receivable / hedges

Loans receivable that are denominated in foreign currencies are measured at the closing rate on the reporting date, 

whereby unrealised losses are recognised, and unrealised gains are not reported. In the case of derivatives deployed in 

hedges, too, unrealised losses are recognised, but unrealised gains are not recognised.

Investments

The investments are generally measured individually. The only exceptions are the investments in Alpiq Ltd. and Alpiq 

Suisse Ltd., which have been tested for impairment by way of group measurement since 2017, as these companies form an 

economic unit. Since 2017, Alpiq Suisse Ltd. has operated as a meta partner power plant that sells its energy to Alpiq Ltd. 

at production cost.

Bonds

Bonds are recognised at face value. The discount and issue costs of bonds are recognised as finance costs in the issue 

year. Any premium (less issuance costs) is recognised as a deferred income and amortised on a straight-line basis over the 

bond’s maturity.

2 Dividend income

Dividend income comprises dividends received from subsidiaries.
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3 Finance income

CHF 2022 2021

Interest income from group companies 49,336,513 35,555,331

Interest income from third parties 239,773 67,308

Other finance income from group companies 3,149,470 2,514,736

Other finance income from third parties   188,658

Foreign exchange gain 1,121,900,719 366,582,976

Total 1,174,626,475 404,909,009

4 Finance costs

CHF 2022 2021

Interest expense to group companies – 18,077,269 – 33,373,210

Interest expense to shareholders – 1,966,045 – 61,863

Interest expense to third parties – 53,979,512 – 49,157,988

Other finance costs to group companies – 234  

Other finance costs to third parties – 14,786,986 – 3,478,804

Foreign exchange loss – 1,124,812,853 – 413,899,695

Total – 1,213,622,899 – 499,971,560

5 Trade receivables

CHF 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Due from group companies 200,732 169,041

Total 200,732 169,041
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6 Other current receivables

CHF 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Due from group companies 1,316,078,018 470,189,425

Due from third parties 146,688 1,535,926

Total 1,316,224,706 471,725,351

Other current receivables comprise cash pool balances, loans and non-current term deposits with a maximum term of 

12 months as well as VAT and withholding tax receivables.

7 Loans receivable

CHF 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Due from group companies 767,055,175 786,741,575

Total 767,055,175 786,741,575

8 Investments

A list of direct and significant indirect investments is disclosed in  of the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements.

note 5.3

9 Trade payables

CHF 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Due from third parties 130,998 351,054

Total 130,998 351,054

10 Current interest-bearing payables

CHF 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Due to group companies 2,530,912,352 357,665,634

Due to shareholders   205,568,100

Due to third parties 360,695,000 497,522,800

Total 2,891,607,352 1,060,756,534

Current interest-bearing payables include cash pooling payables, bonds due for repayment in the next 12 months and 

loans payable with a remaining term of no more than 12 months.
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11 Other current liabilities

CHF 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Due from third parties 352,916 20,981

Total 352,916 20,981

12 Provisions

Provisions include a provision for the recapitalisation of Alpiq Deutschland GmbH that may become necessary. They also 

contain a provision for the expected legal costs in connection with the compensation review proceedings pursuant to 

Art. 105 of the Swiss Merger Act (FusG) filed against Alpiq Holding Ltd. For more information about this matter, please 

refer to  of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.note 4.8

13 Interest-be ring loans payablea

CHF 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Due to group companies   860,553,797

Due to third parties 50,000,000  

Total 50,000,000 860,553,797

The loan payable has a remaining maturity of 29 months.

14 Bonds

CHF Maturity

Earliest

repayment date

Interest rate

in %

Face value at

31 Dec 2022

Face value at

31 Dec 2021

 Fixed-rate bond issued by Alpiq Holding Ltd. 1 2012 / 2022 16 May 2022 3.0000   144,690,000

 Fixed-rate bond issued by Alpiq Holding Ltd. 2 2015 / 2023 30 Jun 2023 2.1250 140,695,000 140,695,000

Fixed-rate bond issued by Alpiq Holding Ltd. 2014 / 2024 29 Jul 2024 2.6250 260,000,000 260,000,000

Fixed-rate bond issued by Alpiq Holding Ltd. 2022 / 2025 30 May 2025 1.6250 200,000,000  

Fixed-rate bond issued by Alpiq Holding Ltd. 2022 / 2026 24 Jun 2026 1.7500 250,000,000  

Public hybrid bond issued by Alpiq Holding Ltd. – 15 Nov 2023 4.5325 650,000,000 650,000,000

1 At 31 December 2021 recognised under “Current interest-bearing payables”.

2 At 31 December 2022 recognised under “Current interest-bearing payables”.
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15 Equity

CHF

Share

capital

Capital

contribution

reserves

Other capital 

reserves

Legal retained 

earnings

Retained

earnings

Total

equity

Balance at 31 December 2020 331,104 1,744,580,362 0 0 1,406,223,723 3,151,135,189

Dividends         – 46,354,510 – 46,354,510

Transfer to the legal retained earnings       170,000 – 170,000 0

Net income / (loss)         – 8,018,924 – 8,018,924

Balance at 31 December 2021 331,104 1,744,580,362 0 170,000 1,351,680,289 3,096,761,755

Net income / (loss)         – 39,173,947 – 39,173,947

Balance at 31 December 2022 331,104 1,740,949,469 3,630,893 170,000 1,312,506,342 3,057,587,808

16 Collateral provided for third-party liabilities

Guarantees in favour of group companies and third parties totalled CHF 1,383 million at 31 December 2022 (previous year: 

CHF 844 million). Of this, an amount of CHF 786 million (CHF 512 million) relates to bank guarantees and CHF 597 million 

(CHF 332 million) to guarantees issued by Alpiq Holding Ltd.

17 Contingent liabilities

As part of the sale of the Engineering Services business, Alpiq Deutschland GmbH, for which Alpiq Holding Ltd. has 

subsidiary liability, must bear any fines and costs of Kraftanlagen Energies & Services GmbH (formerly Kraftanlagen 

München GmbH) resulting from the proceedings started by the state prosecutor of Munich I and the German Federal 

Cartel Office in the first quarter of 2015. Alpiq still deems it unlikely that Kraftanlagen Energies & Services GmbH will be 

convicted, which is why it was decided not to record a liability for this matter. For more information about this matter, 

please refer to  of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.note 5.1
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Proposal of the Board of 
Directors
Appropriation of retained earnings

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting to allocate the retained earnings as follows:

CHF  

Net income / (loss) for 2022 reported in the income statement – 39,173,947

Retained earnings carried forward 1,351,680,289

Retained earnings 1,312,506,342

   

Transfer to legal retained earnings 0

Balance to be carried forward 1,312,506,342



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Report of the Statutory Auditor 131



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Report of the Statutory Auditor 132



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 Report of the Statutory Auditor 133



Alpiq Annual Report 2022 134

Publishing details

Alpiq Holding Ltd.

Chemin de Mornex 10

1003 Lausanne

Switzerland

T: +41 21 341 21 11

www.alpiq.com

Published by

The Annual Report 2022 is published in English only.


	Annual report
	Strong performance in challenging conditions and improved resilience – people make the difference 
	Dear reader,
	Good results, strong balance sheet and improved resilience
	Absolute focus on security of supply
	Alpiq lives up to its purpose – and delivers
	We make our contribution to climate protection and the security of supply

	Key Financial Figures
	Results of operations (before exceptional items)
	Results under IFRS

	Milestones
	Plana del Vent power plant successfully back in operation
	18 January 2022

	Shareholders give Alpiq room for manoeuvre 
	19 January 2022

	Gondosolar - Project for the construction of a photovoltaic installation in the Valais Alps 
	7 February 2022

	Electricity prices soar again following start of Russia’s attack on Ukraine 
	24 February 2022

	Alpiq welcomes Act on Subsidiary Financial Assistance to Rescue Systemically Critical Companies to ensure security of supply 
	4 May 2022

	Nant de Drance is an essential cog in the security of supply 
	1 July 2022

	Political debates surrounding price caps gain ground
	August 2022

	Nant de Drance: Visit to power plant leaves lasting impressions
	9 September 2022

	Federal government sends important signal for energy industry 
	5 September 2022

	Autumn session: Federal government sets the course for accelerated expansion of renewable energies 
	30 September 2022

	#prixalpiq 2022 goes to the “Regionale Wasserversorgung Südrampe” project in Valais
	7 October 2022

	Alpiq provides more than half of the hydropower reserve for winter 2022/2023 
	25 October 2022


	About us
	Power Production in 2022
	Organisational structure
	Active throughout Europe

	Financial Calendar
	Corporate Governance
	Group and shareholder structure
	According to the share register, the following shareholders are registered at 31 December 2022:

	Board of Directors
	Nationality:
	Education:
	Professional background:
	Other mandates:
	First elected to the Board of Directors:
	Specific role on the Board of Directors:
	Nationality: 
	Education:
	Professional background:
	Other mandates:
	First elected to the Board of Directors: 
	Specific role on the Board of Directors:
	Nationality: 
	Education:
	Professional background:
	Other mandates:
	First elected to the Board of Directors: 
	Specific role on the Board of Directors:
	Nationality: 
	Education:
	Professional background:
	Other mandates:
	First elected to the Board of Directors: 
	Specific role on the Board of Directors:
	Nationality: 
	Education:
	Professional background:
	Other mandates:
	First elected to the Board of Directors: 
	Specific role on the Board of Directors:
	Nationality: 
	Education:
	Professional background:
	Other mandates:
	First elected to the Board of Directors: 
	Specific role on the Board of Directors:
	Nationality: 
	Education:
	Professional background:
	Other mandates:
	First elected to the Board of Directors: 
	Specific role on the Board of Directors:
	Internal organisation
	Allocation of tasks within the Board of Directors
	Committees of the Board of Directors
	Sustainability

	Division of responsibilities
	Information and controlling instruments in relation to the Executive Board

	Executive Board
	Nationality: 
	Function:
	Education:
	Professional Background:
	Year of joining the Alpiq Group: 
	Nationality: 
	Functions: 
	Education:
	Professional Background:
	Year of joining the Alpiq Group: 
	Nationality: 
	Function:
	Education:
	Professional Background:
	Year of joining the Alpiq Group: 
	Nationality: 
	Function:
	Education:
	Professional Background:
	Year of joining the Alpiq Group: 
	Nationality: 
	Function: 
	Education:
	Professional Background:
	Year of joining the Alpiq Group: 

	Remuneration
	Market-compliant remuneration
	Remuneration policy
	Remuneration paid to the Board of Directors
	Remuneration paid to the Executive Board

	Auditors
	Duration of mandate and period of office of main auditor
	Auditors’ fees and additional fees
	External audit information mechanisms

	Information policy
	Financial Report
	Financial Review
	Alpiq Group: results of operations (before exceptional items)
	Consolidated income statement (pro forma statement before and after exceptional items)
	Switzerland business division
	International business division
	Trading business division

	Alternative performance measures of Alpiq
	Overview of exceptional items
	Fair value changes (accounting mismatch)
	Accounting mismatch and expected reversals (based on energy prices as of 31 December 2022)

	Development of decommissioning and waste disposal funds
	Onerous contracts

	Consolidated balance sheet and cash flow statement (after exceptional items)
	Outlook

	Consolidated Financial Statements of the Alpiq Group
	Consolidated Income Statement
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Balance Sheet
	Assets
	Equity and liabilities

	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	1 Overview
	1.1 Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
	1.2 Adoption of new and revised accounting standards
	Amendments, standards and interpretations adopted for the first time in 2022
	IFRS effective in future periods

	1.3 Significant estimation uncertainties and judgements 

	2 Performance
	2.1 Segment information
	2022: Information by business division
	2021: Information by business division (adjusted)
	2022: Information by geographical area
	2021: Information by geographical area

	2.2 Net revenue
	2022: Disaggregation of net revenue
	2021: Disaggregation of net revenue (adjusted)
	Accounting policies
	Revenue from energy and grid services
	Revenue from other services
	Practical expedients applied regarding revenue from contracts with customers
	Income from energy and financial derivatives


	2.3 Other operating income
	Market premium for large-scale hydropower plants in Switzerland
	2022 claim
	2021 claim
	Accounting policies

	Income from operating leases

	2.4 Energy and inventory costs
	2.5 Employee costs
	Number of employees at the reporting date

	2.6 Finance costs and finance income
	2.7 Income tax
	Income tax expense charged to the income statement
	Reconciliation
	Change in deferred tax assets and liabilities
	Deferred tax assets and liabilities by origination of temporary differences
	Global minimum corporate taxation
	Accounting policies

	2.8 Earnings per share

	3 Risk management, financial instruments and financing
	3.1 Financial risk management
	General principles
	Capital management
	Credit risk management
	Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
	Financial collateral

	Liquidity risk
	2022: Maturity analysis of financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments
	2021: Maturity analysis of financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments

	Market risk
	Energy price risk
	Foreign currency risk
	Interest rate risk
	Sensitivity analysis


	3.2 Financial instruments
	Carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities
	Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments
	Level 3 energy derivatives
	Development of day one gains and losses

	Expense / income related to financial assets and liabilities
	Accounting policies
	Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
	Financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost

	Hedge accounting
	Cash flow hedge accounting
	Change in cash flow hedge reserves
	Foreign currency hedges
	Interest rate swaps

	Fair value hedge accounting
	Hedged item
	Hedging instruments
	Hedge effectiveness



	3.3 Other non-current assets
	3.4 Financial liabilities
	Bonds outstanding at the reporting date
	Accounting policies

	3.5 Leases
	Accounting policies

	3.6 Equity
	Share capital
	Hybrid capital


	4 Operating assets and liabilities
	4.1 Property, plant and equipment
	Impairment and reversals of impairment 2022
	Impairment 2021
	Contractual obligations
	Accounting policies

	4.2 Intangible assets
	Impairment and reversals of impairment
	Accounting policies

	4.3 Investments in partner power plants and other associates
	Summarised financial information
	Material partner power plants 2022
	Material partner power plants 2021
	Individually immaterial partner power plants and other associates 2022
	Individually immaterial partner power plants and other associates 2021

	Accounting policies

	4.4 Inventories
	Accounting policies

	4.5 Receivables and other current assets
	Age analysis of trade receivables
	Allowance for expected credit loss (ECL) on trade receivables
	Accounting policies

	4.6 Cash and cash equivalents
	4.7 Provisions
	Onerous contracts
	Decommissioning own power plants
	Other provisions
	Accounting policies

	4.8 Contingent liabilities and guarantees
	ANAF’s tax audit at Alpiq Energy SE
	Compensation review proceedings against Alpiq Holding Ltd.
	Other matters

	4.9 Other current liabilities

	5 Group structure
	5.1 Companies sold
	Compensation for the transfer of the Swiss high-voltage grid
	Sale of two Spanish project companies
	Discontinued operations

	5.2 Assets held for sale
	Assets
	Liabilities
	Accounting policies

	5.3 Significant Group companies and investments

	6 Other disclosures
	6.1 General accounting policies
	Basis of consolidation
	Foreign currency translation

	6.2 Related party transactions
	Transactions between the Group and related companies
	Outstanding balances with related companies at the reporting date
	Members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board

	6.3 Employee benefits
	Defined benefit liabilities / assets in the balance sheet
	Reconciliation of net defined benefit liabilities / assets
	Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
	Changes in the fair value of the plan assets
	Asset classes of plan assets
	Accounting policies
	Actuarial assumptions

	Sensitivity analysis
	Expected contributions by the employer and plan participants for the next period

	6.4 Pledged assets
	6.5 Events after the reporting period


	5-year Overview
	Income Statement
	Balance sheet
	Other key performance indicators
	Per share data

	Financial Statements of Alpiq Holding Ltd.
	Income statement
	Balance sheet
	Assets
	Equity and liabilities

	Notes to the Financial Statements
	1 Preliminary note
	Basis of preparation
	Loans receivable / hedges
	Investments
	Bonds

	2 Dividend income
	3 Finance income
	4 Finance costs
	5 Trade receivables
	6 Other current receivables
	7 Loans receivable
	8 Investments
	9 Trade payables
	10 Current interest-bearing payables
	11 Other current liabilities
	12 Provisions
	13 Interest-bearing loans payable
	14 Bonds
	15 Equity
	16 Collateral provided for third-party liabilities
	17 Contingent liabilities

	Proposal of the Board of Directors
	Appropriation of retained earnings

	Publishing details



